

Probing few and many-body physics in a planar Bose gas: atom-dimer interactions and zero-temperature superfluid fraction

Chloé Maury

► To cite this version:

Chloé Maury. Probing few and many-body physics in a planar Bose gas: atom-dimer interactions and zero-temperature superfluid fraction. Quantum Gases [cond-mat.quant-gas]. Sorbonne Université, 2023. English. NNT: . tel-04082245v1

HAL Id: tel-04082245 https://hal.science/tel-04082245v1

Submitted on 25 Apr 2023 (v1), last revised 26 Apr 2023 (v2)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial - NoDerivatives 4.0 International License

Collège de France

LABORATOIRE KASTLER BROSSEL



Thèse de doctorat de Sorbonne Université

préparée par

Chloé Maury

sous la direction de

Jérôme Beugnon et Jean Dalibard

Probing few and many-body physics in a planar Bose gas Atom-dimer interactions and zero-temperature superfluid fraction

Soutenue le 20 Février 2023 devant le jury composé de

M. Olivier Dulieu	Rapporteur
M. Jean-Claude Garreau	Rapporteur
Mme. Chiara Fort	Examinatrice
M. Xavier Leyronas	Examinateur
M. Jérôme Beugnon Direc	teur de thèse

et présidé par Chiara Fort.

Travail réalisé au laboratoire Kastler Brossel, au sein du Collège de France.

Abstract

Dimensionality plays an important role in physical systems. A gas of ultracold atoms confined in a two-dimensional geometry has very different thermodynamic properties from those observed in a three-dimensional gas. In this thesis, we present experiments performed on a gas of ultracold bosons trapped in two dimensions and interacting weakly with each other. First, we describe this system with a mean-field approach and present the experimental setup that allows us to study it. Then, we describe two experiments dealing with two distinct topics, both conducted in the superfluid regime at near zero temperature. We first describe the creation of dimers by microwave-induced photoassociation of atoms trapped in a flat-bottom potential. This experiment allows us to characterise the interaction potential of our atomic species, rubidium 87. We also characterise the interactions between the dimers created and the bath of free atoms. In a third part, we impose a breaking of translational invariance on our zero-temperature gas of bosons by creating a spatially modulated potential in one of the two directions of the atomic cloud. We show with two distinct measurements that the superfluid density, equal to the total density for a homogeneous gas, decreases when the translational invariance is broken. We measure the sound velocity in the direction parallel and perpendicular to the spatial modulation on the one hand, and estimate the superfluid fraction according to a definition introduced by Leggett in 1970 on the other hand. We then observe a superfluid fraction which decreases as the modulation amplitude increases.

Résumé

La dimensionnalité joue un rôle important dans les systèmes physiques. Un gaz d'atomes froids confiné dans une géométrie à deux dimensions a des propriétés thermodynamiques très différentes de celles observées dans un gaz à trois dimensions. Dans cette thèse, nous présentons des expériences réalisées sur un gaz de bosons ultra-froids confinés à deux dimensions et interagissant faiblement entre eux. Dans un premier temps, nous décrivons ce système avec une approche de champ moven et nous présentons le dispositif expérimental qui nous permet de l'étudier. Ensuite, nous décrivons deux expériences traitant deux sujets distincts, toutes deux menées dans le régime superfluide à température quasi-nulle. Nous commençons par décrire des expériences de création de dimères par photoassociation induite par la radiation d'un champ micro-ondes sur des atomes piégés dans un potentiel à fond plat. Cette expérience nous permet de caractériser le potentiel d'interaction de notre espèce atomique, le rubidium 87. Nous caractérisons aussi l'interaction entre les dimères créés et le bain d'atomes libres. Dans une troisième partie, nous imposons une brisure d'invariance par translation à notre gaz de bosons à température nulle en créant un potentiel spatialement modulé dans une des deux directions du nuage atomique. Nous montrons par deux mesures distinctes que la densité superfluide, égale à la densité totale pour un gaz homogène, décroît lorsque l'invariance par translation est brisée. Nous mesurons la vitesse de son dans la direction parallèle et perpendiculaire à la modulation spatiale d'une part, et nous estimons la fraction superfluide d'après une définition introduite par Leggett en 1970 d'autre part. Nous observons alors une fraction superfluide qui décroît lorsque l'amplitude de modulation augmente.

Contents

INTRODUCTION

Ι	Ger	neral f	eatures of the two-dimensional Bose gas	11	
1	Рну	SICS O	f the two-dimensional Bose gas	13	
	1.1	Introd	uction to Bose-Einstein condensation	13	
	1.2	Descri	ption of a two-dimensional cold gas	15	
		1.2.1	Short-range interactions	16	
		1.2.2	Classical field formalism	16	
		1.2.3	Quasi-two-dimensional regime in our experimental platform	18	
		1.2.4	Description at zero temperature for uniform gases	19	
	1.3	Some	properties	20	
		1.3.1	Scale invariance	20	
		1.3.2	Quasi-long-range order	22	
	1.4	Bereze	enskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless phase transition	23	
	1.5	5 Equation of state $\ldots \ldots 2^{j}$			
	1.6	Conclu	usion	27	
2	Pre	PARATI	on of an ultracold Bose gas in a planar geometry	29	
	2.1	Overv	iew	29	
	2.2	Exper	imental methods and calibrations	30	
		2.2.1	⁸⁷ Rb electronic structure	30	
		2.2.2	Preparation of a 3D ultracold cloud	31	
		2.2.3	Transfer to a 2D flat-bottom optical box	34	
		2.2.4	Measurement of the cloud vertical thickness	34	
		2.2.5	Shaping the density profile	34	
		2.2.6	Manipulation of the internal state	36	
		2.2.7	Temperature and PSD of the sample	38	
		2.2.8	Imaging system	39	
		2.2.9	Calibration of the density with Ramsey spectroscopy	40	
	2.3	Conch	usion	41	

7

Π	\mathbf{Mi}	icrowave photoassociation of pairs of $^{87}\mathrm{Rb}$ atoms and measurement of	
at	om-d	limer interactions	43
3	87 Ri	B LEAST-BOUND DIMERS	45
	3.1	Binary interactions and dimers	45
		3.1.1 The interaction potential	45
		3.1.2 Scattering states and bound states	49
		3.1.3 Dimers and spectroscopy of the bound states	50
		3.1.4 Fano-Feshbach resonances: using weakly bound states to control inter-	
		actions in ultracold gases	52
	3.2	Production and characterization of ⁸⁷ Rb dimers	55
		3.2.1 Model for the energy levels of ⁸⁷ Rb least-bound dimers	56
		3.2.2 Microwave-induced photoassociation spectroscopy of the ⁸⁷ Rb least bound	
		dimers	60
	3.3	Conclusion	68
4	HIG	H-PRECISION PHOTOASSOCIATION AND MEASUREMENT OF THE ATOM-DIMER	
	INTE	ERACTION	69
	4.1	High-precision photoassociation spectroscopy	70
		4.1.1 Creation rate of the dimers	70
		4.1.2 Density dependence of the bound state energies	71
		4.1.3 Characterisation of the photoassociation signal and lifetime of the dimer	75
	4.2	Atom-dimer interaction and scattering length	76
	4.3	Microwave-induced Feshbach resonances	79
	4.4	Conclusion	80
TT	[7 /	ero-temperature superfluid fraction in a density-modulated 2D Bose	
ga	S	bio temperature superitata nation in a density modulated #2 Dese	81
5	SUP	ERFLUIDITY IN SPATIALLY MODULATED SYSTEMS AT ZERO TEMPERATURE	83
	5.1	Superfluid fraction in a 2D modulated planar Bose gas	84
		5.1.1 Leggett's integral for a zero-temperature weakly-interacting Bose gas.	85
		5.1.2 Effective mass	87
	5.2	Sound propagation in quantum gases	88
	5.3	Discussion	91
6	Mea	ASUREMENT OF THE SUPERFLUID FRACTION IN A DENSITY-MODULATED UL-	
	TRA	cold Bose gas at zero temperature	93
	6.1	Sound velocity measurement	93
		6.1.1 Excitation of the atomic cloud	94
		6.1.2 Sound propagation	97
	6.2	Density-modulated 2D Bose gases	99
		6.2.1 Imprinting a modulated density profile	99
		6.2.2 Atomic response	.03
	6.3	Breaking translational invariance in a superfluid 1	.08
		6.3.1 Sound propagation in a gas of modulated density	.08
		6.3.2 Leggett's integral from density profiles	.09
		6.3.3 Final result and discussion	.11

CONTENTS

Conclusion	
Appendices	
A ZEEMAN DIAGRAM: PARAMETERS AND DATA SET A.1 Model A.2 Coupling to a microwave field A.3 Experimental parameters A.4 Data set	 119 119 120 121 122
B LINEAR RESPONSE TO A PERIODIC POTENTIAL	125
C PUBLICATIONS	127
References	146

5

Introduction

Over the past three decades, quantum gases have become an essential platform for the study of quantum phenomena that are observable only at low energy scales. Atomic cooling techniques now make it possible to bring the temperature, and hence the energy, of dilute atomic assemblies down enough so that their de Broglie *wavelength* becomes of the order of the interatomic distance. Reaching this so-called *quantum degeneracy* with bosonic particles allowed to study Bose-Einstein condensation: a state of matter characterised by the accumulation of particles in their ground state, predicted in 1925 by Einstein for ideal Bose gases [1]. The first three-dimensional gaseous Bose-Einstein condensates were observed in 1995 with alkali atoms [2–4]. Remarkably, atoms in three-dimensional cold dilute gases experience *weak interactions* which do not prevent the emergence of a large condensate fraction. This contrasts with cold liquid helium where, despite the presence of a superfluid phase, *strong interactions* limit the condensate fraction to a few percent of the whole system, even at zero temperature [5–7].

As a macroscopic fraction of the atoms occupy the lowest energy state, Bose-Einstein condensates are well described by a single *macroscopic wave function*. Interactions in dilute gases can be described quantitatively using a *mean-field* approach, i.e. by considering their average effect. In this context, the behaviour of the macroscopic wave function is captured by a non-linear Schrödinger equation, also known as the Gross-Pitaevskii equation. The first observations of Bose-Einstein condensates led to numerous experiments to characterise their main features [8]. Among the first experiments, their wave-like properties has been experimentally proved via the observation of interferences between two condensates [9] and the existence of long-range coherence was also probed [10].

Quantum degeneracy was also reached for Fermi gases [11-13]. In this case, there is no condensation as it would violate Pauli principle but the emergence of a so-called Fermi sea, where the atoms occupy the lowest energy states.

Although dilute cold gases were initially limited to short-range and weak interactions, researchers soon found a way to overcome both those limitations. On the one hand, the production of Bose-Einstein condensates with atomic species of large magnetic moment experiencing magnetic dipole-dipole interactions, as chromium, erbium or dysprosium, has made long-range interactions available for cold atom experiments [14, 15]. Long-range interactions have also been implemented using Rydberg excitations and cavity-mediated excitations [16,17]. On the other hand, the strength of short-range interactions can be tuned thanks to Fano-Feshbach resonances [18, 19]. These resonances exist for bosons and fermions and they allowed to eventually reach the strongly-interacting regime [20, 21], with attractive and repulsive interactions. For instance, the crossover from a Bose-Einstein condensate of weakly bound molecules to a superfluid of Cooper pairs was observed in Fermi gases

by tuning the interaction strength [22, 23]. Using Fano-Feshbach resonances also allows to study quantum gases in the so-called *unitary* regime, where the s-wave interactions are described by a scattering length a larger than the interparticle distance. This regime is particularly interesting for studying few-body physics as the corresponding eigenstates show universal features. For instance, Fermi gases close to unitarity show a universal relation between the atom-atom scattering length and the atom-dimer scattering length. On the other hand, in the case of bosons, this regime is the birthplace of the Efimov effect which predicts the presence of an infinite number of three-body bound states [24]. Outside the unitary regime, few-body interactions has been mostly studied through inelastic collisions and atom-exchange reactions. The existence of a Van der Waals universality for atom-dimer interactions remains an open question that we will address later in the manuscript.

The cold atoms toolbox was also enlarged by the ability to tune the potentials that the atoms feel. For instance, advances in lasers and optics made possible the loading of ultracold atoms in optical potentials. First, the *dimensionality* of the system can be controlled by confining a three-dimensional cold gas along one, two or three directions. This experimental breakthrough allowed to study ultracold gases in one and two dimensions for which the long-range order leading to condensation at finite temperature is destroyed by thermal and quantum fluctuations. Dilute cold gases with weak interactions in two dimensions do not show long-range order but experience a superfluid phase transition of infinite order, called the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless transition [25-27], describing the emergence of a *quasilong-range order* below a critical temperature. Confining ultracold atoms in one dimension made possible the realisation of Tonks-Girardeau gases, for which repulsive interactions are dominant and force the bosonic atoms to mimic Fermi gases properties [28, 29].

Without even considering the reduction of the dimensionality, the ability to impose tunable potentials allows researchers to study non-trivial effects. For instance, using optical lattices allowed to impose periodic arrangement and led to the realisation of the Fermi- and Bose-Hubbard model [30] or to the observation of the superfluid-Mott insulator quantum phase-transition for bosons [31–34]. Finally, the introduction of spatial light modulators completed this toolbox and researchers are now able to imprint optical potentials of arbitrary shape. In particular, the emergence of homogeneous potentials simplified the interpretation of results in cold atomic physics, limited by non-trivial density distributions [35].

In this thesis, we present experiments performed on a weakly-interacting Bose gas trapped in two dimensions. As mentioned above, this system does not exhibit condensation at finite temperature but still a transition to a superfluid phase. This transition is said to be of infinite order as all the thermodynamic quantities and their derivatives are continuous and because it does not rely on the breaking of a symmetry. The emergence of a quasi-long-range order and a superfluid phase when the temperature decreases is made possible by the pairing of topological defects, called *vortices*, below the critical temperature whereas isolated vortices proliferate above the critical temperature. This pairing manifests itself by a change of long-range behaviour of the spatial first order correlation function from an exponential decay to an algebraic decay. The superfluid regime describes a phase where a fraction of the gas shows superfluid properties, i.e. experiences frictionless flow for instance. In Galilean two-dimensional (2D) systems, the whole cloud is superfluid at zero temperature. The increase of the temperature comes with a reduction of the superfluid fraction, as part of the fluid becomes normal and can dissipate energy. The superfluid fraction decreases down to the critical point but stays finite. When going beyond the critical point however, the superfluid fraction jumps suddenly to zero. While the thermal superfluid transition is now well known, there remain other effects to explore. For instance, discussions have been opened

about superfluid flows in the presence of a breaking of translation invariance, in the context of supersolidity [36]. This question will be the subject of the second part of the manuscript. A direct observation of the microscopic dynamics underlying the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless was provided by the observation of the interference pattern between two released atomic planes [37]. The authors analysed the contrast of such fringes across the transition and observed a sudden decrease that they interpreted as a jump of the superfluid density. At high temperature, they observed *dislocations* in the interference patterns which they attributed to the proliferation of unbound vortices. On the other hand, the experimental measurement of the first order correlation function decay above and below the critical point in 2D quantum systems has been challenging and remained elusive for a long time [37-44]. Recently, researchers indirectly determined the first order correlation function expected for 2D homogeneous Bose gases by performing matter-wave interferometry on two harmonicallytrapped ultracold clouds [45]. Concerning the superfluid fraction, there exists no direct experimental measurement. Two remarkable indirect measurements were performed first in 2D films of liquid helium 4 with torsion pendula [46] and more recently in a 2D homogeneous weakly-interacting Bose gas through the measurement of the speed of sound [47].

Another important feature of weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas is its scale invariance, which simplifies the derivation and therefore the experimental probing of its equation of state for instance. Indeed, its equation of state, giving the phase space density \mathcal{D} for example, depends on the ratio $\mu/k_{\rm B}T$ of its chemical potential μ and temperature T whereas the equations of state in other dimensions depend on both those parameters independently. The equation of state was studied experimentally and its scale invariance probed [48–50].

In our group, we study weakly-interacting 2D Bose gases trapped in a *flat-bottom* optical potential, i.e. we work with homogeneous atomic clouds. In addition to this homogeneous trap, we also use spatial light modulators for shaping the in-plane confinement at wish and/or for imprinting additional potentials of local perturbations [51]. When combined with a two-photon optical transition, these spatial light modulators are also used to shape the density distribution of the spin components in binary mixtures [52, 53]. Although working with rubidium 87 prevents the use of Fano-Feshbach resonances at low magnetic fields, the presence of a so-called *clock transition* in the electronic ground state and the development of a hight-precision spectroscopy allowed us to highlight non-trivial effects as the presence of magnetic dipole-dipole interactions in our 2D binary mixture [54]. This high-precision spectroscopy tool was also used to measure Tan's contact in a bi-dimensional gas [55]. Recently, we also performed photoassociation spectroscopy and few-body physics measurements, which will be detailed in the manuscript.

In this manuscript, I present the two last results we obtained. These two results head toward different aspects of the cold atoms physics and are the result of a team effort. The first result I describe is the probing of few-body physics through microwave-induced photoassociation of the least-bound dimers of rubidium 87. This study allows to characterise the interatomic potential and the atom-dimer interactions of ultracold bosons. It also paves the way to the implementation of microwave-induced Fano-Feshbach resonances.

Coming back to many-body physics, I describe how the breaking of translational invariance affects the superfluid behaviour of a weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas at zero temperature. This work experimentally tests the prediction made by Leggett in 1970 for supersolids [36].

DETAILED CONTENT OF THIS MANUSCRIPT

General features of the two-dimensional Bose gas

Chapter 1. I describe the weakly-interacting two-dimensional Bose gas in a mean-field approach and the theoretical framework to study this system at low temperature. I also briefly introduce the work I performed during my thesis but which is not detailed in this manuscript.

Chapter 2. I introduce the experimental setup used to produce planar Bose gases of rubidium 87. I also describe the toolbox we developed to control this ultracold gas.

Microwave photoassociation of $^{87}\mathbf{Rb}$ dimers and measurement of atom-dimer interactions

Chapter 3. I describe the interatomic potential and interactions at play for ultracold bosonic gases. I focus on the bound states of these potentials: I derive a simple model to study them with rubidium 87 and detail the experimental detection of the Zeeman sub-levels of the least-bound rovibrational state of rubidium 87.

Chapter 4. The experimental probing of atom-dimer interactions is detailed. We describe these cold interactions in a mean-field approach and measure the associated atom-dimer scattering length.

Zero-temperature superfluid fraction in a density-modulated 2D Bose gas

Chapter 5. I introduce the analysis performed by Leggett in 1970 on a possible superfluid behaviour in solids. I apply the same analysis for a weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas at zero temperature and experiencing the breaking of translational invariance. The resulting superfluid fraction is analytically linked to the sound velocity in such a system.

Chapter 6. I describe the experimental probing of the zero-temperature superfluid fraction with the measurement of sound velocity in a density-modulated planar Bose gases. I finally compare these results with the measurement of Leggett's integral from the density profiles of the same system.

Part I

General features of the two-dimensional Bose gas

Physics of the two-dimensional Bose gas

A celebrating consequence of Bose statistics is Bose-Einstein condensation and, as an introduction, we describe in Sec. 1.1 this phenomenon and its conditions of occurrence. In particular, we discuss the effect of dimensionality. In this thesis, we study a planar Bose gas brought to quantum degeneracy and experiencing weak interactions, which does not exhibit condensation at finite temperature. We derive a mean-field description of this system in Sec. 1.2. Its main properties are described in Sec. 1.3 where we demonstrate the existence of a quasi-long-range order. We detail the resulting infinite order phase transition in Sec. 1.4. This transition, from a short-range order to a quasi-long-range order, is called the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless (BKT) transition. Finally, we write in Sec. 1.5 the equation of state of a 2D Bose gas with short-range interactions in these different regimes. The reader will find a more complete description of the 2D ultracold Bose gas characteristics in Refs [56, 57].

1.1 Introduction to Bose-Einstein condensation

Bose-Einstein condensation is a phase transition characterised by the accumulation of particles in the single-particle ground state below a certain critical temperature. It was first introduced by Einstein in 1925 for three-dimensional (3D) ideal Bose gases [1].

This result can be established by considering N non-interacting and non-relativistic bosons of mass m in a 3D box of size $L \times L \times L$ with periodic boundary conditions. The Hamiltonian consists then only in kinetic-energy contribution and writes $H = \sum \hat{p}_i^2/2m$ with \hat{p}_i the momentum of the particle *i*. The single-particle eigenstates are plane waves $\Psi_p(\mathbf{r}) = L^{-3/2} \exp(i\mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{r}/\hbar)$ with corresponding energies $\varepsilon_p = p^2/2m$. At thermal equilibrium, in the grand canonical ensemble, the total atom number N reads:

$$N = \sum_{p} N_{p},$$
 $N_{p} = \frac{1}{\exp[(\varepsilon_{p} - \mu)/k_{\rm B}T] - 1},$ (1.1)

with the Boltzmann constant $k_{\rm B}$, the temperature T and the chemical potential $\mu < 0$ ($\varepsilon_0 = 0$). Einstein's original result was derived by considering separately the atom number in the ground state N_0 and the atom number in the excited states $N_{\rm exc} = \sum_{p \neq 0} N_p$, such that $N = N_0 + N_{\rm exc}$. In the thermodynamic limit, obtained when both N and L^3 grow to infinity while keeping N/L^3 constant, the spatial density of the atoms in the excited states writes:

$$n_{\rm 3D,exc} = \frac{1}{\lambda_{\rm th}^3} {\rm Li}_{3/2} \left(\exp(\mu/k_{\rm B}T) \right).$$
 (1.2)

We introduced the thermal wavelength $\lambda_{\rm th} = h/\sqrt{2\pi m k_{\rm B}T}$ and the polylog function ${\rm Li}_{\alpha}(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} x^j/j^{\alpha}$. This polylog function increases monotonically with the chemical potential μ and



Figure 1.1: Normalised first-order correlation function $g_1(r) \equiv G_1(r)/G_1(0)$ of a 3D ideal gas (a) and a 2D ideal gas (b) for $\mathcal{D}_{3D,2D} = 0.3$, 3, 10 (dotted, dashed and solid line respectively).

is bounded to the finite value $\text{Li}_{3/2}(1) = 2.612.$ when $\mu = 0$. The phase-space density (PSD) $\mathcal{D}_{3D,\text{exc}} = \lambda_{\text{th}}^3 n_{3D,\text{exc}}$ saturates and we thus find Einstein's result: when the density in the excited states reaches its maximum value, the bosons accumulate in the ground state and a condensate forms.

In practice, particles in dense clouds interact and the interactions modify the eigenstates of the system, thus invalidating Einstein's criterion. A more general criterion for Bose-Einstein condensation was proposed by Penrose and Onsager in 1956 [58] for liquid helium, which applies to both interacting and non-interacting gases. This approach is based on the spectrum of the one-body density operator $\hat{\rho}_1$ and condensation occurs when its largest eigenvalue is finite in the infinite distance limit. Equivalently, we commonly evaluate this criterion with the long-distance behaviour of the one-body correlation function $G_1(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2) \equiv \langle \mathbf{r}_1 | \hat{\rho}_1 | \mathbf{r}_2 \rangle$, also defined as the Fourier transform of the momentum distribution N_p . The condensation is then associated with a *long-range order* defined as a regime where the correlation function takes a finite value in the infinite distance limit.

The consistence between the two condensation criteria mentioned above is demonstrated by calculating the one-body correlation function of the 3D ideal gas of bosons, shown in Fig. 1.1.a and written:

$$G_1^{\rm 3D}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \frac{N_0}{L^3} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{\rm th}^3} \sum_j^\infty \frac{\exp(j\mu/k_{\rm B}T - \pi \boldsymbol{r}^2/2j\lambda_{\rm th}^2)}{j^{3/2}},\tag{1.3}$$

where we assumed translation invariance and defined $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_2$. The second term of this last equation is the contribution of the excited states and is a sum of Gaussian functions, with different amplitudes and widths $\sqrt{j}\lambda_{\rm th}$ which increase with j. In the infinite distance limit $r \to +\infty$, this sum vanishes and we are left with the ground state contribution N_0/L^3 . For large-enough densities, N_0 becomes macroscopic and the one-body correlation function tends to a finite value at infinite distances. The coherence length, i.e. the characteristic decay length of G_1 , is infinite and condensation occurs.

Remarkably, the addition of weak interactions in 3D cold gases does not prevent condensation. The first direct observations of 3D gaseous Bose-Einstein condensates (BEC) were reported in 1995 [2–4].

Similarly, these condensation criteria can be evaluated in two dimensions. Dimensionality

plays an important role in physical systems, in particular in the occurrence and characteristics of their phase transitions. Although condensation occurs at zero temperature for both ideal and weakly-interacting 2D gases [59], the two criteria elaborated above show that there is no condensation in ideal 2D gases at finite temperature. The PSD $\mathcal{D}_{2D} = \lambda_{\rm th}^2 n_{2D}$ of excited states writes in 2D:

$$\mathcal{D}_{2\mathrm{D,exc}} = -\ln(1 - \exp(\mu/k_{\mathrm{B}}T)), \qquad (1.4)$$

and can take arbitrary large values when $\mu \to 0^-$. Hence, the ground state population never becomes macroscopic. On the other hand, the one-body correlation function

$$G_1^{\rm 2D}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{\lambda_{\rm th}^2} \sum_{j=1}^{+\infty} \frac{\exp(j\mu/k_{\rm B}T - \pi \mathbf{r}^2/j\lambda_{\rm th}^2)}{j}$$
(1.5)

goes to zero in the large distance limit, as shown in Fig. 1.1. This results stands also for 2D weakly-interacting systems at finite temperature as demonstrated by the Mermin-Wagner-Hohenberg (MWH) theorem [60,61]: in dimensions lower or equal to 2, infinite systems with short-range interactions cannot undergo long-range order at finite temperature if their order parameter is continuous. Although coherence can be established for ideal and interacting gases in finite systems if the PSD is large enough, this theorem prohibits the existence of a true condensate at finite temperature. However, the presence of local interactions introduces a phase transition of a different nature associated to the emergence of a so-called quasi-long-range order and a superfluid component.

1.2 Description of a two-dimensional cold gas

We aim at studying the behaviour of weakly-interacting 2D ultracold gases. Experimentally, the 2D regime is usually realised by starting from a 3D gas whose degree of freedom in one of the three directions is frozen afterwards. In practice, there are two types of regime in 2D which are set by the vertical thickness of the cloud ℓ_z and the characteristic range of the interactions. For atoms of rubidium 87 (⁸⁷Rb), this range is given by the van der Waals radius¹ $R_{\rm vdW} = 82.3 a_0$, where a_0 is the Bohr radius. The true 2D regime is reached when the particles motion is strictly reduced to the (x, y) plane, i.e. when the characteristic range of interaction, $R_{\rm vdW}$, is much larger than the vertical thickness ℓ_z of the system. In this case, the scattering amplitude is energy dependent. On the opposite, a quasi-2D regime exists when $R_{\rm vdW} \ll \ell_z$, if the thermal energy and interaction energy per particle are lower than the energy difference between the ground state and the first exciting state of the vertical trapping. In this regime, the microscopic motion along the frozen direction is still possible and the collisions then conserve their 3D character.

The experiments described in this thesis are performed in the quasi-2D regime. Therefore, we first introduce interactions in a 3D Bose gas and derive its equation of motion in the case of weak interactions using a classical field formalism. Then, we transpose these equations to a 2D geometry and finally discuss their validity in the context of our experimental platform. We exclude from the discussion any consideration about the internal state.

$$R_{\rm vdW} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{2m_{\rm r}C_6}{\hbar^2}\right)^{1/4}$$
(1.6)

where m_r is the reduced mass ($m_r = m/2$ here) and $C_6 = 4635$ a.u for ⁸⁷Rb [62]. (1 a.u. = 9.55×10^{-80} J.m⁶).

¹We use the convention:

1.2.1 Short-range interactions

We now take into account interactions, first in a 3D dilute cloud, and we consider short-range interactions. We will assume that these interactions, between two particles at positions r_i and r_j , are well described by the contact potential²

$$U(\boldsymbol{r}_i - \boldsymbol{r}_j) = g^{(3D)} \delta^{(3D)}(\boldsymbol{r}_i - \boldsymbol{r}_j), \qquad (1.8)$$

where $g^{(3D)} = 4\pi\hbar^2 a/m$ is a coupling strength defined from the 3D *s*-wave scattering length a, obtained from the real inter-atomic potential. The use of the latter potential is possible because, for ultracold Bose gases, only low-energy collisions are relevant [63]. We enter this *s*-wave regime when the characteristic range of the interactions, $R_{\rm vdW}$, is much smaller than the thermal wavelength $\lambda_{\rm th}$. For temperatures of the order of 1 mK or less, the thermal wavelength is of several hundreds of nanometres. Collisions then occur between particles with zero relative angular momentum, in the *s*-wave channel, which is fully described by the constant a in 3D.

For ⁸⁷Rb atoms in the electronic ground state, the 3D interaction parameter is positive $g^{(3D)} > 0$ and atoms therefore undergo repulsive interactions. This is a necessary condition to form stable atomic clouds and avoid collapse.

1.2.2 Classical field formalism

We consider a gas of $N \gg 1$ identical bosons with binary interactions described by the potential $U(\mathbf{r}_i - \mathbf{r}_j)$. Particles experience a potential $V(\mathbf{r})$ and their Hamiltonian writes in the first quantization formalism:

$$\hat{H} = \sum_{i}^{N} \left[\frac{\hat{p}_{i}^{2}}{2m} + V(\hat{r}_{i}) \right] + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \neq j} U(\hat{r}_{i} - \hat{r}_{j}), \qquad (1.9)$$

where we have introduced the position and the momentum operators \hat{r} and \hat{p} . We now define $\hat{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{r})$, the operator which annihilates a particle at position \boldsymbol{r} , and its hermitian conjugate $\hat{\Psi}^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{r})$ which creates a particle at position \boldsymbol{r} . We write the Hamiltonian in second quantization as follows:

$$\hat{H} = \int \left(\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \nabla \hat{\Psi}^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{r}) \cdot \nabla \hat{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{r}) + \hat{\Psi}^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{r}) V(\boldsymbol{r}) \hat{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{r})\right) d^3r + \frac{1}{2} \int \int \hat{\Psi}^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{r}_1) \hat{\Psi}^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{r}_2) U(\boldsymbol{r}_1 - \boldsymbol{r}_2) \hat{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{r}_2) \hat{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{r}_1) d^3r_1 d^3r_2.$$
(1.10)

Thermal equilibrium of a N-body system is usually described by its density matrix $\hat{\rho}$. However, the presence of the pair-wise interaction term in this N-body system makes the determination of $\hat{\rho}$ too complicated.

In the following, we adopt a classical field point-of-view. This formalism is a mean-field approach and allows us to easily solve the N-body problem. It relies on two assumptions.

$$U_{\rm pp}[\psi(\boldsymbol{r})] = g^{\rm 3D} \delta^{\rm 3D} \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial r} [r\psi(\boldsymbol{r})] \right|_{r=0}.$$
(1.7)

This pseudo-potential is the same as the contact potential when acting on regular functions.

²The inter-atomic potential in Eq. (1.8) is actually ill-defined when acting on a wave function ψ showing a singularity at the origin and in this case we can write a pseudo-potential $U_{\rm pp}$ as

The first one states that the atoms are considered to occupy mostly the same single-particle state described by a macroscopic wave function ψ . We remind that in the zero-temperature regime, both 3D and 2D weakly-interacting ultracold gases form a true condensate [59], which means that this assumption is at least true for T = 0. We then use the Hartree ansatz and write the many-body quantum state $|\Phi_N\rangle$ as a product of the single-particle wave function ψ :

$$\langle \boldsymbol{r}_1, ..., \boldsymbol{r}_N | \Phi_N \rangle \propto \psi(\boldsymbol{r}_1) ... \psi(\boldsymbol{r}_N),$$
 (1.11)

where the wave function ψ is normalized as follows:

$$\int |\psi(\boldsymbol{r})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}^3 \boldsymbol{r} = N. \tag{1.12}$$

The second hypothesis stipulates that one can neglect the granularity of the quantum field and we then treat ψ with classical-field equations.

Therefore, the problem simplifies to the deduction of a density of probabilities $\mathcal{P}[\psi]$ which best reproduces the density matrix $\hat{\rho}$, i.e.:

$$\langle \hat{A} \rangle = \operatorname{Tr}[\hat{A}\hat{\rho}] = \int \mathcal{P}[\psi]A[\psi]d[\psi],$$
 (1.13)

for a class of "reasonable" observables \hat{A} . Applying this formalism to Eq. (1.10), we describe the thermal equilibrium of the 3D ultracold gas with contact interactions thanks to the energy functional

$$E[\psi] = \int \left(\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} |\nabla \psi(\mathbf{r})|^2 + V(\mathbf{r}) |\psi(\mathbf{r})|^2 + \frac{g^{(3D)}}{2} |\psi(\mathbf{r})|^4\right) d^3\mathbf{r}.$$
 (1.14)

Experimentally, we obtain a 2D geometry by imposing to the particles a tight confinement along one of the three directions, here the vertical one, and the motion of the atoms along the vertical axis z is then frozen. We assume that the particles lie in the ground state of the vertical confinement. Assuming also that the energy difference between the ground state and the first excited state of the vertical confinement is larger than the thermal energy $k_{\rm B}T$ and the interaction energy per particle $E_{\rm i}/N$, we use the ansatz:

$$\psi(\mathbf{r}) = \phi(x, y)\chi_0(z), \qquad (1.15)$$

where χ_0 is the single-particle ground state wave function along the frozen direction z, while ϕ is the in-plane single-particle wave function. The condition of normalisation Eq. (1.12) then writes:

$$\int |\phi(\mathbf{r})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}^2 r = N, \qquad \qquad \int |\chi_0(z)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}z = 1, \qquad (1.16)$$

and the in-plane density writes $n(\mathbf{r}) = |\phi(\mathbf{r})|^2$. We obtain an energy functional describing the motion in the (x, y) plane (up to a constant):

$$E[\phi] = \int \left(\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} |\nabla \phi(\mathbf{r})|^2 + V(\mathbf{r}) |\phi(\mathbf{r})|^2 + \frac{g^{(2D)}}{2} |\phi(\mathbf{r})|^4\right) d^2\mathbf{r},$$
 (1.17)

with the introduction of the parameter

$$g^{(2D)} = g^{(3D)} \int |\chi_0(z)|^4 \, \mathrm{d}z, \qquad (1.18)$$

which describes the interactions strength in 2D. The three terms of Eq. (1.17) describe respectively the kinetic energy $E_{\rm k}$, the potential energy $E_{\rm p}$ and the interaction energy $E_{\rm i}$ in the 2D case.

Note that we transposed here a mean-field description of 3D collisions to a 2D system, and it is not straight-forward to conclude that the 2D interaction parameter is energy-independent when considering the 2D problem.

1.2.3 Quasi-two-dimensional regime in our experimental platform

In our experimental platform, the vertical confinement is ensured by a harmonic potential $V(z) = m\omega_z^2 z^2/2$ of frequency $\omega_z/2\pi$ and the ground state of the system is Gaussian in the vertical direction:

$$\chi_0(z) = \frac{1}{(\pi \ell_z^2)^{1/4}} \exp\left(-z^2/2\ell_z^2\right).$$
(1.19)

The vertical thickness of the cloud is then written $\ell_z = \sqrt{\hbar/m\omega_z}$ and, with our typical trapping frequencies, reaches a few hundreds of nanometres $\ell_z \sim 180$ nm.

As mentioned earlier, the experiments are then performed in the quasi-2D regime $\ell_z \gg R_{\rm vdW}$. The analysis of binary interactions in this regime has been performed by Petrov et al. [64,65] and the authors find the following two-dimensional coupling strength:

$$g^{(2D)} = \frac{\hbar^2}{m} \sqrt{8\pi} \frac{1}{\ell_z/a - \ln(\pi q^2 \ell_z^2)/\sqrt{2\pi}},$$
(1.20)

with $q^2 = 2m\mu/\hbar^2$. The energy dependence persists, hence the coupling strength depends on the density of the condensate. However, we perform our experiments with rubidium 87, for which the 3D scattering length is close to the range of the interaction potential $a \sim R_{\rm vdW}$. We study then a configuration with $\ell_z \gg a$ and therefore the logarithm term has a negligible contribution. The coupling simplifies to the constant

$$g^{(2D)} = \frac{\hbar^2}{m} \frac{\sqrt{8\pi}a}{\ell_z},$$
 (1.21)

which corresponds to the result expected from Eq. (1.18) using Eq. (1.19). Remarkably, the interactions in the quasi-2D regime can thus be described by a dimensionless parameter defined as $\tilde{g} = mg^{(2D)}/\hbar^2 = \sqrt{8\pi}a/\ell_z$.

Finally, we work in the weak interaction regime, defined by $\tilde{g} \ll 1$ [56], and the interactions remain repulsive $\tilde{g} > 0$. The possible occupation of the excited states of the harmonic potential has been studied in Ref. [66], and it has been shown that this can lead to a reduction of \tilde{g} by a few percent only within our experimental parameters ($a\ell_z n \ll 1$).

Work performed during my thesis and not detailed in this manuscript

Although the contact interactions are dominant in our system, we observed more exotic interactions such as magnetic dipole-dipole interactions (MDDI) [54]. These interactions are commonly studied with atom species with large magnetic moment in the ground state. While we work with alkali atoms, for which the magnetic moment is of the order of ≤ 1 Bohr magneton $\mu_{\rm B}$, we demonstrated the non-negligible presence of MDDI in a *mixture* of two magnetic-field insensitive states. We used a high resolution Ramsey interferometric method on the so-called *clock-transition* between these two states and interpreted the effect of MDDI as a modification of the inter-species scattering length. From now on, we drop the notation (2D) and all quantities are assumed to be 2D except for the 3D s-wave scattering length a.

1.2.4 Description at zero temperature for uniform gases

We dedicate this section to the specific case of 2D weakly-interacting Bose gases at zero temperature, at equilibrium in the dilute regime. Under these conditions, the ground state is a true condensate and the Hartree ansatz Eq. (1.11) is known to be valid. We minimize the energy functional Eq. (1.17) after introducing the chemical potential $\mu = \partial E/\partial N$, a Lagrangian multiplier, to satisfy the condition of normalisation of the macroscopic wave function ϕ Eq. (1.16). We obtain the stationary *Gross-Pitaevskii equation* (GPE), also known as the nonlinear Schrödinger equation (NLSE):

$$-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\nabla^2\phi + V(\mathbf{r})\phi + \frac{\hbar^2}{m}\tilde{g}|\phi|^2\phi = \mu\phi.$$
(1.22)

This equation, valid for T = 0, also gives an appropriate description of the system at low temperature in the degenerate regime, when the PSD is large enough $\mathcal{D} \gg 1$.

We focus our interest on uniform gases which are the subject of this thesis. In practice, we confine the atoms in a potential $V(\mathbf{r})$ constant and equal to zero over the size of the sample and with sharp edges.

Ground state At equilibrium, the ground state of the system is the solution of Eq. (1.22) with the minimum energy. We study the bulk of a uniform 2D gas at zero temperature and, as $E_i \gg E_k$, we neglect the kinetic part of the GPE. This approximation defines the *Thomas-Fermi regime* and leads to:

$$\frac{\hbar^2}{m}\tilde{g}|\phi|^2 = \mu. \tag{1.23}$$

Therefore, in this regime, the in-plane density $n = |\phi|^2$ is uniform. Naturally, this regime is only valid in the bulk, and the kinetic energy cannot be neglected at the edges. The density $|\phi|^2$ then varies smoothly from n to zero over a distance ξ called the *healing length*:

$$\xi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\tilde{g}n}},\tag{1.24}$$

which results from the balance between the kinetic and interaction energies. This distance therefore gives the characteristic length scale of the interactions.

Excitation spectrum In uniform systems, the elementary excitations are deduced from Bogoliubov analysis [67]. This approach is purely phononic and does not take into account other excitations such as vortices for example. The excitation modes are defined by real frequencies ω_k in the context of repulsive interactions and are associated with plane waves of wave vector \mathbf{k} of norm k. The energy spectrum

$$\hbar\omega_k = \frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\sqrt{k^2(k^2 + 4\tilde{g}n)} \tag{1.25}$$

describes two distinct regimes separated by a characteristic wave vector $k_c = 1/\xi$. In the high-k limit $k \gg k_c$, one enters the free-particle regime, whereas for $k \ll k_c$ the relation of



Figure 1.2: Bogoliubov excitation spectrum (solid purple line), with the phononic regime $(k \ll k_c)$ and its linear relation $\omega_k = c_{\rm B}k$ (dashed black line) and the free-particle regime $(k \gg k_c)$ described by a quadratic relation of dispersion (dotted black line). The momentum is expressed in units of k_c .

dispersion Eq. (1.25) is linear $\omega_k \sim c_{\rm B}k$ and phonons propagate with the so-called *Bogoliubov* speed of sound:

$$c_{\rm B} = \frac{\hbar}{m} \sqrt{\tilde{g}n}.$$
 (1.26)

The excitations spectrum is represented in Fig. 1.2 and the sound modes have been observed experimentally in 2D [47, 68, 69].

In our experimental platform, described in the next chapter, the healing length is $\xi \sim 0.2 \,\mu\text{m}$ for the largest density achievable and the corresponding Bogoliubov speed of sound is $c_{\rm B} \sim 3 \,\text{mm/s}$.

1.3 Some properties

Although the 2D weakly-interacting gas does not exhibit condensation, we will now see that its symmetry properties make it an interesting system.

1.3.1 Scale invariance

Symmetries in physical systems generally constrain their behaviour and are exploited to simplify many problems. Remarkably, the 2D homogeneous system with short-range interactions, when described by a classical field theory, presents an interesting feature when it undergoes a dilatation of length by a factor $\lambda > 0$.

Indeed, the action $S[\phi]$ associated with the GPE (with $V(\mathbf{r}) = 0$) is kept invariant for a transformation in which the length ℓ , the time t and the wave function ϕ are rescaled as follows:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \ell \to & \ell' = \ell/\lambda, \\ t \to & t' = t/\lambda^2, \\ \phi(\mathbf{r}) \to & \phi'(\mathbf{r}', t') = \lambda \phi(\mathbf{r}, t). \end{array}$$
(1.27)

This property is due to the adimensionality of the interaction parameter \tilde{g} : the interaction energy E_i does not introduce any new length scale. Therefore, the interaction energy E_i and the kinetic energy E_k scale in the same way under Eq. (1.27) and they are transformed as $E \rightarrow \lambda^2 E$. As the energy functional is only rescaled by a constant factor, the laws governing the system are unchanged. This property, known as *scale invariance*, has important consequences and we can demonstrate that the equation of state of the system depends on the single parameter³ $\mu/k_{\rm B}T$ [57]. The study of GPE solutions also highlights the scale invariance of the 2D ultracold gas. Indeed, using the transformation Eq. (1.27), we can deduce a new solution ϕ' of the GPE Eq. (1.22) from a previously known ϕ .

Scale invariance and its dynamical consequence in 2D harmonic potentials have been discussed earlier in the team for breathers [70]. Another situation where scale invariance plays a crucial role is in the context of localised stationary solutions of the GPE. In the presence of repulsive interactions and without confinement, there do not exist such solutions, so-called *solitary* solutions. In the case of attractive interactions, such stationary solitary solutions exist, even if they are weakly unstable. Among them, the so-called *Townes soliton* is a real nodeless localised stationary solution of zero-energy. Remarkably, the scale invariance property of the 2D system implies that there is no size condition to form a Townes soliton. Indeed, the only conditions yielding these solitons are to have the right shape for the wave function ϕ and a fixed atom number $N_{\rm T} = 5.85/\tilde{g}$. Townes solitons were observed in quasi-2D samples of caesium atoms with attractive interactions by Chen & Hung [71,72]. The authors confirmed that Townes solitons arise from samples of any size and observed the expected scaling of $N_{\rm T}$ with \tilde{g} .

Work performed during my thesis and not detailed in this manuscript

During my thesis and simultaneously with the work by Chen & Hung, we studied the physics of mixtures of two non-miscible species, $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$, with repulsive intra- and inter-species interactions. In particular, we considered a minority component $|2\rangle$ of density n_2 immersed in a majority component $|1\rangle$ of density n_1 . We showed that in the limit of weak depletions, i.e. when $n_2 \ll n_1$, the system is well described by a one-component GPE with effective attractive interactions, due to the non-miscibility of the two species. This platform is then adapted to the study of solitary waves. In order to observe Townes solitons, the minority component must have the right atom number $N = N_{\rm T}$ and the right profile. We have deterministically imprinted Townes solitons [52] in our two-component 2D ultracold sample. We confirmed the scale invariance of such solutions of the GPE with the observation of Townes solitons of various sizes. Thanks to the presence of tunable magnetic dipole-dipole interactions in our mixture (see Sec. 1.2.3), we also confirmed the scaling of the Townes atom number $N_{\rm T}$ with the effective interaction parameter.

Recently, we also carried out a numerical study of the two-component system [53]. We confirmed the presence of localised and stationary states for any atom number N larger than the Townes atom number $N_{\rm T}$. As the atom number N increases, we leave the weak depletion regime $N/N_T \leq 1.05$. For small but finite depletions $1.05 < N/N_T < 1.5$, the additional length scale induced by the presence of the bath $|1\rangle$ is no longer negligible. This introduces a weak non-local correction to the GPE which breaks scale invariance. However, it stabilises the system and we numerically find stationary solutions with Townes-like profiles. By further increasing the atom number $N/N_T \gtrsim 1.5$, the one-component GPE is no longer suitable. We use then two coupled GPEs while we enter the spin-domain regime. Together with this phase diagram, we studied the excitation spectrum of the stationary solutions when $N > N_{\rm T}$. In particular, we have shown the absence of localised excitation modes in the region $1.45 \leq N/N_{\rm T} \leq 3.5$, called a

³In one and three dimension, the equation of state depends on the chemical potential μ and the temperature T separately.

self-evaporation region.

The reader can find a complete description of this work in Ref. [73].

1.3.2 Quasi-long-range order

We emphasised in the introduction to 2D systems that condensation does not occur at finite temperature for non-interacting and interacting 2D gases. However, the presence of repulsive weak interactions restores the notion of order in the system. We now describe some properties of the system at low temperature that lead to the definition of a quasi-long-range order.

Reduction of the density fluctuations When the temperature of an interacting system is sufficiently low (or equivalently when the PSD is large enough), the interaction energy E_i becomes dominant. This leads to a reduction of the density fluctuations which come with an energy cost. Indeed, the interaction energy in our system is calculated from Eq. (1.17) and is written:

$$E_{\rm i} = \frac{\hbar^2 L^2}{2m} \tilde{g} \langle n^2(\boldsymbol{r}) \rangle.$$
(1.28)

The energy cost is then directly proportional to the density fluctuations which we usually characterise by the (normalised) second-order correlation function

$$g_2(\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_2) \equiv \frac{1}{n^2} \langle n(\boldsymbol{r}_1) n(\boldsymbol{r}_2) \rangle.$$
(1.29)

This function, also called the density-density correlation function, evaluates the probability to find a particle at a position \mathbf{r}_1 knowing that a second particle has been detected at a position \mathbf{r}_2 and depends on the distance $r = |\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_2|$. The quantity $g_2(0)$ then represents the probability to find two particles at the same position. For ideal Bose gases, $g_2(0) = 2$ and this reflects a tendency towards atoms bunching $(g_2(0) > 1)$ whereas for thermal Fermi gases $g_2(0) = 0$, which indicates a tendency towards atoms anti-bunching $(g_2(0) < 1)$.

When the density fluctuations are totally suppressed, one finds $g_2(0) = 1$. In this configuration, the only degree of freedom left for the classical field ϕ is its phase θ . This regime is called the *quasi-condensate* regime or *pre-superfluid* regime [64, 74, 75] and has been observed experimentally in non-uniform systems [38, 49, 76]. We stress that the definition of the quasi-condensate includes the suppression of density fluctuations only and that there is no extended phase coherence in the system, as observed in Ref. [38].

Work performed during my thesis and not detailed in this manuscript

In practice, $g_2(0)$ is ill-defined for 2D interacting gases and the correct observable to study the probability to find two particles close to each other is Tan's contact $C \equiv \partial E/\partial a$. Indeed, $g_2(r)$ is expected to diverge in the short distance limit. Initially defined by Tan in 2008 for strongly-interacting Fermi gases [77–79], the two-body contact has been measured recently, in our group, in a uniform 2D weakly-interacting Bose gas across the superfluid transition [55]. We measured the change of internal energy for a small modification of the scattering length using Ramsey spectroscopy. Our results are in good agreement with the theoretical predictions in the limiting case of deeply degenerate and normal gases and recent calculations performed by A. Rançon & N. Dupuis [80]. First-order correlation function The emergence of phase ordering in interacting gases is studied through the infinite distance behaviour of the first-order correlation function following Penrose and Onsager criterion. We therefore need to calculate G_1 in the quasi-condensate regime. In the low-temperature phase, we can apply the same Bogoliubov treatment as used for the zero temperature case in Sec. 1.2.4. Indeed, only long-wavelength phase perturbations are significant [56] and this approach was justified by Castin & Mora for quasi-condensates in 2D in Refs. [81, 82]. The macroscopic wave function is written $\phi = \sqrt{n} \exp(i\theta)$ with a fixed density n and a fluctuating phase θ . The normalised first-order correlation function $g_1(r) = G_1(r)/G_1(0)$ yields within this formalism:

$$g_1(r) \approx \exp[-\langle \theta(\mathbf{r}_2) - \theta(\mathbf{r}_1) \rangle^2].$$
(1.30)

The computation of the phase variations (performed introducing a UV cut-off at λ_{th} in the population of the excitation modes) shows that the decay of g_1 in the quasi-condensate regime is different than the exponential decay expected in the thermal regime. Indeed, g_1 decays algebraically:

$$g_1(r) \approx \left(\frac{\lambda_{\rm th}}{r}\right)^{\alpha}, \qquad \qquad \alpha = \frac{1}{\mathcal{D}_{\rm s}}, \qquad (1.31)$$

and the exponent α depends on the non-zero superfluid PSD \mathcal{D}_{s} of the system. It still vanishes for infinite distances which is consistent with MWH theorem, but this slow decay of the correlations defines a quasi-long-range order and is represented in Fig. 1.3. For large \mathcal{D} , phase coherence is established over a macroscopic distance. This has great consequences for finite-size systems for which the correlation function can have a finite value over the whole sample.

1.4 Berezenskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless phase transition

The 2D Bose gas with short-range interactions does not exhibit Bose-Einstein condensation. However, we have shown that a notion of order is restored below a critical temperature T_c , including the appearance of a quasi-condensate and a quasi-long-range order. In the following, we give a phenomenological description of superfluidity and describe the mechanism allowing the 2D Bose gas to evolve from a normal fluid at low PSD to a superfluid at high PSD. This phase transition is studied with the Berezenskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless mechanism derived in 1972 [25, 26, 83], originally for the two-dimensional XY spin model.

Superfluidity In a very simplified way, superfluidity is often described as an absence of viscosity. First interpreted as a property of helium at low temperature in 1938 by Kapitza [5] and Allen & Misener [6] simultaneously, it was introduced after the measurement of the flow of liquid helium II through capillarities. In 1941, Landau gave a first explanation of this phenomenon by showing that a fluid can move at a velocity v without friction against static walls if its elementary excitation spectrum $\varepsilon(p)$ satisfies the criterion $v < \min_{p\to 0} \varepsilon(p)/p$, p being the fluid momentum [84].

In practice, superfluidity relies on subtle definitions and one has to go beyond Landau criterion. Some established properties of superfluidity are given here, but the reader will find a more complete description of this phenomenon in Refs. [85–87]. Let us mention two fundamental properties that characterise a superfluid state [88, 89]. These properties are deduced from thought experiments which consist in describing how the state of a fluid in a cylindrical or toric container varies as a function of its rotating velocity around the central axis. First, if we place a classical fluid in such a container rotating with an angular frequency Ω , it will acquire a velocity $\boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \boldsymbol{\Omega} \times \boldsymbol{r}$ through viscous force between the walls and the atoms. In contrast, if we consider a superfluid, a non negligible fraction of the fluid must stay at rest in the Galilean frame of the laboratory, at least under a critical frequency $\Omega < \Omega_c$. This criterion imposes a certain *stiffness* of the superfluid state. This phenomenon is associated to a reduction of the moment of inertia compared to the classical fluid and has been observed for the first time with liquid helium [90]. Second, if the container rotates with an angular frequency $\Omega > \Omega_c$ such that the superfluid is now in rotation, and the rotation of the container is stopped, the motion of the superfluid will continue for a long time. In this sense, the superfluid state is metastable: while its energy would be minimised if it were static, it continues to rotate. For ultracold atomic gases, the flow can last for several tens of seconds. In contrast, a normal fluid set in motion in a static container will stop in a few seconds due to the roughness of the walls.

The *two-fluid* model gives a useful framework to characterise the properties of a superfluid. It consists in describing the quantum gas or fluid as a superposition of two components: a superfluid component of density $n_{\rm s}$ and velocity $\boldsymbol{v}_{\rm s}$ which does not carry entropy, and a normal component of density $n_{\rm n}$ and velocity $\boldsymbol{v}_{\rm n}$. We emphasise that the *superfluid fraction* $n_{\rm s}/n$ is not necessarily equal to the *condensed fraction* in systems exhibiting condensation. In the quasi-condensate regime, the macroscopic wave function is written $\phi = \sqrt{n} \exp(i\theta)$ and the superfluid velocity is defined as $\boldsymbol{v}_{\rm s} = \hbar \nabla \theta/m$. This definition shows that the superfluid component rotational $\nabla \times \boldsymbol{v}_{\rm s}(\boldsymbol{r})$ is zero except where $\theta(\boldsymbol{r})$ is singular. On the other hand, if the fluid is placed in a container of rigid walls or trapped in a time-independent potential, the normal velocity is zero when the container is at rest and equal to $\boldsymbol{v}_{\rm n} = \boldsymbol{\Omega} \times \boldsymbol{r}$ when the container has an angular velocity Ω , i.e. $\nabla \times \boldsymbol{v}_{\rm n} = \boldsymbol{\Omega}$ [85].

We briefly describe two equivalent formalisms to quantitatively study superfluid states, which are demonstrated in Refs. [8,85]. Superfluidity can be established by applying a momentum constraint on the Hamiltonian, which corresponds to work in the moving frame. In this context, only the normal component of density n_n reacts to the perturbation. This method is equivalent, within a gauge transformation, to impose a so-called *twisted boundary condition* (TBC) in one direction of space for finding the eigenstates ϕ of the systems. For instance, in a 2D system of size $L \times L$ we would impose:

$$\phi(x+L,y) = \exp(\mathrm{i}\Theta)\phi(x,y), \qquad \phi(x,y+L) = \phi(x,y), \qquad \Theta \ll 1. \tag{1.32}$$

Let us consider the fraction of atoms $n_{\rm s}/n$ remaining motionless in a container in rotation with an angular frequency $\Omega < \Omega_{\rm c}$. As mentioned above, this stiffness is associated with a reduction of the moment of inertia in comparison with a normal fluid, which can be evaluated via a free energy cost $\Delta \mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}(\Omega) - \mathcal{F}(0)$, for having a part of the fluid that stays at rest. Considering TBC, we can show that this energy cost is related to the superfluid fraction by $\Delta \mathcal{F}(\Theta) = \hbar^2 \Theta^2 n_{\rm s}/2m$ [85].

Destruction of the phase ordering Phase ordering is limited by the presence of *topological defects* which are vortices. A vortex defines a zero in the wave function ϕ around which the phase rolls in an integer multiple of 2π , called the topological charge q of the vortex. The density $n(\mathbf{r})$ is then depleted over a distance given by the healing length ξ and the phase field $\theta(\mathbf{r})$ undergoes a strong change over short distances. Therefore, we understand that the presence of many vortices makes impossible the presence of a phase order.

The BKT phase transition in 2D relies on the fact that, under a critical temperature T_c , the creation of isolated vortices is not favourable and they survive in the system only by forming pairs of vortices with opposite charges q, called vortex-anti-vortex pairs. These pairs



Figure 1.3: (a) Superfluid fraction n_s/n computed from the Monte Carlo simulations of Prokof'ev & Svistunov [91] with $\tilde{g} = 0.15$. (b) Normalised first-order correlation function for an ideal 2D Bose gas (dashed line) and a weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas (solid line) with $\mathcal{D} = 10$. For the interacting gas with $\tilde{g} = 0.15$ and according to the Monte Carlo simulations, $\mathcal{D} = 10$ corresponds to a superfluid fraction of $n_s/n = 0.77$. We indicate with a red point in (a) the system shown in (b). We used a total density $n = 100 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$, fixing $T = 350 \,\text{nK}$, and the decay of g_1 at large distances is computed using Eq. (1.31). The extrapolation to short distances (dotted line) is not physical but reminds $g_1(0) = 1$.

do not affect the coherence and the thermodynamic properties are essentially determined by phonon modes. Above T_c , isolated vortices of random charges proliferate and prevent any long-distance phase coherence from occurring, making this transition a topological transition.

A superfluid transition Across this transition, and going to low temperatures, a superfluid fraction $n_s \leq n$ appears. This superfluid fraction is not easy to determine and was computed by Prokof'ev, Ruebenacker & Svistunov using Monte-Carlo simulations [91, 92]. We have reproduced n_s from their results in figure Fig. 1.3. They also characterised the critical point of this transition and found the critical PSD \mathcal{D}_c and the critical chemical potential μ_c using the definitions of Fisher et al. [93]:

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rm c} = \ln\left(\frac{\xi_{\mathcal{D}}}{\tilde{g}}\right),\tag{1.33}$$

$$\mu_{\rm c} = \frac{\tilde{g}}{\pi} \ln\left(\frac{\xi_{\mu}}{\tilde{g}}\right),\tag{1.34}$$

where the constants $\xi_{\mathcal{D}} = 380(3)$ and $\xi_{\mu} = 13.2(4)$ are calculated numerically. The transition is continuous for all the thermodynamic quantities but the superfluid PSD $\mathcal{D}_{\rm s} = \lambda_{\rm th}^2 n_{\rm s}$, which undergoes a jump from zero to $\mathcal{D}_{\rm s} = 4$ at the critical point. This superfluid PSD sets the exponent of the algebraic decay of the correlation function g_1 in Eq. (1.31) and it therefore lies between 0 and 1/4.

The quasi-long-range order was observed in cold atoms for the first time by Hadzibabic et al. in 2006 [37], whereas the superfluid fraction was recently measured via the measurement of the speed of sound modes in a homogeneous 2D sample [47]. In 2015, Fletcher et al. studied the critical point of the BKT transition in a harmonically trapped 2D Bose gas as a function of the interaction strength \tilde{g} [94]. They found this critical point to be in good



Figure 1.4: Equation of state of the weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas. We obtain a numerical EoS (solid black line) by interpolating the points from the Hartree-Fock limit (dashed orange line) together with the Monte Carlo simulations of Prokof'ev & Svistunov (purple points) and the Thomas-Fermi regime (dotted red line). The computation is performed with an interaction parameter $\tilde{g} = 0.15$ and the critical PSD $\mathcal{D}_c = 7.3$ is represented by the solid grey line.

agreement with the classical field predictions and showed that it converges to the BEC critical point in the limit of vanishing interactions. As explained above, the first-order correlation function is an interesting observable to attest the presence of quasi-coherence. The recent work of Sunami et al. [45] reports a measurement of g_1 in an 2D homogeneous gas. They performed wave-matter interferometry and confirmed the expected change in the decay of g_1 at the critical point. A similar but unpublished study was performed in our group in 2019 and reported in Ref. [43].

1.5 Equation of state

All the thermodynamic quantities of a system can be calculated from its equation of state (EoS). There exists no analytical form of the EoS of the 2D Bose gas, however, thanks to its scale invariance property, the thermodynamic variables and thus the EoS depends only on the quantity $\mu/k_{\rm B}T$:

$$\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}\left(\frac{\mu}{k_{\rm B}T}\right). \tag{1.35}$$

We study independently the two limiting cases of very degenerate gases $\mathcal{D} \gg 1$ and thermal clouds $\mathcal{D} \ll 1$.

Thomas-Fermi regime We have already presented this regime in Sec. 1.2.4. Deeply degenerate gases ($\mathcal{D} \gg 1$) are well described by the GPE Eq. (1.22). We neglect the effect of kinetic energy and the EoS reads:

$$\mathcal{D} = \frac{2\pi}{\tilde{g}} \frac{\mu}{k_{\rm B}T}.$$
(1.36)

Hartee-Fock regime The Hartree-Fock regime describes clouds far from degeneracy $\mathcal{D} \ll$ 1. Under these conditions, the interactions in and between the condensed and thermal part of the cloud are taken into account. For weakly-interacting gases, the EoS is then given

1.6. CONCLUSION

by the ideal gas Eq. (1.4), where we add to the chemical potential a mean field correction $\mu \to \mu - 2\hbar^2 \tilde{g}n/m$ (the minus sign stands for the repulsive interactions):

$$\mathcal{D} = -\ln\left[1 - \exp\left(\frac{\mu}{k_{\rm B}T}\right) \exp\left(-\frac{\tilde{g}\mathcal{D}}{\pi}\right)\right].$$
(1.37)

Furthermore, the EoS was measured and the results of Prokof'ev & Svistunov were confirmed for quasi-condensates [48, 49]. In practice, we use their data together with the two limiting cases described above to determine a numerical form of the total EoS:

$$\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}\left(\frac{\mu}{k_{\rm B}T}\right),\tag{1.38}$$

which is represented in Fig. 1.4 with the Monte-Carlo results.

1.6 Conclusion

We have introduced the theoretical framework to describe 2D Bose gases with short-range and weak interactions. These interactions are treated with a contact potential and the derivation of the energy functional of the system is achieved in the classical formalism. We have presented some interesting properties of this system, such as the presence of scale invariance and the emergence of quasi-long-range order for deeply degenerate gases. Indeed, the 2D weakly-interacting gas presents a phase transition from a superfluid state at very low temperature to a normal gas at higher temperatures. The intermediate regime, called *fluctuation regime*, shows a reduction of density fluctuations and the emergence of a quasi-condensate together with a superfluid fraction below a critical temperature. We have also described the mechanism behind this superfluid transition, called the Berezinskii-Korterlitz-Thouless transition.

Preparation of an ultracold Bose gas in a planar geometry

The experimental platform on which the results presented in this thesis were collected was built almost 10 years ago with the aim of studying the properties of Bose gases in two dimensions with homogeneous density profiles. The construction was already completed before I joined the team. Therefore, in this chapter, I describe the physical system under study in Sec. 2.1 and refer to the section Sec. 2.2 for details about the experimental techniques. A full account of the construction can be found in Refs. [95, 96] and subsequent updates in Refs. [43, 97].

2.1 Overview

As an introduction, we summarize in this section the main features of our system which will be more detailed in the following sections.

Optical cooling and trapping requires lasers with a specific wavelength addressing the electronic transitions of the chosen atomic species. Because of their simple electronic structure, Alkali atoms are popular for ultracold gases experiments. Among them, rubidium 87 (⁸⁷Rb) is one of the most common to prepare and study Bose-Einstein condensates.

After following a traditional cooling scheme (see Sec. 2.2.2 for more details), 1.5×10^5 cold atoms are trapped in a 2D flat-bottom potential. They lie in a vertical harmonic trap $V(z) = m\omega_z^2 z^2/2$ of angular frequency $\omega_z = 2\pi \cdot 3.6(1)$ kHz created with an optical accordion of wavelength $532 \,\mathrm{nm}$ (calibration detailed in Sec. 2.2.4). The atoms occupy the lowest energy level and their vertical density profile is a Gaussian of thickness $\ell_z = 181(2)$ nm. We ensure that the quasi-2D regime is reached by setting $\hbar\omega_z$ higher than both the thermal energy $k_{\rm B}T$ and the interaction energy per particle $E_{\rm i}/N$. The 2D trap is closed by an in-plane confinement made of light hard-walls provided by a blue-detuned laser beam of wavelength 532 nm sent to a digital micro-mirrors device (DMD). A more complete description of this 2D box potential, so-called green box, is given in Sec. 2.2.3. The DMD is mounted in direct imaging so that the binary pattern on the mirrors is imaged onto the atoms and we are able to imprint grey-levels pattern on the atoms following a simple process detailed in Sec. 2.2.5. The 2D density profile of the sample is then tunable and we can imprint arbitrary continuous profiles or perturbations on our atomic sample. We can also tune the 2D density n from $100 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$ to $5 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$: we partially transfer the atoms in a different level and blast them with a resonant light pulse.

The temperature of the cloud is set by the tunable height of the green box light walls from $\sim 150 \,\mathrm{nK}$ to $\lesssim 20 \,\mathrm{nK}$ and is measured in situ (see Sec. 2.2.7). Therefore, we have access

to a large range of PSD \mathcal{D} by simultaneously changing the temperature T and the critical temperature $T_c \propto n$ and we can study the characteristics of the sample across the BKT phase transition.

Three pairs of coils along x, y and z are used to generate magnetic fields of any direction and amplitude up to ~ 10 G. Usually, a vertical magnetic field of a few Gauss (with fluctuations of $\sim 1 \text{ mG}$) is applied and defines the quantization axis.

Our experiments are carried out in the two hyperfine levels f = 1 and f = 2 of the ⁸⁷Rb electronic ground state ${}^{2}S_{1/2}$. They are separated by ~ 6.834 GHz and, in the presence of an external magnetic field, they split into three and five Zeeman sub-levels of angular momentum projection $m_{f} = -1, 0, 1$ and $m_{f} = -2, -1, 0, 1, 2$ respectively. The electronic states of interest are fully described in Sec. 2.2.1.

The atomic sample can be prepared in any of the eight Zeeman states or in a superposition of these states thanks to successive microwave (mw) induced one-photon coherent transfers between the two hyperfine levels. The manipulation of the internal state is described in Sec.2.2.6. Among the eight sub-levels, two are magnetic insensitive at first order: $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$ and $|f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$, which facilitates their use. The so-called clock transition between these two states is used, for example, to perform Ramsey spectroscopy with a resolution of 1 Hz. Otherwise, we work mainly in the hyperfine level f = 1 to benefit from its long lifetime $\tau \sim 10 \text{ s compared to the } f = 2$ lifetime $\tau \sim 100 \text{ ms}$. Therefore, the preferred configuration is to work with atoms in $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$ to combine long lifetime and magnetic field insensitivity. In this case, the 2D interaction parameter is written $\tilde{g}_{11} = \sqrt{8\pi a_{11}}/\ell_z = 0.150(2)$ with $a_{11} = 100.9(1) a_0$ the 3D scattering length from [98]. Finally, we image the cloud in situ with absorption imaging with 1 µm resolution, described in Sec. 2.2.8, and record density distributions as shown in Fig. 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Two-dimensional density profiles realised in our experiment. (a) The typical homogeneous profile in a $40 \,\mu\text{m} \times 40 \,\mu\text{m}$ square. (b) An example of arbitrary density profile: azimutal density gradient imprinted on the atoms using the grey-level feedback loop. The optical depth (OD) is defined in Sec. 2.2.8.

2.2 Experimental methods and calibrations

2.2.1 ⁸⁷Rb electronic structure

As an Alkali, ⁸⁷Rb has only one electron occupying its valence layer, so its electronic spin s = 1/2. Its nuclear properties are characterised by a nuclear spin i = 3/2. The ⁸⁷Rb electronic ground state is then ${}^{2}S_{1/2}$ and its first excited state separates into two fine levels ${}^{2}P_{1/2}$ and ${}^{2}P_{3/2}$ [99]. The electronic transitions to these fine levels are labelled D1 (${}^{2}S_{1/2} \rightarrow {}^{2}P_{1/2}$) and D2 (${}^{2}S_{1/2} \rightarrow {}^{2}P_{3/2}$) and their wavelengths are $\lambda_{1} = 795$ nm and $\lambda_{2} = 780$ nm respectively. The excited level ${}^{2}P_{3/2}$ is used for cooling schemes and splits into four hyperfine



Fine Hyperfine Zeeman structure structure levels $(B \neq 0)$

Figure 2.2: Electronic structure of ⁸⁷Rb atoms. The fine and hyperfine structure and first order Zeeman splitting are detailed for levels of interest only.

levels f' = 0, 1, 2, 3. Moreover, all the interesting physics is performed in the ${}^{2}S_{1/2}$ two hyperfine levels f = 1 and f = 2, separated by $E_{\rm hfs} \sim 6.834 \,{\rm GHz}$. In the presence of a magnetic field, these hyperfine levels experience Zeeman splitting and separate into three and five sub-levels of angular momentum projections $m_{f} = -1, 0, 1$ and $m_{f} = -2, -1, 0, 1, 2$ respectively. These energy shifts with the magnetic field can be determined by the Breit-Rabi formula and read as follows:

$$\Delta E_{f,m_f} = E(f, m_f, B \neq 0) - E(f, 0, 0) = \mu_B g_i m_f B + \frac{E_{\text{hfs}}}{2} \left(\pm \sqrt{1 + \frac{4m_f \xi}{2i+1} + \xi^2} \mp \sqrt{1 + \xi^2} \right)$$
(2.1)

where the signs are assigned to f = 2 and f = 1 respectively. $E_{\rm hfs}$ is the hyperfine structure energy splitting, μ_B the Bohr magneton, g_i and g_j the Landé factors of i and j = s + lrespectively, and ξ stands for $\xi = \mu_B(g_j - g_i)B/E_{\rm hfs}$. For low magnetic fields, one gets the linear Zeeman shift $\Delta E_{f,m_f} = g_f m_f \mu_B B$, where $g_f = \pm 1/2$ is the Landé factor associated with hyperfine levels and represented in Fig. 2.2. The ⁸⁷Rb electronic structure is shown in a summary diagram Fig. 2.2 where only the relevant levels are indicated.

2.2.2 Preparation of a 3D ultracold cloud

Before transferring the atoms into a 2D box, we follow a classical cooling scheme, summarised in Fig. 2.3, to obtain a 3D degenerate cloud.

We start by cooling 5×10^9 atoms to 250 µK in a 3D magneto-optical trap (MOT) loaded in

Magneto-optical trap	Magnetic trap	Optical dipole trap	Green box
3 7 s	🕒 14 s	4 s	🕒 1 s
	t		

Figure 2.3: Experimental sequence to prepare a 2D homogeneous ultracold atomic sample.

a glass cell under vacuum. We proceed by switching on a magnetic trap. We perform an RFevaporative cooling and obtain 2.2×10^7 atoms at ~ $20 \,\mu$ K. This step facilitates the transfer of the atoms into an optical dipole trap (ODT) where we perform a second evaporative cooling and obtain a degenerate 3D cloud of 5×10^5 atoms with a temperature of ~ $80 \,\text{nK}$. Passing through this ODT serves mainly to load a large atom number in a cloud of small Thomas-Fermi radius to facilitate the transfer into the green box. The following paragraphs detail the individual cooling steps. Each tool and device presented is remotely controlled by the Cicero Generation computer software which handles all the experimental steps sequentially.

⁸⁷**Rb vapour** The experimental sequence starts with an oven heating rubidium rock pieces in a vacuum system with a pressure of 10^{-7} mbar. A commercial 2D magneto-optical trap (MOT) cools down the formed vapour in a glass cell. A D2-line resonant light beam, labelled P in Fig. 2.4.a, pushes only the ⁸⁷Rb atoms in a glass tube, along the x axis, towards a second glass cell located 30 cm away. All subsequent steps are carried out in the last glass cell.

3D magneto-optical trap We proceed by loading 5×10^9 atoms into a 3D MOT. The quadrupolar magnetic field is provided by anti-Helmholtz coils (MC1 and MC2 in Fig. 2.4.b) in the horizontal plane along the y axis, near the cell. The magnetic gradient is at maximum 22 G/cm. In the mean time, three pairs of counter-propagating light beams light up: one along the horizontal y axis and two in a xz plane with an angle of 60° with respect to the vertical axis (see M1, M2 and M3 in Fig. 2.4). They are all slightly red-detuned from the D2-line to produce a viscous force on the atoms and trap them at the centre of the MOT. The MOT is on during 7 s and cools the atoms to $250 \,\mu$ K. After that, the atoms are optically pumped in the hyperfine level f = 1.

Magnetic trap We pursue by switching on a quadrupolar magnetic field, with a maximum gradient of 240 G/cm, generated by two water-cooled anti-Helmholtz coils in the vertical direction. This creates a magnetic trap for atoms in $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle$ only, so that we load $\sim 1/3$ of the total atom number. We increase the collision rate by compressing the trap and then perform an evaporating cooling using a radio-frequency (RF) ramp of final value 2.5 MHz. The atoms with the largest energy are transferred to the untrapped states and are eventually lost while the remaining atoms thermalise. The RF ramp lasts 12 s and we obtain at the end 2.2×10^7 atoms at $\sim 20 \,\mu$ K.

Optical crossed beams trap Near the end of the RF evaporation, an optical trap is loaded. Two beams with an angle of 120° are turned on in the horizontal plane and cross a few micrometres below the magnetic-trap centre. They are red-detuned from the D2-line to a 1064 nm wavelength to attract the atoms in the intensity maxima. Each arm has a power of 3 W, a horizontal waist of 90 µm and a vertical waist of 30 µm. The magnetic trap is decompressed by decreasing the magnetic gradient, and the atoms are transferred into

this optical dipole trap. A small magnetic gradient is maintained to compensate gravity. Thereafter, we perform an optical evaporation by slowly decreasing the light beam powers for 3 s. We obtain a degenerate 3D cloud of 5×10^5 atoms with a temperature of ~ 80 nK.



Figure 2.4: Experimental setup from the side view (a), the front view (b) and the top view (c). The ⁸⁷Rb atoms are pushed to the cell with a light beam (P) resonant with the D2 line. They are loaded in a MOT created by one pair of coils (MC1/2) and three pairs of beams (M1/2/3). The two quadrupole coils (Q1/2) produce the next magnetic trap. We then switch on two dipolar trap beams (D1/2) before ramping up the green box. The in-plane confinement is ensured by a vertical beam reflected by a DMD and an optical microscope. The atoms are vertically trapped in an optical accordion (Acc.) formed by two parallel beams separated by a distance d going through an aspheric lens (L1), interfering on the atoms with an angle θ as shown in (d), and finally passing through a second lens (L2) to image them. The atomic cloud is imaged either on the vertical axis (VI) or on the horizontal axis (HI).
2.2.3 Transfer to a 2D flat-bottom optical box

Following the proposal of [100], the atoms are transferred from the red dipole trap to the central node of a blue-detuned vertical optical lattice [43, 101] of initial fringe spacing $i = 12 \,\mu\text{m}$. This lattice, called the accordion, is produced from two beams of wavelength 532 nm interfering on the atoms with a variable angle θ . We vary the fringe spacing by tuning the angle θ thanks to a translation stage setting the distance d between the beams before the lens as shown in Fig. 2.4.d. A feedback loop controls the phase of the interference pattern so that the central node does not move from shot-to-shot.

Meanwhile, we raise light-walls to confine the atoms in the horizontal plane. These are made using a DMD shined with a repulsive light beam of wavelength 532 nm. The DMD (Texas Instrument model DLP7000), mounted in direct imaging, is a 1024×768 array of squared mirrors with sides of $13.7 \,\mu\text{m}$. The mirrors can be individually set to two positions: (1) the light is reflected to the atoms, (0) the light is deflected in another direction. When reflected to the atoms, the light passes through a microscope objective of numerical aperture 0.4 and the effective¹ side of the mirrors is of $0.2 \,\mu\text{m}$ on the atomic plane. Therefore, we imprint any binary image on the DMD mirrors and the in-plane confinement takes a tunable shape.

To reach the 2D regime, the atomic vertical degree of freedom must be frozen. To this end, we adiabatically reduce the fringe spacing i to $2 \,\mu\text{m}$. Because the light is blue-detuned, it repels the atoms and compresses the 3D cloud into a planar Bose gas. Finally, we produce a quasi-2D uniform Bose gas.

2.2.4 Measurement of the cloud vertical thickness

As we introduced earlier in Sec. 1.2.3, the atoms are trapped in a single node of a vertical blue-detuned optical lattice approximated by a harmonic potential $V(z) = \frac{1}{2}m\omega_z^2 z^2$ of frequency $\omega_z/2\pi$. They occupy the lowest energy level, thus their profile is Gaussian in the vertical direction z and its vertical thickness writes $\ell_z = \sqrt{\hbar/m\omega_z}$. The precise knowledge of the angular frequency ω_z allows us to estimate the dimensionless 2D interaction parameter ($\tilde{g} \propto a/\ell_z$) and to verify that the quasi-2D regime is reached. Indeed, $\hbar\omega_z$ must be higher than both the thermal energy $k_{\rm B}T$ and the interaction energy per particle $E_{\rm i}/N$.We perform parametric heating to characterize the frequency trap $\omega_z/2\pi$. After evaporation in the green box potential and thermalisation of the cloud, we modulate the accordion beams power around their mean value. We fix the amplitude of the modulation to be low and vary its frequency $\omega_{\rm m}/2\pi$. We observe the maximal atom loss for a power modulation frequency twice larger than the trap frequency $\omega_{\rm m} = 2\omega_z$ as shown in Fig. 2.5.

In our typical configuration, we work with an accordion frequency of $\omega_z/2\pi = 3.6(1)$ kHz which corresponds to a vertical thickness $\ell_z = 180(2)$ nm and the atoms are in the hyperfine level f = 1 in which they experience long lifetimes. Therefore, using the 3D scattering length $a_{11} = 100.9(1) a_0$ from [98], we get a weakly interacting 2D Bose gas of interaction parameter $\tilde{g}_{11} = \sqrt{8\pi a_{11}}/\ell_z = 0.149$. Our typical uncertainty on the interaction parameter is $\Delta \tilde{g} = 0.002$.

2.2.5 Shaping the density profile

The atoms are confined in the horizontal plane in between light hard-walls produced with a DMD. We use a similar DMD, shined with a light beam of wavelength 532 nm, to imprint

¹The light passes through a telescope composed of a lens and the microscope objective so the pattern on the DMD is imaged onto the atoms with a magnification of ~ 1/70.



Figure 2.5: Atom losses induced by the parametric heating. We modulate the power of the accordion beams with an amplitude of modulation of a few percent of their final value with a frequency $\omega_{\rm m}/2\pi$ during 400 ms and measure the atom number N remaining in the trap. We observe an asymmetric signal due to the anharmonicity of the vertical trapping potential. Indeed, atoms with higher kinetic energy need less energy to be ejected of the trap and can fall off even for $\omega_{\rm m} \lesssim 2\omega_z$. Therefore, we determine the accordion frequency by taking the frequency on the hard-side right edge, shown with the red disk background: $\omega_{\rm m} = 2\pi \cdot 7.2 \,\text{kHz}$.

additional potentials on the cloud without changing the height of the green box potential. Furthermore, as the effective mirrors size onto the atoms $(0.2 \,\mu\text{m})$ is smaller than the optical resolution (~ 1 μm), we generate optical potentials of controllable intensity. Indeed, we discretise the DMD surface in *macro-cells* of several adjacent mirrors and set the effective size of these macro-cells smaller than the optical resolution. The density of pixels (0) and (1) on a given macro-cell is averaged to grey levels of light intensity over the sample. Therefore, we convert any continuous profile into a binary image with a dithering algorithm following the *error diffusion method* [102] and imprint it on the atoms.

Work performed during my thesis and not detailed in this manuscript

We recently developed a feedback loop to control the imprinting of these grey level patterns accurately [51,97]. We work in the Thomas-Fermi regime, where the chemical potential reads $\mu = gn$ (see Eq. (1.36)). In a sample of global chemical potential μ_0 , we apply an optical potential V(x, y) of spatial scale much larger than the healing length ξ . This perturbation locally modifies the chemical potential to $\mu(x, y)$. We can then apply the local density approximation (LDA) and the density profile reads:

$$n(x,y) = \frac{1}{g} \left(\mu_0 - V(x,y) \right).$$
(2.2)

Thus, the figure of merit of the feedback loop is computed from the density profile.

An initial binary profile binary_0, which can be either a blank image or an initial guess based on the target density profile target, is defined to be projected onto the atoms. The initial density profile density_0 is then measured. The feedback loop (shown in Fig. 2.6) starts with the computation of the local error error_0 = density_0 - target which we filter with a Gaussian to remove high frequency noise. This error is converted into a binary image via the error diffusion algorithm and reshaped to the DMD dimensions in an array called binary_error_0. The next binary image (here binary_1) to be printed on the atoms is then calculated



Figure 2.6: Diagram of the grey levels iterative loop. The first row represents the initialisation while the second row describes a loop. Dithering time steps are represented with half-dashed arrows and green arrows mean imprinting the image on the atoms via the DMD.

with the recursive step: binary_(n+1) = binary_n + K*binary_error_n, where K is a spacial-dependent gain taking into account the Gaussian envelope of the beam intensity and whose amplitude is adjusted by hand. One projects back binary_(n+1) onto the atoms, measures density_(n+1) and computes error_(n+1). If the target accuracy is not reached one goes on and computes binary_error_(n+1) and binary_(n+2) etc...

Usually, we set the number of averaged images to 10 to measure the density profiles density_n to get rid of the optical shot noise and we observe that the global error decreases for the first 10-15 steps of the loop.

2.2.6 Manipulation of the internal state

We perform the interesting physics in the eight Zeeman sub-levels of the two hyperfine levels f = 1 and f = 2 of the ⁸⁷Rb electronic ground state. We mostly work in the f = 1 level, composed of three Zeeman sub-levels of angular momentum $m_f = -1, 0, 1$ in order to take advantage of its long lifetime $\tau \sim 10$ s. Usually, we choose to work in the magnetic-insensitive state $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$. However, the cloud is prepared in the state $|f = 1, m = -1\rangle$ and we must therefore coherently transfer the atoms within the hyperfine level f = 1. Furthermore, the ability to manipulate the internal state allows us to create superpositions of states and to study mixtures [52, 73, 97].

Coherent coupling A coherent field induces Rabi oscillations between two states $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$ separated in energy when close to the resonance of the transition $|1\rangle \leftrightarrow |2\rangle$. Shining a coherent field of frequency ν detuned from the resonance frequency ν_0 by $\delta = 2\pi(\nu - \nu_0)$ for a time t transfers the atoms initially in the state $|1\rangle$ into a superposition of states: $c_1|1\rangle + c_2|2\rangle$. The populations $p_1 = |c_1|^2$ and $p_2 = |c_2|^2$ of the states $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$ read:

$$p_2 = \frac{\Omega_0^2}{\Omega_0^2 + \delta^2} \sin^2 \left(\sqrt{\Omega_0^2 + \delta^2} \frac{t}{2} \right), \qquad p_1 = 1 - p_2, \qquad (2.3)$$



Figure 2.7: Clebsch-Gordan coefficients for the magnetic dipole transitions of polarization σ^+ ($\Delta m_f = +1$), π ($\Delta m_f = 0$) and σ^- ($\Delta m_f = -1$).

Table 2.1: Microwave coupling strengths for the most commonly used transitions associated to its mw chain in the presence of a vertical magnetic field.

where Ω_0 is the frequency describing the coupling strength between the two states and induced by the microwave pulse. At resonance ($\delta = 0$), a full transfer is achieved after a so-called π -pulse when $t = \pi/\Omega_0$.

Microwave transfers The two hyperfine levels of the electronic ground state of the ⁸⁷Rb, f = 1 and f = 2, are separated by ~ 6.834 GHz. Therefore, a microwave (mw) of appropriate frequency provides a one-photon coherent transfer from a state in one hyperfine level to a state in the other hyperfine level while respecting $\Delta m_f = 0, \pm 1$. Furthermore, when external magnetic fields of 0 to 10 G are applied, the Zeeman sub-levels of the same hyperfine level separate by a few MHz and a one-photon RF transition can be used to transfer the atoms. However, RF transitions are less convenient² so transfers between two states of the same hyperfine level are performed by doing successive mw pulses. These mw have wavelengths of a few centimetres, which means that the whole cloud is reached homogeneously, and they do not induce momentum transfer.

Two mw antennas are installed on the experimental setup, close to the glass cell. The first one is placed in the horizontal plane on the x axis. The second one is a one-loop antenna of diameter ~ 1 cm located in the horizontal plane on a diagonal axis. They are connected to different mw chains which have been modified during my thesis and are now composed of a synthesizer (both Rohde and Schwarz SMB100AV) followed by an amplification system. We place a mw switch (PMC SW1AD-15) before each amplification system to control the mw pulses duration and a circulator (Aerotek H13-1FFF) after the amplification systems to protect it from reflections on the antenna. The signal of the first mw chain (labelled RS1) is amplified by a pre-amplifier (Mini-Circuit ZJL-7G+) and a 10 W amplifier (Khune KU PA 700) before radiating to the atoms. The second chain (RS2) benefits of a greater amplification thanks to a water-cooled 50 W amplifier (RF Lambda RFLUPA05G08GA). The amplitudes of the respective fields are ~ 10 mG and ~ 30 mG and their tomography is detailed in appendix A. Both mw chains are remotely controlled by GPIB connections and their frequencies are stabilised by a common 10 MHz reference oscillator.

²The RF antenna present on our setup provides lower coupling strengths (< 5 kHz) than mw. Furthermore, to recover a two-level atom picture one has to generate external magnetic fields large enough so that the Zeeman second-order effect is no longer negligible. Originally, adiabatic transfers were performed [96] but proved to be less stable and practical than mw pulses.



Figure 2.8: Temperature calibration using the equation of state. (a) Example of CCD image we use for thermometry. A flat potential is additionally imprinted at the centre of the cloud and its height is varied. We measure the density n in the depleted area, circled in red, as a function of this height V and the density n_0 of the non-perturbed part, outside the circle. (b) We rescale both n and V (blue points) to match a numerical form of the equation of state (solid black line) and find in this example T = 83.5 nK. The bulk density $n_0 = 43 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$ gives the bulk PSD (dashed grey line) $\mathcal{D} = 17.9$ while the critical PSD (solid grey line) is $\mathcal{D}_c = 7.8$.

Coupling strengths and stability In the usual configuration, a vertical magnetic field is applied to the atoms. On the other hand, the experiment is surrounded by fluctuating magnetic fields mostly due to the Parisian metro. These fluctuations must be corrected to ensure the stability of magnetic-field sensitive transitions and therefore we use a compensation loop. The magnetic field of the external environment is measured in a separate room. This magnetic field is then converted into a current that is sent through a coil generating a compensation magnetic field. Finally, we obtain a peak-to-peak variation of ~ 1 mG of the vertical magnetic field on the atoms which corresponds to fluctuations of magnetic-sensitive transition frequencies $\leq 1 \text{ kHz}$ at first-order.

The mw coupling strengths provided by both mw chains are large enough ($\gtrsim 5 \text{ kHz}$) to prevent atom number fluctuations and are written in Tab. 1.1 for the usual transitions, the others can be easily found using the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients in Fig. 2.7.

Microwave spectroscopy These mw induced transfers represent a powerful spectroscopic tool. In particular, we perform Ramsey spectroscopy with a resolution of 1 Hz on the magnetic-field insensitive transition $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle \leftrightarrow |f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$. The large coupling strength provided by the RS2 mw chain also allowed us to carry out single-photon mw photoassociation to create weakly-bound ⁸⁷Rb dimers in their electronic ground state, which will be the subject of Part II.

2.2.7 Temperature and PSD of the sample

The temperature of the cloud is set by the height of the light hard-walls of the in-plane confinement in the green box. We therefore perform optical evaporative cooling to tune the temperature from ~ 150 nK to ≤ 20 nK. A wide range of PSD \mathcal{D} is also available by simultaneously changing the temperature T and the critical temperature $T_c \propto n$.

We measure the temperature of the sample from in-situ images using a numerical form of the

2.2. EXPERIMENTAL METHODS AND CALIBRATIONS

2D Bose gas equation of state described in Sec. 1.5:

$$\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}\left(\frac{\mu}{k_{\rm B}T}\right). \tag{2.4}$$

Following the method of [103], we imprint on the sample a flat disk-shaped repulsive potential of height V and small diameter compared to the size of the cloud (see Sec. 2.2.5). In the local density approximation, the local depletion of the cloud $\propto V$ is adjusted by varying the light power on the dedicated DMD and does not affect the height of the in-plane confinement potential. We vary V and measure the density n in the depleted region. We fit the parameters (μ, T) to rescale the data and match the equation of state Eq. (2.4) and an example is shown in Fig. 2.8. Measuring the density n_0 in the unperturbed region gives the critical temperature T_c and we access the PSD $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}_c T_c/T$.

2.2.8 Imaging system

Absorption imaging We perform absorption imaging by sending a light pulse of intensity I and wavelength λ onto the sample, addressing the closed transition $f = 2 \rightarrow f' = 3$ shown in Fig. 2.2. Atoms initially in a $|f = 2\rangle$ state scatter light in all directions, while the cameras collect the photons in the forward direction only. Thus, the region occupied by the atoms leaves a shadow on the image. We work in the low saturation regime: the pulse intensity I is lower than the saturation intensity $I_{\text{sat}} = \hbar \omega_L^3 \Gamma / 12\pi c^2$ (we fix $I/I_{\text{sat}} < 0.2$), with $\omega_L/2\pi$ the laser frequency, Γ the linewidth of the transition and c the speed of light in vacuum.

Imaging axes and resolution We image the atoms on three axes and two of them are in the horizontal plane. The former is mainly used to image the side of the 2D cloud or clouds in time of flight (ToF) while the latter is used as a control camera and does not operate for the science presented in this thesis. In practice, most images are taken along the vertical axis with a low noise CCD camera (Princeton Instruments, Pixis 1024 BR Excelon) with a magnification of 11 and a pixel size of 1.15 µm on the atoms. The light beam passes through the microscope of numerical aperture 0.4 so that our optical resolution is $\sim 1 \,\mu\text{m}$.

Two-dimensional density profile The vertical imaging provides in-situ images of the 2D density profile $n(x, y) = \int n_{3D}(x, y, z) dz$ from the 3D atomic density n_{3D} . Theoretically, in the low saturation regime, the light intensity collected on cameras in the presence of atoms $I_{c,a}$ follows a Beer-Lambert law:

$$I_{\rm c,a} = I \exp\left(-\int \sigma_{\rm light} n_{\rm 3D}(x, y, z) \,\mathrm{d}z\right) + I_{\rm bgd}.$$
 (2.5)

This equation contains σ_{light} the light-scattering cross section and I_{bgd} a residual background intensity. In a two-level model, the light-scattering cross-section is given by $\sigma_{\text{light}} = \sigma_0 = 3\lambda^2/2\pi$. However in the case of ⁸⁷Rb, one must take into account the complex structure of the addressed transition. This is done simply pondering the light-scattering cross section by the average of the Clebsh-Gordan coefficient for π -transitions $\epsilon = 7/15$: $\sigma_{\text{light}} = \epsilon \sigma_0$. In the absence of atoms, the collected intensity writes:

$$I_{\rm c,0} = I + I_{\rm bgd}.$$
 (2.6)

One defines the optical depth OD as:

$$OD = \int \sigma_{\text{light}} n_{3D}(x, y, z) \, \mathrm{d}z = -\log\left(\frac{I_{\text{c,a}} - I_{\text{bgd}}}{I_{\text{c,0}} - I_{\text{bgd}}}\right).$$
(2.7)



Figure 2.9: Ramsey spectroscopy. (a) Sequence diagram in the Bloch sphere representation. (b) Ramsey oscillations of the population in $|2\rangle$ centred on ν_0 for a non-interacting atomic cloud (black squares) and shifted by $\Delta\nu$ for our weakly interacting gas (violet circles). Figure reproduced from [73].

Therefore, by taking two images: one with and one without atoms, we access the density n(x, y):

$$n(x,y) = \int n_{3\mathrm{D}}(x,y,z) \,\mathrm{d}z = \frac{1}{\sigma_{\mathrm{light}}} \mathrm{OD}.$$
(2.8)

This Beer-Lambert law is a single-atom model and cannot apply for dense clouds. Indeed, when the condition $n\lambda_{\rm th}^2 \ll 1$ is not fulfilled, the light pulse can excite collective modes and the OD is not linear with the density n anymore. Therefore, we work in the linear regime, imposing OD ≤ 1.5 . Moreover, in practice, the experimental environment affects the imaging and the last relation must be multiplied by a correction factor. The calibration of this correction factor is performed with a Ramsey spectroscopy described in Sec. 2.2.9.

Most of the experiments are conducted in f = 1 although this hyperfine level is not resonant with the imaging beam. Therefore, we perform a partial coherent transfer to f = 2(detailed in Sec. 2.2.6) just before the imaging process.

2.2.9 Calibration of the density with Ramsey spectroscopy

The 2D density of the sample is a tunable quantity that we measure via in-situ absorption imaging described in Sec. 2.2.8. In practice, this imaging process is affected by the experimental environment, such as surrounding magnetic fields, which modifies the simple relation Eq. (2.8). A correction factor is embedded in the light cross-scattering section σ_{light} which we calibrate with Ramsey spectroscopy on the hyperfine clock-transition $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle \rightarrow |f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$ labelled here $|1\rangle \rightarrow |2\rangle$.

Indeed, the atoms experience in the two states involved, $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$, repulsive interactions characterised by dimensionless parameters \tilde{g}_{11} and \tilde{g}_{22} and inter-species repulsive interactions of associated strength \tilde{g}_{12} . As demonstrated in the supplemental material of [55], the presence of interactions results in an additional phase shift $\Delta \nu$ in the Ramsey signal.

In a zero-temperature picture, this mean-field shift $\Delta \nu$ is given by the difference of chemical potential $h\Delta\nu = \mu_2 - \mu_1$ where the chemical potentials (μ_1, μ_2) read:

$$\mu_1 = \frac{\hbar^2}{m} \frac{n}{2} \left(\tilde{g}_{11} + \tilde{g}_{12} \right), \qquad (2.9)$$

$$\mu_2 = \frac{\hbar^2}{m} \frac{n}{2} \left(\tilde{g}_{22} + \tilde{g}_{12} \right), \qquad (2.10)$$

where n is the initial density³. The mean-field shift is therefore written:

$$\Delta \nu = \frac{\hbar}{4\pi m} \Delta \tilde{g} \, n, \qquad \qquad \Delta \tilde{g} = \tilde{g}_{22} - \tilde{g}_{11}. \tag{2.11}$$

The Ramsey spectroscopy consists of two mw pulses separated by a duration $\tau = 10$ ms addressing the hyperfine transition with a Bohr frequency $\simeq \nu_0$ and a coupling strength Ω . The duration t of both pulses is set to $t = 2\Omega/\pi \simeq 25$ µs so that an atom initially in $|1\rangle$ experiences a $\frac{\pi}{2}$ -pulse. We scan the coherent field frequency ν and measure the population in $|2\rangle$ right after the second pulse. The sequence of mw pulses is displayed in Bloch representation in figure Fig. 2.9.a.

We first look at a sample of non-interacting atoms: we perform a Ramsey sequence after a time-of-flight long enough (2 ms) to suppress the interactions. The atoms, initially in the state $|1\rangle$, find themselves in a superposition of state $(c_1|1\rangle + c_2|2\rangle)^{\bigotimes N}$ after the first mw induced $\frac{\pi}{2}$ -pulse. During the free-evolution, the two populations get dephased with a total rate $\delta = 2\pi(\nu - \nu_0)$ so that, after the second pulse, the population in $|2\rangle$ oscillates with δ and is maximal for $\delta = 0$. From this measurement, we determined ν_0 .

Afterwards, we perform a similar Ramsey sequence on the atoms trapped in the green box, in order to measure the shift of resonance $\Delta \nu$ induced by the interactions. Both measurements are presented in Fig. 2.9.b.

The density n is then determined from Eq. (2.11) and compared to the optical depth of the same initial sample to calibrate σ_{light} with Eq. (2.8).

The high precision of this calibration relies on the high-resolution of the spectroscopy (1 Hz) and on the precise knowledge of $\tilde{g} \propto a/\ell_z$. Indeed, the vertical thickness of the cloud is measured with a precision of a few nanometres. On the other hand, the a_{ij} are obviously independent of the fluctuations of the experimental parameters and relatively well known [98]. We estimate that their values are known with an accuracy $< 1 a_0$.

2.3 Conclusion

In this chapter, we presented the atomic system and the different techniques we use to control it. Following a standard cooling scheme we obtain a 3D degenerate cloud that we transfer afterwards into a 2D optical trap. We shape the density profile of the atoms at will using DMDs and grey-levels intensity. We also manipulate their internal state using mw. Our mw system is a powerful spectroscopic tool and we use Ramsey spectroscopy with a resolution of 1 Hz to calibrate the cloud density, which we vary from $100 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$ to $5 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$. The temperature of the atoms can be adjusted from ~ $150 \,\text{nK}$ to ~ $20 \,\text{nK}$. Therefore, we control the phase space density over a wide range and study the properties of the atoms across the BKT phase transition.

³The equations Eq. (2.9) and Eq. (2.10) actually depend on the densities n_1 and n_2 in $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$ after we perform a first mw pulse on the transition $|1\rangle \rightarrow |2\rangle$. However we perform this calibration imposing $n_1 = n_2 = n/2$ by using $\pi/2$ -pulses.

Part II

Microwave photoassociation of pairs of ⁸⁷Rb atoms and measurement of atom-dimer interactions

⁸⁷**Rb least-bound dimers**

Interactions between particles in cold atom physics were briefly introduced in Chapter 1. In particular, we discussed their importance in 2D cold systems, in which they allow for the rising of a quasi-long-range order.

In this chapter, we describe the interaction potential and its eigenstates in the context of ultracold collisions. In particular, we will discuss the importance of bound states - describing dimers - for the characterisation of interaction potentials and the control of interactions in cold atomic samples. In a second part, we describe the spectroscopy by microwave-induced photoassociation that we performed on the least-bound dimer of ⁸⁷Rb during my thesis.

3.1 Binary interactions and dimers

This section is dedicated to the description of interactions in a dilute ultracold gas of neutral atoms, where the three-body interactions are then negligible. We consider binary interactions only and neglect magnetic dipole-dipole interactions. The interaction potential describes first the scattering properties of two atoms. In the low-energy regime, the relevant scattering process occurs in the *s*-wave, which is characterized by a single parameter: the scattering length a. As mentioned in Chapter 1, this length defines, in this regime, the strength of the interactions. Furthermore, there exist bound states of the interaction potential, which describe dimers and are the focus of this chapter and the next one. Here, we emphasis the importance of such bound states to characterise the interaction potential and introduce the universal relation linking the energy of the least-bound states to the scattering length a. Finally, we discuss some scattering resonances, in particular the ones known as Feshbach resonances, as examples of experimental use of weakly bound dimers.

3.1.1 The interaction potential

We consider the interaction potential between two identical atoms in their electronic ground state. Working with ultracold gases considerably simplifies the study of collisions under the action of this potential. For temperatures $\leq 1 \,\mu\text{K}$, the thermal wavelength λ_{th} ($\geq 100 \,\text{nm}$) of the atoms is large compared to the typical size of a dimer ($\leq 1 \,\text{nm}$). The ultracold atoms are delocalised and this leads to a *smoothing* of the interaction potential, i.e. the latter is not distinguished in detail as its range and spatial variation scale are much lower than λ_{th} . In these conditions, we will show that the interaction potential is described by only a few numbers, as already outlined in Sec. 1.2.1. We first focus in the long-distance behaviour of the interaction potential, which will be shown to be the important part to describe the leastbound dimers, and then describe the short-distance potential, also called here *core potential*. Long-distance behaviour: van der Waals interactions We consider two atoms whose centres of mass are separated by a distance r. We focus here on the large-distance regime, where r is larger than the typical size of the electronic clouds of the atoms (a few angströms) so that they do not overlap. In this configuration, there is no position in space for which the electronic wave functions of the two atoms are both non-zero and non-negligible. Therefore, there is no possible exchange of electrons between the atoms. We write then the interaction potential as the electromagnetic interaction between the two separated atoms A and B, treated with a multipolar expansion. The first and dominant term is the dipole-dipole interaction

$$U_{\rm dip} = \frac{1}{4\pi\varepsilon_0 r^3} \left[\boldsymbol{d}_A \cdot \boldsymbol{d}_B - 3(\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{d}_A)(\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{d}_B) \right], \qquad (3.1)$$

where ε_0 is the vacuum permittivity, \boldsymbol{u} the unitary vector connecting the atoms and \boldsymbol{d}_A (resp. \boldsymbol{d}_B) is the dipole operator associated with the atom A (resp. B). The dipole operator \boldsymbol{d}_X reads

$$\boldsymbol{d}_{X} = \sum_{j} q(\boldsymbol{r}_{j} - \boldsymbol{r}_{X}) \tag{3.2}$$

where we sum the contributions of all the electrons j, at position r_j and with elementary charge q, of an atom $X = \{A, B\}$ whose centre of mass is at r_X .

Let us consider the Hamiltonian \hat{H}_0 of the isolated atoms A and B individually. We note its eigenstates $|\psi_n\rangle$ and the corresponding energies E_n , with $E_0 < E_{n>0}$. We study the potential U_{dip} as a perturbation of \hat{H}_0 . At first order, because the mean electric dipole for an isolated atom in its ground state is always zero, there is no displacement of E_0 and everything happens like the two atoms do not "see" each other. At second order, the displacement in energy $\Delta E_0^{(2)}$ writes:

$$\Delta E_0^{(2)} = -\sum_n \frac{|\langle \psi_0 | U_{\rm dip} | \psi_n \rangle|^2}{E_n - E_0}.$$
(3.3)

This second order displacement is the only dominant term and, because it is negative, lowers the ground state energy E_0 . The energy $\propto U_{\rm dip}^2$ varies then as $1/r^6$ and is written

$$V(r) = -\frac{C_6}{r^6}.$$
(3.4)

This formulation was proposed in 1930 by London [104] and describes the so-called Van der Waals interactions. The positive coefficient C_6 depends on the atomic species considered and can be numerically calculated through the computation of the wave functions of the atomic states and the estimation of the matrix element of the dipole operator. Mitroy et al. [62] estimated this coefficient for most of the alkali-metals, together with the coefficients C_8 and C_{10} corresponding to the contributions of the next terms in the multipolar expansion of the electromagnetic interaction, which write $-C_{2n}/r^{2n}$.

The van der Waals interactions are associated with a characteristic range, $R_{\rm vdW}$, over which they have a non-negligible effect. For a given wave packet, the potential energy is significantly larger than the kinetic energy induced by the localisation for distances $r \leq R_{\rm vdW}$ where

$$R_{\rm vdW} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{2m_{\rm r}C_6}{\hbar^2}\right)^{1/4},\tag{3.5}$$

with $m_{\rm r}$ the reduced mass ($m_{\rm r} = m/2$ for homonuclear atoms). This characteristic range is associated with an energy scale $E_{\rm vdW} = \hbar^2/(2m_{\rm r}R_{\rm vdW}^2)$.

Core potential When the distance between the atoms becomes shorter, their electronic clouds overlap. We first discuss the form of the expected potential V(r) phenomenologically. At long distances, which we already discussed, the potential is expected to be attractive V'(r) < 0 and must tend to zero for $r \to +\infty$. At smaller distances, the potential decreases to a minimum value at a distance r_{\min} . Beyond this value, the electronic clouds repel each other and the potential increases, becomes repulsive V'(r) > 0 and tends to a large value while $r \to 0$.

The determination of this potential was first achieved with the simplest atom: hydrogen (H). Indeed, considering two H atoms, it becomes a four-body problem with one proton and one electron per atom. As we will discuss later, the problem is easily reduced to a two-body problem under simple assumptions.

We give an outline of the resolution for H atoms. As we now look at the internal degrees of freedom of the atoms, we define here the quantities that will be useful to us. We consider the interactions between two neutral atoms of hydrogen in their electronic ground state. The problem involves then two protons, labelled A and B, at positions \mathbf{r}_A and \mathbf{r}_B and two electrons, labelled 1 and 2, at positions \mathbf{r}_1 and \mathbf{r}_2 . As we treat alkali atoms in their electronic ground states, the orbital angular momentum of their electron is zero $\ell_1 = \ell_2 = 0$ and so is the orbital angular momentum of the electronic pair L = 0. The electronic spins of the electrons 1 and 2 are written respectively \hat{s}_1 and \hat{s}_2 , and we define the total electronic spin of the atomic pair as $\hat{S} = \hat{s}_1 + \hat{s}_2$. Similar definitions apply to the nuclear spins of the nuclei A and B, \hat{i}_A and \hat{i}_B and the total nuclear spin $\hat{I} = \hat{i}_A + \hat{i}_B$.

The so-called *Born-Oppenheimer approximation*, which relies on the large difference between the proton mass $m_{\rm p}$ and the electron mass $m_{\rm e} \sim m_{\rm p}/1800$, enables the reduction of this four-body problem to a two-body problem. Indeed, electrons being much lighter, they evolve in shorter characteristic times than protons. The electronic observables adjust almost instantaneously to the slower evolution of the nucleus. Therefore, we first assume that the nuclei are fixed and look for the eigenstates of the electrons in the Coulombian field created by the nuclei. Once we know their energy, we use it as an effective potential energy $V(|\mathbf{r}_A - \mathbf{r}_B|)$ for the nucleus Hamiltonian written as

$$\hat{H} = \frac{\hat{p}_A^2}{2m_{\rm p}} + \frac{\hat{p}_B^2}{2m_{\rm p}} + \hat{V}(|\boldsymbol{r}_A - \boldsymbol{r}_B|), \qquad (3.6)$$

where the two first terms are the kinetic energies of the nuclei A and B of momentum \hat{p}_A and \hat{p}_B .

After having decomposed the problem in an electronic and nuclear part, one must study the electronic Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H}_{\rm e} = \frac{\hat{p}_1^2}{2m_{\rm e}} + \frac{\hat{p}_2^2}{2m_{\rm e}} + \hat{V}_{\rm C} + 2E_{\rm i}.$$
(3.7)

The first two terms are the kinetic energies of the electrons 1 and 2 of momentum \hat{p}_1 and \hat{p}_2 while \hat{V}_C is the Coulombian potential. The last term is a constant with $E_i = 13.6 \text{ eV}$ being the H ionisation energy, here to set the zero in energy when the atoms are at an infinite distance, in their ground state. A good approximation for the electronic energy levels is obtained following the Heitler-London method [105] which relies on the following variational argument: as the distance between the nuclei $r_{AB} = |\mathbf{r}_A - \mathbf{r}_B|$ becomes infinite, the ground state of \hat{H}_e consists in two degenerate states with a possible eigenbasis given by:

$$\Psi_{\rm I}(\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_2) = \phi_A(\boldsymbol{r}_1)\phi_B(\boldsymbol{r}_2) \qquad \qquad \Psi_{\rm II}(\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_2) = \phi_A(\boldsymbol{r}_2)\phi_B(\boldsymbol{r}_1). \tag{3.8}$$

The single-particle wave function ϕ_A (resp. ϕ_B) describes one electron in the ground state 1s localised around the nucleus A (resp. B), and the electrons 1 and 2 can be localised around the nucleus A or B. The calculations of the energies at each distance r_{AB} can then be summarised as follows: one looks for linear combinations $\Psi = \alpha \Psi_{\rm I} + \beta \Psi_{\rm II}$ which give extrema of the average energy. This procedure reveals two solutions: a symmetric and an antisymmetric combinations $\Psi_{\rm I} \pm \Psi_{\rm II}$. These extremal energies can be written in a form of an effective potential $V_{\rm eff,\pm}$ for the motion of the nuclei. This effective potential writes as two contributions: a "direct" energy and "exchange" energy term. The direct energy corresponds to the matrix element of $\hat{H}_{\rm e}$ where each electron stays around its original proton, and the exchange energy corresponds to matrix elements where the atoms exchange their electrons. This last contribution is null when the electronic clouds do not overlap.

Electrons are indistinguishable fermionic particles of spin s = 1/2. Given a quantization axis, the electrons have two possible spin states: $|\uparrow\rangle \equiv |m_s = 1/2\rangle$ and $|\downarrow\rangle \equiv |m_s = -1/2\rangle$, where m_s is the projection of \hat{s} on the quantization axis. The Pauli principle stipulates that the state of the electrons must be antisymmetric by exchange. Therefore, the spin state must have a symmetry opposite to the orbital part one. For the symmetric potential $V_{\text{eff},+}$ one finds the so-called *singlet* (S = 0) spin state $(|\uparrow,\downarrow\rangle - |\downarrow,\uparrow\rangle)/\sqrt{2}$ while the potential $V_{\text{eff},-}$ is associated with *triplet* (S = 1) spin states: $|\uparrow,\uparrow\rangle, |\downarrow,\downarrow\rangle, (|\uparrow,\downarrow\rangle + |\downarrow,\uparrow\rangle)/\sqrt{2}$.

Numerical calculations show that $V_{\text{eff},\pm}$ tend to zero in the infinite distance limit while they diverge for $r_{AB} \to 0$. The potential $V_{\text{eff},-}$ is a decreasing function of r_{AB} , always positive and higher than $V_{\text{eff},+} < V_{\text{eff},-}$. The other one, $V_{\text{eff},+}$ presents a negative minimum at a finite distance r_{\min} . They define, with their respective spin states, an *anti-bonding* orbital and a *bonding* orbital respectively.

We emphasize that here we restricted the single-particle test functions ϕ to wave functions associated with 1s states. This first approximation excludes van der Waals interactions. Indeed, we calculated earlier the energy displacement induced by such interactions within perturbation theory, and one can also compute the first-order state vector. Considering H atoms in their electronic ground state 1s, one can show that the perturbed state at first order implies *p*-states. As we did not include *p*-states in the test functions, the van der Waals interactions are not described by the potential $V_{\text{eff},\pm}$. Opening the basis of test functions ϕ , allowing for *p*-states for instance, leads to a more accurate model. The van der Waals interactions can then be taken into account and their presence restores the attractiveness of the anti-bonding orbital, which now presents a minimal value (under the dissociation limit), even if it is still less deep than the bonding orbital. This last one is also made deeper by the van der Waals interactions.

In this discussion, we let apart the spin dimension of the nucleus. However, nuclei have usually a non-zero magnetic moment which interact with the magnetic moment of the electron. The coupling between the electron and nucleus spin angular momentum is called hyperfine coupling and splits the ground state into hyperfine levels, described by their total angular momentum f = |i - s|, ..., |i + s|. Moreover, as electrons, nuclei are indistinguishable particles. Therefore, their spin must be taken into account in the symmetries of the problem to satisfy Pauli principle. In practice, it is easier to consider the total angular momentum f to attribute spins states to their orbital part $V_{\text{eff},\pm}$. When f is an integer, the wave function of the atomic pair must be symmetric by exchange, otherwise it must be anti-symmetric by exchange. Note that, a priori, the different channels $\{f_j; f_{j'}\}$ are coupled, as the hyperfine Hamiltonian does not commute with the Hamiltonian giving the orbitals.

3.1.2 Scattering states and bound states

In the previous section, we described the interaction potential V(r) between two particles separated by a distance r. This potential goes from repulsive to attractive with increasing rand presents a minimum value for a distance r_{\min} . Its long-distance tail is dominated by van der Waals interactions. We also presented a method to calculate the core potential, which brings out the presence of two potential energies: a singlet potential and a triplet potential. Thanks to this knowledge, one can solve the two-body Hamiltonian Eq. (3.6). The eigenstates with energies larger than $V(+\infty)$ are called the stationary scattering states and describe collisions between the two particles. These states can be calculated with the so-called scattering theory which is extensively treated in quantum physics textbooks [106]. For an isotropic potential, binary collisions can be described by a scattering amplitude f(k) decomposed into contributions of independent scattering channels with well-defined angular momenta ℓ . Each channel is associated with a scattering amplitude $f_{\ell}(k)$, k being their relative wave vector, and can be treated independently. For ultracold atoms, the wavelength $\lambda_{\rm th}$ is typically a few hundred nanometres and is much larger than the potential range b. In this regime $\lambda_{\rm th} \sim 1/k \gg b$, and for polarized bosons, only the s-wave associated with $\ell = 0$ contributes and the collisions are well-described at first order by one parameter: the scattering length

$$a = -\lim_{k \to 0} f_0(k).$$
(3.9)

The scattering length can be determined thanks to the scattering state at the dissociation limit (E = 0), whose wave function asymptotic behaviour writes $\propto 1/r - 1/a$. Its value can be positive, negative, equal to zero or even infinite.

Since the low-energy properties of the interaction potential are characterised by a only, we can simplify the binary collision model by replacing the real potential by a much simpler regularised contact-potential as written in Sec. 1.2.1 in the 3D case:

$$\hat{V}_{\rm pp}[\psi(\boldsymbol{r})] = g\delta(\boldsymbol{r})\frac{\partial}{\partial r}[r\psi(\boldsymbol{r})], \qquad \qquad g = \frac{2\pi\hbar^2}{m_{\rm r}}a. \qquad (3.10)$$

This potential yields the same scattering length a and the same isotropic scattering amplitude f(k) at first order.

Let us now turn to the eigenstates with energies lower than $V(+\infty)$. These are *bound states* of the dimer and are the centre of this chapter. Their energies are related to the scattering properties: it can be demonstrated that the scattering amplitude f(k) diverges when evaluated for an energy equal to the energy of a bound state [63]. The energies of the bound states can then be calculated by looking at the poles of f(k). At first order and for *s*-waves only, one finds one bound state of energy

$$E = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m_{\rm r}a^2},\tag{3.11}$$

when the scattering length is positive a > 0 and no bound states for negative values of the scattering length a < 0. By construction, the pseudo-potential Eq. (3.10) gives the same result. In practice, the atomic species used in cold atoms platforms have many bound states. However, Eq. (3.11) gives a good approximation of the position of the least-bound state, for any potential, when it is close to the dissociation limit. Moreover, the scattering length a diverges when a new bound state is very close to the dissociation limit or appears, i.e. if we

modify the potential parameters (depth or position r_{\min}) until the total number of bound states is increased by one.

From a chemical point-of-view, dimers are formed thanks to the covalent bond, which only exists when there are exchange interactions at play, and thus when the electronic clouds overlap. This covalent bound is prohibited for noble gases or alkaline-earth metals whose valence layer is complete. However, the van der Waals potential enables the formation of stable weakly bound dimers and, for instance, the dimer He₂ was indirectly observed in 1994 [107]. These weakly bound states have interesting properties and, as we will see later, they are of great experimental interest, both from a spectroscopic point-of-view and for controlling interactions in cold atomic gases. Considering a realistic potential, the leastbound states are essentially localised in the range where the van der Waals interactions are dominant. In 1970, LeRoy and Bernstein [108] used a semi-classical approach [109] to show that, as long as the potential has a van der Waals tail, it is not necessary to know the repulsive short-range potential to find the energies of the least-bound states. The calculation of the bound states wave functions in the real potential show that these wave functions are "phase locked" for $r \leq R_{\rm vdW}$, i.e. they oscillate with the same spatial phase Φ . The shortrange potential effect is only to fix this spatial phase. Therefore, as long as Φ is known and/or measured, the potential can be described by a van der Waals potential with any core potential. The position of the potential minimum r_{\min} can be adjusted to set the phase Φ on the wave functions. The energies of the least-bound states in such a potential are universal and write:

$$E_j \approx -28.65(j_d - j)^3 E_{\rm vdW}, \qquad \qquad j_d \propto \Phi, \qquad (3.12)$$

where j is an integer and indicates the j-th bound state with $j < j_d$ and $E_{j-1} < E_j$. The wave function of the state at the dissociation limit $E = V(+\infty)$ appears to undergo the same spatial phase locking than the wave functions of the least-bound states. As a consequence, the scattering length a, given by the asymptotic wave function at the dissociation limit, depends also on the spatial phase Φ of the wave functions, for any potential with a van der Waals tail [110]. More precisely, a depends on Φ and on $R_{\rm vdW}$ which defines the most probable value of a: $\bar{a} \sim 0.956 R_{\rm vdW}^{-1}$. Therefore, knowing Φ allows us to calculate the scattering length and the bound states energies. In other words, once we know one element of the ensemble:

$$\{a, E_{j_{\max}}, E_{j_{\max-1}}, ...\},$$
 (3.13)

one can deduce the others. For instance, measuring the position of a single bound state is sufficient to have a good approximation of the scattering length and the position of the other least-bound states.

3.1.3 Dimers and spectroscopy of the bound states

Molecular physics is a field of research in its own right for which methods to create and observe molecules have been developed. Because of their complex internal structure, it is difficult to prepare and trap ultracold molecules. We first highlight some examples of such preparations. For instance, ultracold molecules can be prepared in magnetic traps thanks to laser ablation of solids before being cooled by elastic collisions with a cold atomic gas [111]. This method apply for paramagnetic molecules² only. Another method to trap cold molecules

¹The scattering length a writes indeed $a = \bar{a} [1 - \tan(\Phi - \pi/8)]$. The evolution of a/\bar{a} with respect with Φ shows that $a \sim \bar{a}$ for most values of Φ , making \bar{a} the most probable value of a.

²Molecules are paramagnetic when they possess unpaired electrons. When an external magnetic field is applied, the paramagnetic molecules are aligned with the magnetic field.



Figure 3.1: (a) Optical one-colour photoassociation of two atoms in their electronic ground state $|g\rangle$ to a dimer in an electronic excited state $|e\rangle$. (b) Two-colour photoassociation creating dimer in the electronic ground bound state.

is to use their electric dipole moment properties. Starting with a molecular beam (prepared in a closed valve and cooled in contact with a cold buffer-gas), the molecules are decelerated with a quasi-static inhomogeneous electric field and then trapped in a electrostatic trap [112]. The trapped molecules can be observed with fluorescence imaging (using a transition to an excited molecular state) or after being ionised.

Dimers can also be formed from cold atom physics platforms. Taking advantage of the technical progresses made on the atomic cooling schemes, cold molecules have been formed by *photoassociation* of pairs of ultracold atoms [113–116], first introduced in this context by Thorsheim et al. [117]. The first observation of cold molecules created following this method has been reported by Fioretti et al. [118]. This process associates two free atoms A and B with a photon whose energy $\hbar\omega_{\gamma}$ is equal to the energy difference between the collisional channel of A and B and a specific rovibrational state of the excited molecule AB, as shown in Fig. 3.1.a. It can be summarised as:

$$A + B + \hbar\omega_{\gamma} = AB. \tag{3.14}$$

Photoassociation has a particular interest in ultracold atoms platforms as the kinetic energy of the atoms is negligible. The kinetic energy spread is suppressed and we therefore observe narrow lines, which ensures a larger precision on the measurement of bound states energy. Moreover, the creation of the dimer results from low-temperature collisions, which are mostly limited to *s*-waves for bosonic systems. Photoassociation produces then molecules in low rotational levels. Finally, photoassociation allows to create shallow dimers for which the atoms remains at large interatomic distances. As the electronic clouds of the two atoms do not overlap, the behaviour of these so-called *long-range* molecules are expected to be well-determined by the properties of the atoms which constitute it [115]. From an experimental point of view, we define two domains for photoassociation: the optical domain for which the corresponding photoassociations imply optical transitions, and the radio-frequency (rf) and microwave (mw) domain for which photoassociation is performed on transitions whose frequencies are of the order of the megahertz and gigahertz respectively.

First photoassociations were performed in the optical domain, to create, from two atoms in their electronic ground state $|g\rangle$, dimers in an electronic excited state $|e\rangle$, as shown in Fig. 3.1.a. Optical photoassociation benefits from the large coupling strengths accessible, however, the dimers formed in electronic excited state have short lifetimes. They can spontaneously decay to an electronic ground bound state or the two atoms can separate and acquire a large kinetic energy. Sample of long-lived cold molecules can be produced by waiting for the electronically excited molecules to spontaneously decay to an electronic ground bound states. However, it is difficult to target a given final state. Two-colour photoassociation appears then to be a useful tool to target rovibrational bound states of energy below the collisional channel energy threshold, allowing for the pairing of two atoms in their electronic ground state. In this case, two laser pulses of angular frequencies ω_{γ_1} and $\omega_{\gamma_2} > \omega_{\gamma_1}$ are sent onto the atomic pair, see Fig. 3.1.b. The first one couples the pair to an electronic excited bound state, playing the role of an intermediate state. The frequency of the second pulse is set to couple the intermediate state to a bound state placed at an energy ε below the continuum. In the rf and mw regime, the transitions remain in the electronic ground state and one-photon transitions can address the different hyperfine levels of the electronic ground state. Photoassociation creates then long-lived cold molecules. However, unless the rf and/or mw fields are generated directly on atom chips, the free-bound coupling strengths are smaller than the ones achievable with optical transitions.

Finally, one can create dimers in the ground state by resonantly coupling the free atomic pair and the bound state. This is achieved with the application of an external magnetic field, for magnetic moments of the spin-state channels which are different.

Photoassociation has been performed on most of the alkali atoms [119–128]. As mentioned earlier, knowing the position of the bound states just below the dissociation limit enables the study of the properties of the potential at large distance and the corresponding scattering length [129–131]. Spectroscopy measurement could confirm the van der Waals universality discussed above in Sec. 3.1.2. Indeed, the measurement of many weakly bound state energies of the same atomic species shows that they are well-predicted by Eqs. (3.12) and (3.13). More specifically, all the measured energies match this model for a single spatial phase Φ . High-resolution two-colour photoassociation performed on ytterbium isotopes also allowed to improve this model by taking into account the contributions of the other terms of the multipolar development (see Sec. 3.1.1) [132].

3.1.4 Fano-Feshbach resonances: using weakly bound states to control interactions in ultracold gases

We have already mentioned the scattering resonances for which the scattering length diverges. We have highlighted the existence of resonances at the dissociation limit. This resonance occurs if the least-bound dimer is close to the dissociation limit. For instance, caesium in zero-magnetic field is naturally in this configuration. Its triplet scattering length has been measured at $a \sim 130$ nm and found to be 25 times the most probable value $\bar{a} \sim 5$ nm obtained from the universal van der Waals model [133]. The presence of this resonance induces atom losses due to inelastic collisions and prevents condensation under these conditions.

We will now describe another type of scattering resonances called Fano-Feshbach resonances (FFR). They were introduced by Feshbach in 1958 [134,135] and Fano in 1961 [136] for nuclear and atomic physics respectively. In the context of quantum gases, FFR were first mentioned for the hydrogen atom [137,138] before their transposition to alkaline systems was proposed in the 1990s [139,140]. They are an essential tool in the physics of ultracold gases as they allow to tune the interaction strength. Thanks to FFR, we can reach the strongly-interacting regime for which the scattering length is of the order of the distance between the



Figure 3.2: Scheme of a two channels FFR. The potential $V_1(r)$ (violet line) describes the open channel. The potential $V_2(r)$ (black line) has a bound state and represents the closed channel. The pair of atoms have initially an energy close to $V_1(+\infty) \sim 0$ here. The energy gap $E_{\rm f}$ between the bound state and the initial free state is also represented.

particles. On the other hand, they allow to reduce the interactions strength to study ideal gases. We can also reach the *unitary regime*, for which the scattering length is infinite. These resonances have been widely studied and the reader will find more complete discussions in Refs. [141, 142]. Here, we will limit ourselves to giving a phenomenological model of these resonances in order to underline the role of bound states in this process.

Fano-Feshbach resonances involve at least two channels, and we will discuss a simple model with two channels involved and represented in Fig. 3.2. We consider two cold atoms colliding with s-wave interactions. They have an initial energy close to the dissociation threshold of a potential $V_1(r)$, describing the open channel. The second channel involved is described by a potential $V_2(r)$ and is closed, i.e. the asymptotic value of its potential $V_2(+\infty)$ is much larger than the initial atoms energy $\sim V_1(+\infty)$. If the coupling between these two channels is large enough during the collision, it can modify the phase shift δ_0 associated with the open channel and thus the corresponding scattering length a. Furthermore, if the closed channel presents a bound state whose energy $E_{\rm f}$ is close to the incident energy of the atoms, dimers may be temporarily formed during the collision. The occupation of the bound state generates a rapid and considerable variation of the phase shift δ_0 and scattering length a. This variation can be scanned by tuning the energy gap between the bound state and the incident energy $E_{\rm f} - V_1 (+\infty)^3$. This can be achieved by applying an external field when the two channels have different magnetic moments. It works similarly to the magneto-association we already discussed, but now one fixes the magnetic field to obtain a given value of a. In this case, a phenomenological model is commonly used to describe the variation of the scattering length which writes:

$$a = a_{\text{bgd}} \left(1 - \frac{B_1}{B - B_0} \right).$$
 (3.16)

The background scattering length, i.e. the scattering length far from the resonance in the open channel is written a_{bgd} . The parameters B_0 and $|B_1|$ are magnetic fields representing respectively the position of the resonance and its width. The scattering length is zero for

$$E_{\rm f} + \Delta = \delta \mu (B - B_0), \tag{3.15}$$

where $\delta \mu$ is the difference between the magnetic moments of the atomic pair and the bound state.

³In practice, the resonance does not occur when the gap $E_{\rm f} - V_1(+\infty)$ is reduced to zero but for $E_{\rm f} + \Delta = V_1(+\infty)$. The energy shift Δ is a shift of the closed channel induced by the coupling between the free and the bound states. In the case of magneto-association, the coupling strength depends on the atomic species involved. The relation between the energy gap and the magnetic field writes



Figure 3.3: Observation of a Feshbach resonance in an ultracold atomic sample of sodium by scanning the magnetic field around 900 G. (a) Atom losses induced by the inelastic collisions. (b) Rapid variation of the normalised scattering length calculated from the interaction energy. The interaction energy is measured with a ballistic expansion of the gas. The solid line is the prediction of the simple model Eq. (3.16). Figure extracted from [18].

 $B = B_0 + B_1.$

The first experimental observations of FFR were performed in 1998 by two groups, at MIT [18] and at the University of Austin [19]. We illustrate this phenomenon with the results of the MIT group, shown in Fig. 3.3. They observed a FFR in a sodium Bose-Einstein condensate at a magnetic field ~ 900 G. They scanned the magnetic field around the resonance and measured the atomic losses and the interaction energy with a ballistic expansion of the gas. They deduced the scattering length from the interaction energy and showed the divergence of the latter, together with an increase of atomic losses due to inelastic collisions.

The FFR induced by magneto-association depends strongly on the atomic species since the wave functions of the incident and bound states determine the coupling strength. This limitation can be overcome by using other methods. Indeed, one can couple an atomic pair to the bound state of a closed channel with light or microwave pulses. In these cases, the coupling does not depend on the species but on the amplitude of the applied field. The energy difference $E_{\rm f} - V_1(+\infty)$ is scanned by adjusting the field frequency.

Optical FFR was first proposed by Fedichev et al. [143] and is carried out with one- or twophoton transitions [144, 145]. In the first case, it couples a pair of atoms in their electronic ground state to a closed channel where one of them is in an electronic excited state. In the second case, an electronically excited state is used as an intermediate state to couple the pair of atoms to a closed channel where the atoms are also in their electronic ground state. However, this method is limited by atom losses due to spontaneous emission in the electronic excited



Figure 3.4: Ground states of the molecular energy potential V of the ⁸⁷Rb dimers with respect with the distance R between the centre of mass of the atoms. The so-called anti-bonding orbital ${}^{3}\Sigma_{u}$ presents a negative minimum for $R \sim 11 a_{0}$. The bonding orbital ${}^{1}\Sigma_{g}$ is much deeper and presents a minimum for $R \sim 8 a_{0}$. The three entry channels of the free ⁸⁷Rb atoms in their ground state at zero-magnetic field are represented in the inset and the two upper potentials, {f = 1; f = 2} and {f = 2; f = 2}, converge adiabatically to the ${}^{3}\Sigma_{u}$ potential. This figure is extracted from [149].

state. The radio-frequency- or microwave-induced FFR, proposed by [146–148], does not suffer from this problem since it does not involve electronically excited states. For this type of FFR, because the wavelength of the field is much larger than the interaction potential range, the amplitude of the scattering length modification depends on the amplitude of the field, on one hand, and on the overlap between the incident and bound states on the other [63]. To maximise the overlap, the potentials describing the channels must be significantly different. For alkali atoms, this condition is fulfilled when they have different weights on the singlet and triplet potentials and if the singlet and triplet scattering lengths are significantly different.

3.2 Production and characterization of ⁸⁷Rb dimers

In this manuscript, our interest is focused on ⁸⁷Rb -⁸⁷Rb dimers. As an alkaline, its valence layer has only one electron in the ground state. The core layers play a minor role in the determination of the interaction potential. The situation is then very similar to the hydrogen case that we described in the previous section Sec. 3.1.1. For ⁸⁷Rb, the coupling between the electronic spin angular momentum s = 1/2 and the nucleus spin angular momentum i = 3/2 leads to a splitting of the ground state into two hyperfine levels f = 1 and f = 2. The pairs can then have three different energies associated with the channels $\{f = 1; f = 1\}$, $\{f = 1; f = 2\}$ and $\{f = 2; f = 2\}$. The total angular momentum taking integer values, the wave functions of an atomic pair must be symmetric by exchange of one electron. As for the hydrogen, we find an anti-bonding and a bonding orbital associated with a triplet and a singlet electronic spin state respectively. These potentials are written in the language of molecular spectroscopy ${}^{3}\Sigma_{u}^{+}$ and ${}^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$, expressing the properties of the electronic wave functions. The notation Σ specifies that the pair of atoms has a zero projection of the total orbital angular momentum on the diatomic axis. The indexes "g" (gerade) and "u" (ungerade) refer to the

Channel	n	Two-colour	rf
$\{f=2; f=2\}$	-1	-25.045(3)	
$\{f = 1; f = 2\}$	-1		-24.984(3)
			-26.055(5)
$\{f = 1; f = 1\}$	-1	-24.242(5)	
	-2	-636.0094(12)	

Table 3.1: Energies in MHz of the weakly bound state of ⁸⁷Rb dimers with zero orbital angular momentum, at zero-magnetic field, observed with two-colour photoassociation and rf-induced photoassociation. The values n designates the index of the rovibrational state counted from the dissociation limit. Values are extracted from [152–154] and [155] respectively.

symmetry after the inversion with respect to the center of the molecular axis and the exponent corresponds to 2S + 1. These two molecular potentials are represented in Fig. 3.4 and were characterised by Deiß et al. [150]. The so-called singlet and triplet potentials are described by a scattering length a_s and a_t respectively, as explained in Sec. 3.1.2. A numerical resolution of ⁸⁷Rb potentials parametrised with existing measurements of the least-bound states shows that they happen to have very close scattering lengths $a_s = 90.0(2) a_0$, $a_t = 98.99(2) a_0$ [151]. At large inter-atomic distance, relevant for the least-bound states, the molecular potentials do not have a well-defined singlet or triplet character. The ⁸⁷Rb singlet and triplet potentials shown in Fig. 3.4 are indeed mixed for $r > 20 a_0$. They are well-described by a van der Waals potential $V(r) = -C_6/r^6$ with $C_6 = 4635 \text{ a.u.}^4$ [62].

We introduced in a previous section the photoassociation as a useful spectroscopic tool and we present now the results of two research groups on the free-bound state transition spectra of the electronic ground state of ⁸⁷Rb. Two-color photoassociation in a ⁸⁷Rb Bose-Einstein condensate has been performed, for instance, in the group of Heinzen in Austin [152–154]. They measured some selected least-bound dimers of two hyperfine channels {f = 1; f = 1} and {f = 2; f = 2} of the electronic ground state. They observed narrow lines of width ~ 1.5 kHz which confirms the interest of performing this measurement in ultracold atomic platforms. More recently, researchers in Melbourne reported the first rf-induced observation of the ⁸⁷Rb least-bound rovibrational state, with zero orbital angular momentum, of the hyperfine channel {f = 1; f = 2} [155]. They measured two levels 24.984(3) MHz and 26.055(5) MHz below the continuum at zero-magnetic field. They also partially measured the Zeeman sub-levels diagram of this bound state. These measurements are reported in table 3.1 for a zero-magnetic field.

We complete these results using mw-induced photoassociation and propose a simple model to describe the hyperfine and Zeeman diagrams of a rovibrational bound state with zero orbital angular momentum.

3.2.1 Model for the energy levels of ⁸⁷Rb least-bound dimers

We derived a simple model to describe the hyperfine and Zeeman splitting of any ${}^{87}\text{Rb}_2$ rovibrational state with zero orbital angular momentum as long as it is weakly bound, in a sense that its binding energy must be much smaller than the hyperfine structure of an atomic pair.

These energy diagrams have already been numerically computed using coupled-channels equa-

⁴Here, a.u. stands for atomic unity and writes in SI: 1 a.u. = 9.55×10^{-80} J.m⁶.

tions [148] and quantum defect theory [147, 156, 157]. The first method consists in diagonalising the total asymptotic $(r \to +\infty)$ Hamiltonian in a basis of symmetric states before using the resulting wave functions to expand the collisions complex wave functions. Afterwards, the extended wave functions are inserted into the Schrödinger equation, leading to coupledchannels equations which yield energy of the bound states. The quantum defect theory is a faster method to obtain the free-bound resonances position. This methods relies on the van der Waals universality that we introduced before. The interactions are described by the van der Waals potential only. The short-range potential - for which the depths of and splitting between the singlet and triplet potentials are larger than the hyperfine splitting, Zeeman splitting and initial collision energy - is described by a simple parametrisation, imposing an appropriate boundary condition at short distances. This model relies then on three parameters: the singlet and triplet scattering lengths and the van der Waals potential range. The model proposed here is phenomenological and much simpler to compute.

We consider two atoms of ⁸⁷Rb, labelled 1 and 2, in their electronic ground state and characterised by their electronic and nuclear spins, $\{s_1 = 1/2, i_1 = 3/2\}$ and $\{s_2 = 1/2, i_2 = 3/2\}$. The ⁸⁷Rb electronic ground state, fully described in Sec. 2.2.1, splits into two hyperfine levels f = 1 and f = 2 of degeneracy 2f + 1. We write the Hamiltonian \hat{H} acting on atomic pairs and whose eigenvectors are bound state levels. As mentioned in Sec. 3.1.1, at low energy, two collision channels are involved and associated with a singlet potential ${}^{1}\Sigma_{g}$ and a triplet potential ${}^{3}\Sigma_{u}$. We introduce in the Hamiltonian an effective coupling between these two potentials to take into account the small difference of scattering lengths. We assume that the hyperfine channels $\{f_1; f_2\}$ are not coupled by this *singlet-triplet coupling*. Indeed, the two least-bound states are expected to be ~ 25 MHz and ~ 630 MHz below the continuum (see Tab. 3.1), so the binding energies are much lower than the hyperfine splitting ~ 6.8 GHz.

The energy diagram of an atomic pair is composed of three multiplicities according to the hyperfine levels involved. These multiplicities labelled \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are each separated by the hyperfine splitting $A_{hfs} \sim h \cdot 6.8$ GHz. The lowest-energy multiplicity \mathcal{A} describes pairs with both atoms in f = 1, multiplicity \mathcal{B} describes pairs with an atom in each hyperfine level $\{f = 1; f = 2\}$ while the highest-energy multiplicity \mathcal{C} defines pairs of two atoms in f = 2. When the interatomic distance decreases, these free pairs can form weakly bound dimers described by their total angular momentum $F = |f_1 - f_2|, ..., |f_1 + f_2|$. The hyperfine diagrams of the three multiplicities are shown in Fig. 3.5. Considering s-wave collisions only, one has to select states that are symmetric by exchange. Thus, only even values of F are retained in multiplicities \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} , while in multiplicity \mathcal{C} , F can take the values 1, 2 or 3. Again, these levels are of degeneracy 2F + 1 and, considering states symmetric by exchange only, we are left with thirty-six levels: $\{1 + 5 = 6\}$ levels in multiplicity \mathcal{A} , $\{3 + 5 + 7 = 15\}$ levels in \mathcal{B} and $\{1 + 5 + 9 = 15\}$ levels in \mathcal{C} .

We write the Hamiltonian acting on pairs of free atoms as the sum of three contributions:

$$\hat{H} = \hat{H}_{\rm hfs} + \hat{H}_{\rm Z} + \hat{H}_{\rm st}. \tag{3.17}$$

The first term, \hat{H}_{hfs} , is the hyperfine coupling between the magnetic momenta of a nucleus and its attached electron. The second one, \hat{H}_Z , is the Zeeman term accounting for magnetic coupling with a non-zero magnetic field B, while the last term is a phenomenological coupling between the singlet and the triplet states which takes into account the small differences in their scattering length. These three terms read:

$$\hat{H}_{\rm hfs} = \frac{A_{\rm hfs}}{2} \left(\hat{\boldsymbol{s}}_1 \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{i}}_1 + \hat{\boldsymbol{s}}_2 \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{i}}_2 \right), \tag{3.18}$$

$$\hat{H}_{Z} = \frac{\mu_{B}B}{\hbar} \left[g_{S}(\hat{s}_{1,z} + \hat{s}_{2,z}) + g_{I}(\hat{i}_{1,z} + \hat{i}_{2,z}) \right], \qquad (3.19)$$

$$\hat{H}_{\rm st} = A_{\rm st} \hat{s}_1 \cdot \hat{s}_2 = \frac{A_{\rm st}}{2} \left(\hat{S}^2 - \frac{3}{2} \right), \tag{3.20}$$

where $A_{\rm hfs}$ and $A_{\rm st}$ are the hyperfine coupling strength and the singlet-triplet coupling strength respectively. The latter, $A_{\rm st}$, may *a priori* be different for each multiplicity. The singlet-triplet coupling Eq. (3.20) is treated as a perturbation within a single multiplicity as $A_{\rm st} \ll A_{\rm hfs}$. We write the state of the free pair of atoms 1 and 2 in the decoupled basis:

$$|\sigma_1, \iota_1; \sigma_2, \iota_2\rangle \equiv |s_1 = 1/2, \sigma_1, i_1 = 3/2, \iota_1; s_2 = 1/2, \sigma_2, i_2 = 3/2, \iota_2\rangle.$$
(3.21)

The projections on the quantization axis z of the electronic spin angular momentum s = 1/2and the nucleic spin angular momentum i = 3/2 are written $\sigma = \pm 1/2$ and $\iota = \pm 1/2, \pm 3/2$. We use all the 64 atomic pairs $|f_1, m_{f_1}; f_2, m_{f_2}\rangle = |f_1, m_{f_1}\rangle \otimes |f_2, m_{f_2}\rangle$ to diagonalise the Hamiltonian \hat{H} and select afterwards the thirty-six states symmetric by exchange. The hyperfine levels are given in this basis in appendix A.

Hyperfine diagram At zero-magnetic field, the Hamiltonian reads $\hat{H} = \hat{H}_{hfs} + \hat{H}_{st}$. As we already mentioned, the hyperfine term \hat{H}_{hfs} gives three energy multiplicities, each separated by $A_{hfs} \sim h \cdot 6.8 \,\text{GHz}$. The two terms commute with \hat{F} so F is an appropriate quantum number. The singlet-triplet coupling, treated as a perturbation within a multiplicity, leads to the following lift of degeneracy:

- in multiplicity \mathcal{A} : the levels F = 0 and F = 2 are respectively shifted by $-A_{\rm st}^{(\mathcal{A})}/8$ and $A_{\rm st}^{(\mathcal{A})}/16$.
- in multiplicity \mathcal{B} , one finds the levels F = 1 and F = 3 to be pure electronic spin-triplet shifted by $A_{\text{st}}^{(\mathcal{B})}/4$. The level F = 2 is lowered by $-A_{\text{st}}^{(\mathcal{B})}/8$.
- in multiplicity C: the levels F = 0, F = 2 and F = 4 are respectively shifted by $-3A_{\rm st}^{(C)}/8$, $-3A_{\rm st}^{(C)}/16$ and $A_{\rm st}^{(C)}/4$. The level F = 4 is a pure electronic spin-triplet.

We defined a singlet-triplet coupling strength $A_{\rm st}$ per multiplicities as they may differ from one another. Note that in our computation, we consider them equal. The energy diagram at zero magnetic field is presented in Fig. 3.5.a.

Zeeman diagam If we now apply an external magnetic field B, the levels split into 2F + 1Zeeman sub-levels. By adding the Zeeman term Eq. (3.19) to the Hamiltonian, F is no longer an appropriate quantum number, but its projection on the quantization axis m_F remains a good quantum number to describe the sub-levels. As \hat{H}_Z is linear in \hat{S}_z and \hat{I}_z it cannot couple two sub-spaces such as $\Delta F \geq 2$. Thus, in multiplicities \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} the hyperfine levels are not coupled together and consequently, the Zeeman sub-levels are linear with B. However, in the multiplicity \mathcal{B} we observe a less trivial behaviour.

In all the multiplicities, we could identify at least one state whose energy is independent of the magnetic field. For the multiplicities \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} , there are two and three magnetic-insensitive states, which is a direct consequence of the fact that the Zeeman coupling induces linear



Figure 3.5: (a) Hyperfine diagram scheme. (b) Zeeman diagram of a rovibrational weakly bound state numerically calculated from the simple model Eq. (3.17). We fix the hyperfine splitting constant to $A_{\rm hfs} = h \cdot 6.834\,682\,{\rm GHz}$, measured on the clock transition $|f = 1, m_f =$ $0 \rangle \rightarrow |f = 2, m_f = 0 \rangle$ on our setup. The singlet-triplet coupling is set to $3A_{\rm st}/8 = h \cdot 1\,{\rm MHz}$ to be consistent with the splitting measured for the least-bound state of the multiplicity \mathcal{B} , labelled n = -1 in Tab. 3.1, $3A_{\rm st}/8 = h \cdot 1.074(5)\,{\rm MHz}$ [155]. Note that, in practice, there is no guarantee that the three multiplicities experience the same singlet-triplet coupling. Moreover, the weakly bound states that are lower in energy, n < -1, are expected to have larger couplings $A_{\rm st}^5$. The blue lines represent the magnetic-insensitive levels. The three frames have a same vertical scale and their height is 10 MHz.

variations with *B* for these multiplicities. In the last multiplicity, \mathcal{B} , we found one magneticinsensitive state. This state, called $|\Psi_0\rangle$, will be of particular interest in our experimental exploration. It is a pure electronic spin-triplet and writes in the decoupled basis:

$$|\Psi_0\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left[|1/2, 1/2; -1/2 - 1/2\rangle + |-1/2, -1/2; 1/21/2\rangle \right].$$
(3.22)

Its total angular momentum F is not well-defined as it is a combination of the F = 1 and F = 3 levels, written in the coupled basis:

$$|\Psi_0\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{3}{5}}|F=3, m_F=0\rangle - \sqrt{\frac{2}{5}}|F=1, m_F=0\rangle.$$
 (3.23)

In conclusion, this perturbative model suits well the case of ⁸⁷Rb atoms as the singlet and triplet potentials have similar scattering lengths. It provides the hyperfine and Zeeman energy diagram of a weakly bound rovibrational state with zero orbital angular momentum with two free parameters: an offset energy level E_0 and a singlet-triplet parameter $A_{\rm st}$. Note that this model relies only on internal variables and says nothing about the radial part of the dimer wave functions. We assumed that an approximate characterisation of the radial part is provided by the scattering lengths associated with the atomic hyperfine channels: a_{11} , a_{12} and a_{22} .

What happens if we want to model strongly bound states? As the binding energy becomes larger, the bound state may be too deep in the potential and the assumption $A_{\rm st} \ll A_{\rm hfs}$ is no longer valid. The singlet-triplet coupling cannot be treated as a perturbation.

We present in the following sections our work on the study of weakly bound dimers. Thanks to our high-resolution mw spectroscopic tool, we photoassociate free pairs of atoms to the two least-bound states n = -1, -2 of the multiplicity \mathcal{B} . Using the internal degree of freedom of the atoms, we were able to measure the fifteen Zeeman sub-levels of the least-bound rovibrational state n = -1 and provide an accurate estimate of E_0 and $A_{st}^{(\mathcal{B})}$ by comparing our result with the simple model we have developed above. Note that, as we work on a single multiplicity, we diagonalize the singlet-triplet coupling over the whole ensemble of states and then restrict the energies to the multiplicity \mathcal{B} . Moreover, this allows to take into account the Zeeman quadratic effect which couples the different multiplicities.

3.2.2 Microwave-induced photoassociation spectroscopy of the ⁸⁷Rb least bound dimers

The energy levels of a free pair of ⁸⁷Rb atoms in their electronic ground state is composed of three multiplicities, introduced in the previous section, separated by the hyperfine splitting $A_{\rm hfs} \sim 6.8 \,\rm GHz$. Microwave single-photon transitions can then address lines with $\Delta m_F = 0, \pm 1$ connecting different multiplicities:

$$\{f = 1; f = 1\} \{f = 2; f = 2\} \} \leftrightarrow \{f = 1; f = 2\}.$$

$$(3.24)$$

In practice, the short lifetime of atoms in the hyperfine level $f = 2, \tau \sim 100 \text{ ms}$, makes it difficult to search for bound states from free pairs other than $\{f = 1; f = 1\}$. We then mostly limit ourselves to the transitions $\{f = 1; f = 1\} \rightarrow \{f = 1; f = 2\}$ and thus to the spectroscopy of the multiplicity \mathcal{B} .

Microwave-induced photoassociation We write the magnetic field created by the electromagnetic wave of frequency $\nu = \omega/2\pi$:

$$\boldsymbol{B}_{\omega}(t) = \frac{B_{\omega}}{2}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}\exp(-i\omega t) + c.c. \qquad (3.25)$$

and introduce the real amplitude B_{ω} of the field and the complex unit vector $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = (\varepsilon_+, \varepsilon_-, \varepsilon_0)$ characterising the orientation of the field for a given quantization axis. This quantization

⁵A list of the predicted bound states of the ⁸⁷Rb potential has been given in Wynar thesis (page 171) [153]. Using these results we find, for n = -1: $A_{\text{st}}^{(\mathcal{A})} = h \cdot 4.8 \text{ MHz}$, for n = -2: $A_{\text{st}}^{(\mathcal{A})} = h \cdot 42.7 \text{ MHz}$, for n = -3: $A_{\text{st}}^{(\mathcal{A})} = h \cdot 133 \text{ MHz}$, for n = -4: $A_{\text{st}}^{(\mathcal{B})} = h \cdot 165 \text{ MHz}$ and for n = -5: $A_{\text{st}}^{(\mathcal{C})} = 1102 \text{ MHz}$.



Figure 3.6: Relevant levels for atom pairs in the hyperfine sub-levels f = 1 and f = 2 of ⁸⁷Rb. The dissociation limits of molecular state manifolds, represented by dashed lines, are separated by $h \cdot 6.8$ GHz. The molecular potentials are represented by thick continuous lines, together with the values of the total angular momentum F of the dimers. The mw transitions (violet arrows) address the least-bound rovivrational levels n = -1 and n = -2 of the $\{f = 1; f = 2\}$ branch respectively, with zero orbital angular momentum, from the free pair level $|f = 1; f = 1\rangle$.

axis is set by the direction of the external static magnetic field B, whose amplitude and direction are tunable. For most of the experiments we performed, the static magnetic field is vertical. We use two mw chains and antennas, described in Sec. 2.2.6, to address free-bound transitions of polarisation σ^- , π and σ^+ . The two antennas have different field amplitudes and orientations. We characterise the amplitude of the field for a given polarisation \mathcal{P} by the quantity $B^{\mathcal{P}}_{\omega} = |B_{\omega} \varepsilon_{\mathcal{P}}|$. The amplitudes of the two antennas for the three polarisations with a vertical magnetic field are given in Tab. 3.2.

mw chain	σ^{-}	π	σ^+
RS1	2	8	12
RS2	8	31	4

Table 3.2: Amplitude $B_{\omega}^{\mathcal{P}}$ in mG of the microwave field shined by the two antennas, labelled RS1 and RS2, for the different transition polarisations \mathcal{P} and a vertical external static magnetic field B, when using the 10 W (RS1) and the 50 W (RS2) amplifiers at full power.

We photoassociate two atoms in the hyperfine level f = 1 to the least-bound states of the multiplicity \mathcal{B} , as shown in Fig. 3.6. We shine a mw field on a uniform quasi-2D atomic sample of tunable surface density $n_{\rm a}$ and vertical thickness $\ell_z = 180(2)$ nm. The in-plane profile of the sample is shaped as a flat disk of radius $r = 20 \,\mu\text{m}$ and is shown in Fig. 3.7.a. We set the temperature to be the lowest achievable in our platform $T \leq 20 \,\text{nK}$. The initial kinetic energy of the atoms is then negligible and collisions occur in the *s*-wave. When the frequency of the mw field shined on the atoms is resonant with a free-bound transition, we observe atom losses due to the creation of dimers. After the mw excitation, we partially transfer the atoms into the hyperfine level f = 2 with a resonant mw pulse. We measure the optical density (OD) in f = 2 and calculate the surface density $n_{\rm a}(\nu)$ of the atoms in the f = 1 hyperfine level from this measurement. Since we create dimers from the association of two atoms, we expect the density $n_{\rm a}$ to undergo two-body losses and its evolution in time to follow:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_{\mathrm{a}}}{\mathrm{d}t} = -\beta n_{\mathrm{a}}^2,\tag{3.26}$$

where β is the time-independent loss coefficient⁶. We consider durations δt of the mw excitations short-enough to induce small depletions of the atomic cloud. The excitation strength is low enough so that we do not observe coherent oscillations between the atomic and the molecular state, as was observed with Strontium atoms [159]. The photoassociation signal is thus described thanks to a Fermi golden rule. We define the depletion of the surface density $\delta n_a/n_a = (n_a(\nu) - n_a)/n_a$ as a more convenient observable to quantify the atomic losses, which are expected to scale as:

$$\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a} \propto -\beta n_{\rm a} \delta t.$$
 (3.27)

The least-bound rovibrational state of the multiplicity \mathcal{B} We now detail the spectroscopy of the least-bound rovibrational state n = -1 that we performed with mw-induced photoassociation, which is represented in Fig. 3.6.

By starting from an atomic sample prepared in the Zeeman sub-level $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$, to benefit from its long lifetime $\tau \sim 10$ s and its magnetic-field-insensitivity, we can address the levels of a bound state with a total angular momentum projection $m_F = 0, \pm 1$. The energy diagram of the multiplicity \mathcal{B} , calculated with our simple model, is shown in Fig. 3.5.b. There are nine lines out of the fifteen corresponding to these m_F , three for each value. We measured the positions of three of them, with $m_F = 0, \pm 1$, by shining a mw field during ≤ 1 s. A typical signal of dimer creation by photoassociation is shown in Fig. 3.7.b. The losses are fitted with a Lorentzian function written:

$$n_{\rm a}(\nu) = n_{\rm a} \left[1 + \frac{\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a}}{1 + \left[2(\nu - \nu_{\rm m})/\Gamma \right]^2} \right], \tag{3.28}$$

with four free parameters: the surface density off resonance $n_{\rm a}$, the depletion $\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a}$, the full width at the half maximum depletion Γ and the frequency $\nu_{\rm m}$ for which the depletion is maximal. The dimer energy from the initial state energy is then set by $h \cdot \nu_{\rm m}$. We varied the static magnetic field amplitude from $\sim 0.75 \,\mathrm{G}$ to $\sim 1.75 \,\mathrm{G}$ and measured the Zeeman shift of the three lines, as shown in Fig. 3.7.c. We observed depletions $\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a}$ lower than $\lesssim 15 \,\%$ and width lower than $\lesssim 2 \,\mathrm{kHz}$. The individual data of the lines are presented in appendix A.

Among these three lines, we observed the magnetic-insensitive bound state $|\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ we introduced earlier in Sec. 3.2.1. As its total angular momentum projection is zero $m_F = 0$, we address this line with a transition of polarisation π , for which our microwave intensity is maximum, see Tab. 3.2. For an initial density $n_a = 75 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$ of atoms in $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$, a mw excitation of 115 ms creates a depletion of 14% in the sample. The width of the line is always smaller than 1 kHz and, as there is no magnetic broadening of the line at first order, it can give an indication of the lifetime of the dimer. This specific state $|\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ and properties will be the centre of next chapter.

The three lines measured from $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$ are sufficient to compare the model derived in Sec. 3.2.1 with our experimental measurement, as a first approximation. We fit the model to our data using a least-squares method and two free parameters: the spin-triplet energy at $B = 0, E_0$, and the singlet-triplet coupling A_{st} . The model matches our three lines with

⁶This two-atom pictures stands for many-body systems if the loss coefficient is large enough [158].



Figure 3.7: (a) Homogeneous atomic sample (bar length: $10 \,\mu\text{m}$). (b) Typical microwave photoassociation signal. The atoms are initially prepared in $|1,0\rangle$ and shined by a mw field of frequency ν . The depletion, maximal at $\nu = \nu_{\rm m}$, indicates the creation of dimers. The solid line is a fit to the data, using Eq. (3.28). (c) Energy diagram of the multiplicity \mathcal{B} showing the three lines measured from $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$ (blue points) and the fitted model (solid lines). The corresponding total angular momentum projection is indicated on the right. The red line indicates the magnetic-insensitive state $|\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ and the grey lines are forbidden from $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$ by the electronic selection rules.

N	1	3	4	5	9	10	11	14	15
m_F	-1	0	1	-1	0	-1	1	0	1
Ω/Ω_0	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.21	1	< 0.05	0.34	< 0.05	< 0.05

Table 3.3: Total angular momentum projection m_F of the nine lines allowed by the selection rules if starting from a sample in $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$ and their relative coupling Ω/Ω_0 to $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$ for a vertical magnetic field. We attribute to each level of the multiplicity \mathcal{B} a number (N) standing for its position in the energy scale at large magnetic field $(B \sim 2 \text{ G})$, N = 1 being the lowest in energy. The three coloured columns correspond to the transitions we observed. We chose the mw antenna maximising Ω/Ω_0 for each individual line. The values given in this table are computed with B = 2 G. In practice, Ω/Ω_0 is magnetic field dependent but changes for only a few percent over the range of magnetic field we explored.

 $E_0 = h \cdot -24.985(3)$ MHz and $A_{st} = h \cdot 2.875(11)$ MHz and is shown in Fig. 3.7.c with the experimental points. The energy of a pair of atoms in $|f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$ at B = 0 defines the zero of energy and the errors are computed with a bootstrap analysis.

Once we have a first fit of the experimental values, we can determine what are the other accessible states and their energies. The diagonalisation of the Hamiltonian Eq. (3.17), in addition to giving the dimers energies, gives the angular part of their eigenstates. Using the calibration of the mw field tomography, we can compute the matrix \hat{W} coupling a pair of atoms to a molecular level of the multiplicity \mathcal{B} . The coupling of the microwave field to the electronic degree of freedom of a pair of atoms of ⁸⁷Rb in the electronic ground state (L = 0) writes:

$$\hat{W} = \frac{\mu_B g_s}{\hbar} \hat{\boldsymbol{S}} \cdot \boldsymbol{B}_{\omega}(t).$$
(3.29)

The matrix elements $\langle \text{final} | \hat{W} | \text{initial} \rangle = \hbar \Omega$ do not give a complete information about the overlap of the states as we do not have any information on the radial part of the initial state $|\text{initial} \rangle$ and final state $|\text{final} \rangle$. However, their relative values can still be useful to predict the strength of the lines. The transition $|f = 1, m_f = 0; f = 1, m_f = 0 \rangle \rightarrow |\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ has the strongest coupling Ω_0 , so we define for each line a relative coupling strength Ω/Ω_0 . The relative values can be apprecised as the strongest coupling Ω_0 and Ω/Ω_0 .



Figure 3.8: (a) Microtraps used for microwave spectroscopy with binary mixtures (bar length: 10 µm). (b) Typical photoassociation signal when the initial state is a binary mixture prepared in a homogeneous potential (violet squares) and in microtraps (black diamonds). We photoassociate a pair of atoms $|f = 1, m_f = -1; f = 1, m_f = +1\rangle$ to a dimer with $m_F = 0$. The depletions is 7% in a uniform disk and 23% in microtraps. The shift of the line centre comes from the difference of density in the homogeneous cloud and the microtraps, and will be explained in the next chapter. The mw excitation duration is 5 s and we image only the component $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle$. (c) We verify that the centre and width of the line are the same while imaging the other component $|f = 1, m_f = +1\rangle$ (blue points) in microtraps.

tive coupling elements between a pair of atoms in $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$ and the nine lines allowed by the selection rules are given in Tab. 3.3. The coupling with the six unobserved lines are at least five times smaller than the coupling to the lines we measured. It therefore appears that we cannot photoassociate these dimers with the setup described above. In order to confirm this statement, we scanned the mw frequency around the predicted frequency of an allowed transition of smaller coupling. Since we do not observe the bound state, we can set a lower limit on the coupling elements enabling the observation of dimers with our experiment⁷. Once this lower limit is known, one can find which initial state in the hyperfine level f = 1has the highest coupling to which dimer. In practice, we can prepare each pure state or binary mixture in the f = 1 manifold with a sequence of mw pulses. It is more convenient to prepare pure states as this reduces the number of mw pulses and ensures better stability. Moreover, in mixtures, the atoms have different magnetic moments so the two components can spatially separate in the presence of a residual magnetic field gradient. As the overlap of the components diminishes, the probability to photoassociate the atoms to a bound state strongly decreases. We therefore privileged pure initial states while searching for the remaining bound state levels. However, some of them can be addressed from mixtures only. In this case, we prepared the atomic sample in an array of microtraps of size $\sim 5 \,\mu\text{m}$, to prevent phase separation. An in-situ image of such preparation is shown in Fig. 3.8, as well as a photoassociation signal from a mixture state with and without microtraps. We see clearly that the microtraps preparation allows us to observe signals with larger amplitudes as the depletion is increased from $\sim 5\%$ to $\sim 20\%$. Indeed, the density in each microtrap is larger and the two components overlap. We also imaged both components to check that the depletion and the line centre are the same, the lines do indeed overlap and are shown in Fig. 3.8.c.

Finally, we could detect the fifteen Zeeman sub-levels of the least bound state n = -1 as a function of the magnetic field amplitude. The error on the resonance frequency $\nu_{\rm m}$ is always $\lesssim 1 \,\rm kHz$. The simple model we derived allowed us to predict the position of these sub-levels from the measurement of a few lines. We could fit our data and adjust the prediction after

⁷By combining all our photoassociation measurement, it appears that our limit is given by $\Omega/\Omega_0 \sim 0.16$.

each new measurement. The tomography of our two mw fields allowed us to find the best initial state and mw antenna to photoassociate each level.

The full Zeeman diagram of the multiplicity \mathcal{B} is shown in Fig. 3.9. The fit of the model to our complete data set gives the position of the triplet at $E_0 = -24.985(1)$ MHz from the continuum of $|f = 1, m_f = 0; f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$ at B = 0. The singlet-triplet coupling is $A_{\rm st} = h \cdot 2.875(5)$ MHz so the energy splitting between the F = 1, 3 and F = 2 manifolds at B = 0 is $3A_{\rm st}/8 = h \cdot 1.078(2)$ MHz. These results are in good agreement with the measurement of Mordovin [155], given in Tab. 3.1. We define the distance between our experimental results and the best fitted diagram as:

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N_{\text{points}}} \sum_{i} \left(\nu_{\text{m},i} - \nu_{i}^{\text{(fit)}}\right)^{2}},\tag{3.30}$$

where $\nu_{m,i}$ is the measured resonance frequency, $\nu_i^{(\text{fit})}$ the resonance frequency from the fit and N_{points} is the total number of experimental points. We obtain $\sigma = 3.7 \text{ kHz}$. The distribution of distances between the measured values and the fit is shown in Fig. 3.10 for each individual value of the magnetic field and the global diagram. We give in appendix A the experimental parameters used for the measurement of each level and the experimental points together with their distance from fit.

The second-least-bound rovibrational state of multiplicity \mathcal{B} We also scanned our mw frequency further below the free pair energy of $|f = 1; f = 2\rangle$ to find the second-least-bound rovibrational state, labelled n = -2. Similarly, we prepare the atomic sample in the hyperfine level f = 1 and the corresponding transition is also represented in Fig. 3.6.

The rovibrational state n = -2 with zero orbital angular momentum of the multiplicity \mathcal{A} was observed by Wynar & Freeland et al. [152] and its position is reported in Tab. 3.1. As the scattering length in the hyperfine levels f = 1 and f = 2 are very close $\sim 100 a_0$, the position of this bound state in \mathcal{A} gave us a good approximation of the position of the similar bound state in \mathcal{B} .

We were able to measure one Zeeman sub-level of the n = -2 bound state. We prepared a uniform cloud of atoms in the state $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$ and photoassociated atom pairs to the magnetic-insensitive level $|\Psi_0^{(n=-2)}\rangle$. We used the mw chain RS2, which has the largest field intensity for π -transitions, and whose amplifier has a large bandwidth. We observed atom losses, signature of the photoassociation, -642.219(1) MHz below the continuum of $|f = 1; f = 2\rangle$. The overlap between the bound and free states is much smaller than for the n = -1 rovibrational state: the duration of the mw excitation was set to t = 10 s to observe a depletion in the atomic sample of $\delta n_a/n_a \sim 15\%$. The amplifier power was set to 0.76 times its maximum and this duration is the longest it can stand without undergoing thermal problems. As already mentioned, the coupling strength Ω_0 indicates that this line is the strongest for our setup. Taking into account the line broadening due to the difference of magnetic moment of the free and bound states, we concluded that it was impossible with our experiment to measure the other Zeeman sub-levels. However, as we were able to observe the magnetic-insensitive one, which has a narrow linewidth, we can compare its properties to the n = -1 magnetic-insensitive level. This will be presented in the next chapter.

Comparison to universal models In the first section of this chapter, we discussed the universality of the bound states energy. The ⁸⁷Rb least-bound state is not close enough to the dissociation threshold (i.e. the scattering length is not large enough) for the universal

relation Eq. (3.11):

$$E = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m_{\rm r}a^2} \tag{3.31}$$

to give a good approximation of its energy. Indeed, the latter expression predicts the leastbound state to have an energy of $\sim -h \cdot 4$ MHz, where we measured $\sim -h \cdot 25$ MHz. We also described the van der Waals universality: if the interatomic potential has many bound states and is well-described by a van der Waals potential at large-distance, then the least-bound states energies are given by Eq. (3.12):

$$E_j \approx -28.65(j_d - j)^3 E_{\rm vdW}.$$
 (3.32)

The integer j indicates the j-th bound state with $E_{j-1} < E_j$. In practice, j_d is not an integer but its integer part, $E[j_d]$, gives the total number of bound states. Using these notations, the energies of the two least-bound states n = -1 and n = -2 correspond to $j = E[j_d]$ and $j = E[j_d] - 1$ respectively and they write:

$$E_{(n)} = -28.65 \left[j_d - \mathrm{E} [j_d] - (n+1) \right]^3 E_{\mathrm{vdW}}.$$
(3.33)

Using the value of $C_6 = 4635$ a.u. and the energies of the two least-bound states $E_{(n=-1)} = h \cdot 24.985$ MHz and $E_{(n=-2)} = h \cdot 642.219$ MHz, we find:

$$E_{(n=-1)} \longrightarrow j_d - \mathbb{E}[j_d] = 0.522, \qquad (3.34)$$

$$E_{(n=-2)} \longrightarrow j_d - E[j_d] = 0.540.$$
 (3.35)

The two values of $j_d - E[j_d]$ are close but not equal. This mismatch is explained by the fact that the van der Waals model relies only on the first term of the multipolar expansion of the electromagnetic interactions between the two atoms, as mentioned in Sec. 3.1.1. The discrepancy between the two values should vanish by taking into account the effect of the other terms of the expansion. If we take the average value $j_d - E[j_d] \approx 0.531$, we find two energies distant by ~ 1 MHz and ~ 11 MHz from the energies $E_{(n=-1)}$ and $E_{(n=-2)}$ respectively.



Figure 3.9: Zeeman diagram of the least bound state of the ⁸⁷Rb {f = 1; f = 2} manifold. The different color of the experimental points represent the initial atomic state from which photoassociation is performed. It could be either a pure sample of atoms in $|f = 1, m_f =$ $0, \pm 1$ (monochrome points) or a binary mixture of two of these hyperfine states (bi-chrome points). The value of the projection of the total angular momentum m_F is shown on the right of each level. Solid lines are a fit with the phenomenological model with only two free parameters: the energy of the triplet at B = 0, E_0 , and the splitting between the F = 1, 3and the F = 2 manifold at B = 0.



Figure 3.10: (a)-(e) Histograms of the distance between the experimental points and the fit for individual values of the magnetic field: 0.75 G, 1 G, 1.25 G, 1.5 G and 1.75 G. (f) Histograms of the distance between the experimental points and the fit for all the magnetic field values probed. The histograms are normalised and the bar width is fixed to 1.5 kHz.

3.3 Conclusion

In this chapter, we first introduced the interaction potential. We derived of the interaction potential for the simplest atom pair: H_2 . We then briefly discussed its extension to alkali atoms. The calculation of these potentials shows the existence of two channels: a singlet potential and a triplet potential. In the case of ultracold gases, the relevant eigenstates are described by a few numbers: the scattering length a, which fully describes the collisions, and the range $R_{\rm vdW}$ of the van der Waals potential, dominant at large interatomic distance, which defines the weakly bound dimers relative energies. This allows us to simplify the expression of the interaction potential. Remarkably, the so-called van der Waals universality emphasises that these numbers, i.e the scattering length and the positions of the weakly bound states, define an ensemble which can be known from the measurement of one of its elements. This property motivates the study of the energy positions of the least-bound states of the atomic species, as they provide information on their interaction potentials and scattering properties. We described therefore an experimental method to study the spectroscopy of bound states: the photoassociation. Originally introduced with optical excitations to photoassociate atoms with excited or ground state molecules, radio-frequency- and microwave-induced photoassociation is also used to study ground state molecules. We also briefly discussed the role of the least-bound states in scattering resonances, such as Fano-Feshbach resonances.

We performed high-resolution mw-induced photoassociation in the electronic ground state of ⁸⁷Rb. We photoassociate pairs of atoms initially in the hyperfine level f = 1 to dimers with one atom in f = 1 and the other in f = 2 and with zero orbital angular momentum. We measured the complete Zeeman diagram of the least-bound rovibrational state and one Zeeman sub-level of the second-least-bound rovibrational state. We introduced a phenomenological model to describe a rovibrational state and its hyperfine and Zeeman diagram. This model is then fitted to our data with two free parameters: an energy offset and a coupling between the singlet and triplet potentials. It reproduces well our measurement and can be used to predict the positions of the Zeeman sub-levels, based on the knowledge of some of them.

4

High-precision photoassociation and measurement of the atom-dimer interaction

In a sample hosting isolated atoms and dimers at very low temperature, binary interactions between atoms and dimers are described as s-wave interactions and are associated with an atom-dimer scattering length a_{ad} . The existence of a universal relation between atomatom and atom-dimer scattering lengths in bosonic systems remains an open question. For fermionic systems close to the unitary regime, however, the scattering length a is sufficient to calculate the atom-dimer scattering length a_{ad} . The three-body fermionic system has been studied for homo- and heteronuclear Fermi-Fermi mixtures [160–164] or Bose-Fermi mixtures [165–167] and the atom-dimer scattering length has been shown to depend on a and the mass balance. Effects of confinement on a_{ad} were also studied [168, 169]. Furthermore, the dimer-dimer scattering length a_{dd} is also determined by the scattering length a [170, 171].

In the case of bosonic systems, many works have focused on the vicinity of a scattering resonance $|a| \rightarrow +\infty$. This regime is of particular interest to study the Efimov effect [24] which predicts the presence of an infinite number of three-body bound states, or trimers, whose energy levels follow a geometric scaling determined by a *three-body parameter*. The atom-dimer scattering length $a_{\rm ad}$ is indeed of particular interest to look for Efimov trimers and parameters, as an atom-dimer scattering resonance is expected when a trimer merges into the two-body continuum. First studied in the case of ⁴He [172, 173] and subsequently generalised to other species [174–176], $a_{\rm ad}$ depends on a and the three-body parameter in this regime and for low-energy collisions.

The existence of a van der Waals universal relation between a and $a_{\rm ad}$, i.e. a relation that does not require knowledge of the core potential, was discussed by Giannakeas & Greene [177]. They computed the atom-dimer scattering length for two separable potentials: a pure van der Waals potential, with then an infinity of bound states, and a van der Waals potential with a soft-core and of tunable number of bound states b. The authors showed that the atom-dimer scattering length computed with the soft-core potential converges to the one computed with the van der Waals potential for $b \gtrsim 5$. A similar work was performed by Mestrom et al. using adiabatic hyperspherical representation and binary collisions described by a Lennard-Jones potential ($V(r) = C_{12}/r^{12} - C_6/r^6$) [178].

Experimental characterisation of atom-dimer interactions are mostly performed by measuring the inelastic losses in atom-dimer mixtures [179–189]. Atom-exchange reactions $A_2 + B \rightarrow$ A + AB have also been observed [190–193]. Atom-dimer line shifts and broadening as a function of the scattering length *a* have also been observed with light-heavy fermion dimers in a bath of heavy fermions. The computation of the atom-dimer scattering amplitude in such systems showed the important role of *p*-waves in the scattering process [194]. More recently,
elastic collisions have also been studied for sympathetic cooling of molecules [195].

In this chapter, we describe features of interactions between atoms and dimers created by mw-induced photoassociation and present a hight-precision measurement of the associated atom-dimer scattering length a_{ad} . The photoassociation spectroscopy of the two least-bound rovibrational states (n = -1, -2) of ⁸⁷Rb, pairing an atom in the hyperfine level f = 1 with another in f = 2, showed the existence of a Zeeman sub-level magnetic-insensitive at first order, labelled $|\Psi_0^{(n)}\rangle$. While working at near zero temperature already eliminates the broadening of the line due to the kinetic energy distribution, the magnetic field insensitivity of this state further reduces the width of this line by eliminating the broadening due to magnetic fluctuations. This state is then of particular interest to perform high-precision measurement of its energy displacement with respect to the atomic bath characteristics for instance. In the first section, we characterise the magnetic-insensitive lines $M_{|n|}$: $|f = 1, m_f = 0; f =$ $1, m_f = 0 \rangle \rightarrow |\Psi_0^{(n)}\rangle$. We observe a density-dependence of these lines that we attribute to atom-dimer interactions and from which we deduce, in the second section, the atom-dimer

atom-dimer interactions and from which we deduce, in the second section, the atom-dimer scattering length a_{ad} . Finally, we briefly discuss the possibility of observing mw-induced Feshbach resonances.

4.1 High-precision photoassociation spectroscopy

We detail, in this section, the measurement of the frequency shift of the lines M_1 and M_2 with the density and their typical width. We deduce from these measurements the lifetime and creation rate of the molecules. Taking advantage of the narrow linewidths of these transitions, we also characterise the photoassociation signal and its scaling with the probed experimental parameters.

4.1.1 Creation rate of the dimers

As described in Sec. 3.2.2, we perform photoassociation and observe the creation of molecules through the atomic losses. In order to characterise the creation rate of the dimers, let us distinguish the different loss mechanisms at play.

First, considering an assembly of free atoms in the hyperfine level f = 1, there exist two loss mechanisms: three-body recombinations and one-body losses due to background collisions. These loss mechanisms are well-known and were studied by Burt et al. [196]. If we now consider an atomic cloud of free atoms in the hyperfine level f = 2, they undergo as well losses due to three-body recombinations [197] and background collisions but, in addition, they experience hyperfine-changing two-body collisions. These two-body collisions are induced by dipole-dipole interactions and involve hyperfine transitions $|f = 2\rangle \rightarrow |f = 1\rangle$. The collision partners are then lost due to the release of the kinetic energy $\sim h \cdot 6.8$ GHz in the process. We now come back to the case where we create dimers by pairing one atom in f = 1 with another in f = 2 from an initial cloud of free atoms in f = 1. Once the dimer is created, the two paired atoms are not detected anymore by our imaging and the dimer can decay via inelastic collisions with free atoms or undergo hyperfine relaxation following the same process described for atoms in f = 2. Therefore, the loss of free atoms in the initial state due to the creation of dimers scale as two-body losses.

Here, we aim at characterising the losses due to the creation of dimers only. We then study the atom losses in the state $|1\rangle \equiv |f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle$ with and without photoassociation. Atoms in $|1\rangle$ with low density n_a mostly experience background collisions scaling as one-body



Figure 4.1: Atom losses in state $|1\rangle$ (black squares (a)-(b)) are well-described by one-body losses (solid black lines) at low densities. In the presence of a mw field resonant with the line to n = -1 (a) and n = -2 (b), the creation of dimers induces two-body losses (violet points) adjusted with Eq. (4.2) (solid violet lines).

losses. The evolution of the surface density in time is then written - excluding the creation of dimers:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_{\rm a}}{\mathrm{d}t} = -\frac{1}{\tau}n_{\rm a}, \qquad n_{\rm a}(t) = n_{\rm a}(0)\exp(-t/\tau), \qquad (4.1)$$

where τ is the characteristic lifetime of the atoms. Equivalently, the evolution of the surface density $n_{\rm a}$ when shining a mw field of frequency ν close to resonance with a bound state n, i.e including the losses due to creation of dimers, writes:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_{\mathrm{a}}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Big|_{\mathrm{mw}} = -\beta_{(n)}n_{\mathrm{a}}^2 - \frac{1}{\tau}n_{\mathrm{a}}, \qquad n_{\mathrm{a}}(t) = \frac{n_{\mathrm{a}}(0)\exp(-t/\tau)}{1 + n_{\mathrm{a}}(0)\beta_{(n)}\tau[1 - \exp(-t/\tau)]}$$
(4.2)

where $\beta_{(n)}$ is the time-independent loss coefficient of the bound state n and characterises the actual two-body losses due to the creation of dimers.

We prepare a sample of atoms in the state $|1\rangle$ with an initial surface density $n_a(t = 0) \sim 20 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$ and measure its surface density evolution while shining a resonant mw field and no mw field. The results are shown in Fig. 4.1 with fits to the data. We first extract the lifetime τ from a fit to the data without mw field using Eq. (4.1) and inject it in Eq. (4.2) to fit the data obtained with resonant mw. The evolution of n_a , in the presence of a mw field whose frequency ν is resonant to the transitions $M_{|n|}$, is well-described by two-body losses. We find $\tau = 105 \,\text{s}$, $\beta_{(n=-1)} = 3.5 \cdot 10^{-2} \,\mu\text{m}^2 \,\text{s}^{-1}$ and $\beta_{(n=-2)} = 4/3 \cdot 7 \cdot 10^{-4} \,\mu\text{m}^2 \,\text{s}^{-1}$, where the factor 4/3 corrects for the reduced power of the amplifier used for addressing the level n = -2 (see previous chapter). We confirm that the coupling between the free state $|1;1\rangle$ and the bound state n = -1 is much larger than the one with the state n = -2 as the loss coefficient $\beta_{(n=-1)}$ is ~ 40 times larger than $\beta_{(n=-2)}$.

The lifetime measurement of atoms in $|1\rangle$, shown in Fig. 4.1, is valid for low densities. For higher densities, as mentioned above, atoms in $|1\rangle$ undergo three-body losses, so the losses are faster than predicted with $\tau = 105$ s. However, for short probing times ≤ 300 ms, the effect of three-body losses at high densities remains negligible.

4.1.2 Density dependence of the bound state energies

The least-bound state n = -1 When starting with free atoms in state $|1\rangle$, the coupling with the bound state $|\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ is the largest achievable with our mw antennas¹ and allows

¹The relative coupling strengths are given in appendix A for all the lines.



Figure 4.2: Density dependence of the line M_1 . (a) Photoassociation signals for an initial density $n_a = 27 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$ (empty points) and for an initial density $n_a = 100 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$ (filled points). The depletion is fixed to 8%. (b) Variation of the resonant frequency $\Delta\nu_{(n=-1)}$ with the initial density n_a . The probing time is adjusted to keep a depletion constant to 8% (blue points), 14% (black diamonds) and 20% (violet squares). The data collapse onto a single curve, adjusted by a linear function (black solid line).

us to observe photoassociation lines with depletions $\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a} \sim 10\%$ with mw excitations of duration $\delta t \lesssim 250$ ms. Because the probing times are short, we work in a perturbative regime. Moreover, as shown in the previous section, there are almost no one-body losses of atoms in $|1\rangle$ within this duration. As the depletion is exclusively due to the creation of dimers and remains small, it ensures that the modification of the density during the mw excitation is negligible. These experimental conditions, added to the fact that we work with a uniform in-plane density $n_{\rm a}$, allows us to measure, with high precision, the effect of the density on the linewidth and the line frequency. More precisely:

- (i) the in-plane density is uniform so there is no additional broadening.
- (ii) the one-body losses during the excitation duration δt are close to zero, so the depletion we observe is only due to dimer creation. The density measured after shining an offresonance mw field is then equal to the initial density $n_{\rm a}(t=0) = n_{\rm a}(t=\delta t)$.
- (iii) we work with small depletions so that the density of the sample does not change significantly during the mw excitation, even when the frequency ν is close to resonance.

We vary the surface density $n_{\rm a}$ from $20 \,\mu {\rm m}^{-2}$ to $100 \,\mu {\rm m}^{-2}$ and measure the resonant frequency of the transition M₁. We adjust the excitation duration δt to fix the depletion $\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a}$ at resonance. The loss signal is fitted with the Lorentzian function Eq. (3.28) and we extract the centre of the line $\nu_{\rm m}$ for which the depletion is maximum and its full width at half maximum Γ . We measure the variation of the peak frequency $\Delta \nu_{(n=-1)} = \nu_{\rm m} - \nu_0$ with the surface



Figure 4.3: Density dependence of the line $|2;2\rangle \rightarrow |\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ which is represented in (a) with the transition M_{1_b} . The variation of the resonance frequency $\Delta\nu_{(n=-1),b}$ with the initial density of atoms in $|2\rangle$ is shown in (b). The depletion is fixed to 8%. The solid black curve is a linear fit to the data.

density $n_{\rm a}$ and introduce the resonant frequency in the zero density limit $\nu_0 = \nu_{\rm m}(n_{\rm a} = 0)$. Fixing the depletion to $\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a} \sim 8\%$, we observe a linear shift of $\Delta \nu$ with the surface density $n_{\rm a}$ of the atomic sample, which goes up to $\Delta \nu_{(n=-1)} \sim 800 \,\mathrm{Hz}$ for $n_{\rm a} = 100 \,\mathrm{\mu m^{-2}}$. We performed the same measurement for two other depletion values: $\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a} \sim 14\%$, 20%. The three curves are shown in Fig. 4.2. The duration of the excitation lies within the range 50-255 ms depending on the density $n_{\rm a}$ and the depletion $\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a}$. All the data collapse on a same curve, which confirms that the chosen depletions are small enough to stay in the perturbative regime. We fit a linear function to all the data and find $\nu_0 = -24.984 \, 23(2) \,\mathrm{MHz}$, from the hyperfine level $|f = 1; f = 2\rangle$ at zero magnetic field, and $\Delta \nu_{(n=-1)}/n_{\rm a} = -7.3(3) \,\mathrm{Hz} \cdot \mathrm{\mu m}^2$.

We perform a similar measurement by addressing the state $|\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ from a cold sample of atoms in $|2\rangle \equiv |f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$, as represented by the transition M_{1b} in Fig. 4.3.a. In Chapter 3, this possibility had been eliminated because of the short lifetime of the atoms in the hyperfine level f = 2. Indeed, the atomic gas in $|2\rangle$ experiences two- and one-body losses and their characteristic lifetime is $\sim 100 \,\mathrm{ms}$. Therefore, if we use mw excitations of similar durations on atoms in $|2\rangle$, the atomic density would be strongly reduced by hyperfine relaxation and the condition (ii) is no longer valid. However, it appears that the coupling strength of the line M_{1_b} is stronger than the M_1 one: shining the mw field during 4-9 ms is long enough to observe the transition $|2;2\rangle \rightarrow |\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ with a depletion $\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a} \sim 8\%$. Within this range of excitation durations, the atom losses without mw are negligible and we can measure the variation $\Delta \nu_{(n=-1),b}$ of the peak frequency with the surface density. The experimental data are shown in Fig. 4.3.b and we find a linear shift of slope $\Delta \nu_{(n=-1),b}/n_a = 8.1(9) \,\mathrm{Hz} \cdot \mu m^2$ with $\nu_{0,b} = -24.98459(5)$ MHz. The change of sign in the frequency variation comes from the fact that the frequency of the transition M_{1_b} is larger than the atom-atom transition frequency, whereas the transition M_1 has a smaller frequency than the atom-atom transition (see Fig. 4.3.a).

The second least-bound state n = -2 We reported in Sec. 3.2.2 the measurement of the magnetic-insensitive level of the second least-bound state, labelled n = -2. The coupling strength of the line $M_2 \equiv |1; 1\rangle \rightarrow |\Psi_0^{(n=-2)}\rangle$ was, however, much smaller. We remind



Figure 4.4: Variation of the resonance frequency of the line M_2 with the density. The horizontal error bars indicate the density range scanned during the excitation because of one-body background collisions of free atoms. For initial densities higher than $n_a \gtrsim 30 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$ (empty diamonds), the off-resonance losses reaches $\gtrsim 15 \,\%$ for a probing time of $\delta t = 10 \,\text{s}$ and the variation stops being linear. We measure the frequency shift for small densities (black full diamonds) by adjusting a linear function to the data (solid line).

that the probing time was 10 s and that we set the amplifier to three quarters of its maximum value, to prevent heating of the amplifier. Since we need much longer probing time $(\delta t = 10 \text{ s})$ to observe the transition M₂, the presence of off-resonance three-body losses in $|1\rangle$ invalidates the condition (ii) for large densities. Indeed, for an initial surface density larger than $n_a \gtrsim 30 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$ the atoms losses without mw for $\delta t = 10 \text{ s}$ are larger than $\gtrsim 15 \,\%$. We therefore restrict ourselves to the density range 10-30 μm^{-2} to study the shift of the resonance frequency $\Delta \nu_{(n=-2)}$ with the density. We fix the excitation time to $\delta t = 10 \text{ s}$ as the depletion at resonance is always $\sim 15 \,\%$ for the densities that we probe and the results are shown in Fig. 4.4. We observe again a linear shift with the density and a fit with a linear function gives $\Delta \nu_{(n=-2)}/n_a = 32(1) \,\text{Hz} \cdot \mu\text{m}^2$ and $\nu_0 = -642.219\,27(2) \,\text{MHz}$. We also probed atomic samples with larger densities: as the density increases, the range of density explored during the excitation broadens. We observe a "saturation" of the peak frequency shift and the variation with density stops being linear. The interpretation of these data is complex and we do not take them into account in our study.

As for the least-bound state (n = -1), we expect the transition $|2; 2\rangle \rightarrow |\Psi_0^{(n=-2)}\rangle$ to have a stronger coupling. However, even considering dimer creation ten times faster, the probing duration would be too long $(\delta t = 1 \text{ s})$ to avoid large two-body atomic losses in $|2\rangle$ and thus we did not try (yet) to observe this transition.

A similar shift of the resonance with the density was observed by the group of D.J. Heinzen [152, 153] for the n = -2 bound state of the multiplicity $\{f = 1; f = 1\}$. We interpret, as they did, this density-dependence within a mean-field approach, although in our case, working with mw-induced photoassociation and homogeneous clouds simplifies greatly the problem and allows to a better precision. In the next paragraph, we complete the description of our photoassociation signal and the characterization of the state $|\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$, whose position was measured precisely and deep in the perturbative regime. The mean-field interpretation of the density-shift described above is detailed further below, in Sec. 4.2.



Figure 4.5: Variation of the line width Γ with the initial density $n_{\rm a}$ of the transitions M₁ (blues points), M_{1_b} (black diamonds) and M₂ (violet squares).

4.1.3 Characterisation of the photoassociation signal and lifetime of the dimer

We described in Sec. 3.2.2 and Sec. 4.1.1 the photoassociation signal with a Fermi golden rule considering two-body losses:

$$\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a} \propto n_{\rm a} \delta t,$$
 (4.3)

when neglecting the effect of the other loss mechanisms than photoassociation. We expect therefore the ratio

$$S_1 = \frac{\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a}}{n_{\rm a}\delta t} \tag{4.4}$$

to be constant for a given transition. In practice, however, we observed that the width of the transitions is also density-dependent. We show in Fig. 4.5 the evolution of the linewidth of the three transitions to the two magnetic-insensitive bound states: M_1 , M_{1_b} and M_2 . We observe line widths always smaller than $\leq 1 \text{ kHz}$ for the probed densities. This finite width can be attributed to the lifetime of the dimers. They can decay through two channels: via two-body inelastic collisions with free atoms or undergoing dipolar relaxation, the two atoms then separate by releasing the hyperfine energy. The width Γ of the three free-bound transitions collapse onto a single curve, however with a significant noise level. The lowest width we measure is $\Gamma = 300(104) \text{ Hz}$ for a density of $n_a \sim 20 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$.

The coupling between a stable state and an unstable state, here the molecular state of finite lifetime $\propto 1/\Gamma$, affects the stability of the stable state (here the atomic state) and thus its loss rate [198]. The linewidth of the molecular state therefore contributes to $\delta n_a/n_a$ and, at resonance $\delta n_a/n_a \propto 1/\Gamma$ (see [198] for a complete demonstration). This dependence, hidden in Eq. (4.3), must be taken into account explicitly since the linewidth Γ varies with the density. The scaling of the losses is then described by:

$$\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a} \propto n_{\rm a} \delta t/\Gamma, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{S}_2 = \frac{\delta n_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a}\Gamma}{n_{\rm a} \delta t}, \qquad (4.5)$$

where $\Gamma = \Gamma(n_a)$ and the ratio S_2 should be constant for all the probed densities and depletions. We calculate S_1 and S_2 for each individual point and show them, for the three transitions of interest, in Fig. 4.6. We observe as expected a variation of S_1 with the density, which vanishes when taking into account the variation of the linewidth with the density in S_2 . The constant S_2 takes different values for the three transitions as they undergo different



Figure 4.6: Variation of S_1 (black squares) and S_2 (violet points) with the initial density n_a for the transitions M_1 (a), M_{1_b} (b) and M_2 (c). The quantities are calculated with the individual parameters of each points.

coupling strengths. We find $S_{2(n=-1),b}/S_{2(n=-1)} \sim 11$ and $S_{2(n=-1)}/S_{2(n=-2)} \sim 3/4 \cdot 33$ and validate our Fermi gold rule approach.

4.2 Atom-dimer interaction and scattering length

We observed in Sec. 4.1.2 a clear dependence of the resonance frequency of the atom-dimer transition on the density $n_{\rm a}$ of the atomic bath. We interpret it as a feature of atom-dimer interactions with a mean-field approach and measure the associated atom-dimer scattering length $a_{\rm ad}$.

Atoms and dimer density distributions We consider an initial sample of ultracold atoms in $|1\rangle$ or $|2\rangle$. The surface density n_a is uniform and we recall that the atoms are vertically confined in a harmonic potential of frequency $\omega_z/2\pi$ of which they occupy the ground state, labelled $n_z = 0$. The vertical density profile is then a Gaussian, which yields the 3D density profile:

$$\rho_{\rm a}(z) = \frac{n_{\rm a}}{\ell_z \sqrt{\pi}} \exp(-z^2/\ell_z^2), \qquad \qquad \int \rho_{\rm a}(z) \,\mathrm{d}z = n_{\rm a}, \tag{4.6}$$

with $\ell_z = \sqrt{\hbar/m\omega_z}$. We photoassociate pairs of these atoms to produce dimers. We decompose the initial and final states to their centre of mass (com) and relative (rel) motion states, $|\text{com}\rangle \otimes |\text{rel}\rangle$:

$$|\text{initial}\rangle = |\mathbf{K}, n_z = 0\rangle \otimes |\phi_{\mathbf{k}}\rangle,$$
(4.7)

$$|\text{final}\rangle = |\mathbf{K}, n'_z = 0\rangle \otimes |\phi_d\rangle,$$
(4.8)

where K and k are wave vectors in the horizontal plane, ϕ_k is the scattering state of the quasi-2D problem [65], and n'_z is the vibrational number associated with the level of the vertical harmonic potential occupied by the dimer. We assume that the oscillation angular frequency of the dimer in the vertical trap ω'_z is equal to the atoms one, $\omega_z = \hbar/(m\ell_z^2)$, which corresponds to a doubled spring constant if the dimer mass writes $m_d = 2m$. If this were not the case and $\omega'_z \neq \omega_z$, we would expect to observe a comb of photoassociation lines, resulting from the projection of $|n_z\rangle$ into the dimer eigenbasis $|n'_z\rangle$. As we observe single lines with no

 $^{{}^{2}}S_{2(n=-2)}$ is weighted by 3/4 to take into account that the amplifier power is ~ 3/4 the power used to address the other transitions.

side-bands, the centre of mass is not affected by the mw field and we write $n'_z = n_z = 0$. The centre of mass motion states writes the same whether the atoms are interacting or not, so we focus on the non-interacting system for simplicity. A non-interacting pair of atoms, labelled 1 and 2, is described by the following Hamiltonian and wave function:

$$\hat{H} = \sum_{j=1,2} \left[\frac{\hat{p}_j^2}{2m} + \frac{1}{2} m \omega_z^2 z_j^2 \right], \qquad \Psi(z_1, z_2) = \frac{1}{\ell_z \sqrt{\pi}} \exp[-(z_1^2 + z_2^2)/(2\ell_z^2)], \qquad (4.9)$$

where the first term of the Hamiltonian is the kinetic energy and the second one the potential energy. We define the centre of mass and reduced variables:

$$Z = \frac{1}{2}(z_1 + z_2), \qquad z = z_1 - z_2, \qquad P = p_1 + p_2, \qquad p = \frac{1}{2}(p_1 - p_2), \qquad (4.10)$$

in order to decompose the Hamiltonian and the wave function into two contributions, the centre of mass and the relative motions:

$$\hat{H} = \hat{H}_{\rm com} + \hat{H}_{\rm rel}, \qquad \hat{H}_{\rm com} = \frac{P^2}{2M} + \frac{1}{2}M\omega_z^2 Z^2, \qquad \hat{H}_{\rm rel} = \frac{\hat{p}^2}{2m_{\rm r}} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\rm r}\omega_z^2 Z^2, \qquad (4.11)$$

$$\Psi(Z,z) = \frac{1}{\ell_z \sqrt{\pi}} \exp[-Z^2/\ell_z^2] \exp[-z^2/(4\ell_z^2)].$$
(4.12)

We find then the probability distribution of the centre of mass of two particles, narrower by a factor $\sqrt{2}$ than the single atom distribution Eq. (4.6):

$$f_{\rm d}(Z) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\ell_z \sqrt{\pi}} \exp(-2Z^2/\ell_z^2), \qquad \qquad \int f_{\rm d}(Z) \, {\rm d}Z = 1, \qquad (4.13)$$

and write the dimer 3D density in the sample of area S: $\rho_{\rm d}(Z) = f_{\rm d}(Z)/S$.

Resonance frequency of the photoassociation The photoassociation rate is described by the Fermi golden rule Eq. (4.5). This process: (i) brings the energy coupling the free and bound state in the zero-density limit to the sample, couples two free atoms to a dimer and therefore (ii) removes two free atoms of the initial state to create a dimer, (iii) which interacts with the atom bath. We assume that the density of molecules is small enough to neglect dimer-dimer interactions. We write the energies provided by the photoassociation:

- (i) $h\nu_0$: the zero-density limit energy coupling the free and bound state,
- (ii) $-2\mu_{\rm a}$: since it removes two atoms of the bath, with the atomic chemical potential $\mu_{\rm a} = g_{\rm aa} n_{\rm a}$,
- (iii) $E_{\rm ad} = g_{\rm ad} \int \rho_{\rm a}(z) f_{\rm d}(z) dz$: the atom-dimer interaction energy.

The atomic interaction parameter g_{aa} writes

$$g_{\rm aa} = \frac{\hbar^2}{m} \frac{\sqrt{8\pi}}{\ell_z} a_{f_1 f_2},\tag{4.14}$$

with $a_{f_1f_2}$ the scattering length describing the collision between an atom in the hyperfine level f_1 and an atom in the hyperfine level f_2 . We also introduced the atom-dimer interaction parameter g_{ad} which we write, assuming s-wave interactions because of the low temperature:

$$g_{\rm ad} = \frac{2\pi\hbar^2}{M_{\rm r}} a_{\rm ad}, \qquad \qquad M_{\rm r} = \frac{m \cdot m_{\rm d}}{m + m_{\rm d}} = \frac{2m}{3}, \qquad (4.15)$$

with M_r the reduced mass of the system {atom + dimer} and a_{ad} the s-wave atom-dimer scattering length. We calculate the atom-dimer interaction energy using Eqs. (4.6) and (4.13) and find:

$$E_{\rm ad} = g_{\rm ad} \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \frac{n_{\rm a}}{\ell_z \sqrt{\pi}} = \mu_{\rm a} \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \frac{a_{\rm ad}}{a_{f_1 f_2}}.$$
(4.16)

The variation of the resonance frequency $\Delta \nu = \nu_{\rm m}(n_{\rm a}) - \nu_0$ then reads:

$$h\Delta\nu = E_{\rm ad} - 2\mu_{\rm a} = \mu_{\rm a} \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \frac{a_{\rm ad}}{a_{f_1 f_2}} - 2\right).$$
 (4.17)

This derivation leads to a linear density-dependence of the photoassociation resonance frequency from which we can calculate the atom-dimer scattering length:

$$a_{\rm ad} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} a_{f_1 f_2} \left(2 + \frac{h\Delta\nu}{\mu_{\rm a}} \right), \qquad \qquad \mu_{\rm a} = g_{\rm aa} n_{\rm a}.$$
(4.18)

We calibrate the chemical potential $\mu_{\rm a}$ with an independent experiment, using Ramsey interferometry as described in Sec. 2.2.9. We measure the mean-field shift $\Delta\nu_{\rm a}$ of the magneticinsensitive atomic transition $|1\rangle \rightarrow |2\rangle$:

$$h\Delta\nu_{\rm a} = \mu_{\rm a} \frac{a_{22} - a_{11}}{a_{f_1 f_2}},\tag{4.19}$$

and the values of the scattering lengths are estimated from [98] to $a_{11} = 100.9 a_0$, $a_{22} - a_{11} = -6 a_0$, and $a_{12} - a_{11} = -2 a_0$. We insert this result into Eq. (4.18) and obtain an expression independent of any systematic error on the density calibration:

$$a_{\rm ad} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{3}} a_{f_1 f_2} + \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{\Delta \nu}{\Delta \nu_{\rm a}} (a_{22} - a_{11}) \tag{4.20}$$

Results We performed Ramsey interferometry in the same experimental conditions as for photoassociation, and found $\Delta \nu_{\rm a}/n_{\rm a} = -0.52(1) \, \text{Hz} \cdot \mu \text{m}^2$. Combining this result with the three measured atom-dimer frequency shifts given in Sec. 4.1.2, we find:

M₁:
$$a_{\rm ad}^{(n=-1)} = 184(2) a_0,$$
 (4.21)

$$M_{1_{b}}: \quad a_{ad}^{(n=-1),b} = 165(7) a_{0}, \tag{4.22}$$

M₂:
$$a_{\rm ad}^{(n=-2)} = 21(7) a_0.$$
 (4.23)

These three atom-dimer scattering lengths are remarkably different from the impulse scattering length $a_{\rm ad}^{\rm impulse}$, calculated by summing independently the scattering amplitudes of each atom of the dimer with an atom of the bath. Considering an atomic bath in the hyperfine level f_1 , the dimers created by the photoassociation are composed of two atoms in the hyperfine level f_1 and f_2 respectively and the impulse scattering length yields:

$$a_{\rm ad}^{\rm impulse} = \frac{M_{\rm r}}{m_{\rm r}} (a_{f_1 f_1} + a_{f_1 f_2}),$$
 (4.24)

$$a_{\rm ad}^{\rm impulse}[M_1] = \frac{4}{3}(a_{11} + a_{12}),$$
 (4.25)

$$a_{\rm ad}^{\rm impulse}[M_{1_{\rm b}}] = \frac{4}{3}(a_{22} + a_{12}),$$
 (4.26)

First introduced for nucleon physics [199], it predicts $a_{ad}^{impulse}[M_1] = 266 a_0$ and $a_{ad}^{impulse}[M_{1b}] = 258 a_0$ while addressing the bound state $|\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ from $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$ respectively. Studies on Fermi-Fermi and Bose-Fermi mixtures have also led to results differing from $a_{ad}^{impulse}$. Zhang et al. proposed an explanation for this discrepancy for Fermi dimers colliding with Bosons [167]: by noting that the Born approximation at first order gives the same result, they suggest that the discrepancy may come from higher orders. For instance, the Fermi dimer could survive many collisions with the bosonic bath, or could break into the scattering state after a first collision and then recombine after a second collision.

The scattering lengths describing the interaction of $|\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ and a bath of atoms in $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$ are close to each other, like the atom-atom scattering length describing these baths, a_1 and a_2 . These similarities, combined, could be consistent with the existence of a "van der Waals universal relation" linking the atom-dimer scattering length $a_{\rm ad}$ to the atomic scattering length a_f , for the least-bound states. However, the large difference between the atom-dimer scattering length of the states $|\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ and $|\Psi_0^{(n=-2)}\rangle$ interacting with a bath of atoms in state $|1\rangle$ reveals the importance of the radial wave function of the dimer in the scattering process.

We have previously mentioned a similar measurement performed by the group of D.J. Heinzen, in the second-to-least bound state (n = -2) of the multiplicity $\mathcal{A}(\{f = 1; f = 1\})$ [152]. They deduced the scattering length $a_{ad} = -180(150)a_0$ from the density shift they observed, but the inhomogeneity of the atomic sample makes the analysis more involved.

4.3 Microwave-induced Feshbach resonances

The existence of a magnetic-insensitive shallow bound state with a strong mw coupling to the atomic state $|1\rangle$ (which is also magnetic-insensitive) encourages the search for a mw-induced Feshbach resonance, introduced by Papoular et al. [146]. Since we have in hand a high-resolution spectroscopic tool composed of our two mw antennas, we indeed tried to observe such resonance.

We performed Ramsey interferometry on the magnetic-insensitive transition $|1\rangle \rightarrow |2\rangle$ with the mw antenna RS1, as described in Sec. 2.2.9, while dressing the atoms in $|1\rangle$ with a second mw field, provided by the antenna labelled RS2, with frequency ν_d . We remind that in the presence of interactions in the quantum gas, the transition frequency of $|1\rangle \rightarrow |2\rangle$ is shifted from its Bohr frequency. The frequency shift of the atomic transition, using mw $\pi/2$ -pulses, follows Eq. (4.19) which writes here:

$$h\Delta\nu_{\rm a} = \mu_{\rm a} \frac{a_2 - a_1}{a_1}.$$
(4.27)

We start with an ultracold sample of atoms in $|1\rangle$ of fixed surface density $n_{\rm a}$ and perform Ramsey interferometry. We send two mw $\pi/2$ -pulses separated by a probing time fixed to 10 ms to avoid phase separation of the two species $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$. During the Ramsey spectroscopy, we dress the atoms with a mw field of frequency $\nu_{\rm d}$, and measure the atomic frequency shift $\Delta\nu_{\rm a}$. We scan the frequency $\nu_{\rm d}$ around the resonance frequency of the transition M₁ and, from the measurement of $\Delta\nu_{\rm a}$, calculate the scattering length of atoms in $|1\rangle$, a_1 .

The probing time must be short enough to keep low enough the atomic losses due to the production of dimers. In this case, the variation of the atomic density is negligible and does not affect the measurement of a_1 . As we already show in Eq. (4.5), the losses depend on the density and the probing duration so that, for a given excitation time, the lower the density the lower the losses. However, the Ramsey signal is also proportional to the density, so that a balance must be found between these two criteria.

Unfortunately, we were not able to observe a resonance of the scattering length a_1 by following this protocol. We can confidently set an upper bound of the possible signal to $\Delta a_1 \leq 0.1 a_0$. However, our study of the least-bound states paves the way to the observation of mw-induced FRs on more suitable atomic species, whose triplet and singlet scattering lengths have more distant values (as caesium, sodium or potassium), or on atom chips experimental setups to benefit from stronger mw field [200].

4.4 Conclusion

We have taken advantage of the presence of a magnetic-insensitive state $|\Psi_0^{(n)}\rangle$ in rovibrational bound states of ⁸⁷Rb to perform high-precision measurement of the photoassociation signals. We calibrated the dimer creation rate for the two least-bound states n = -1, -2. We validated the Fermi golden rule, used to characterise the photoassociation losses, and ensured that we perform all the measurements in a perturbative regime. Remarkably, our measurement is precise enough to observe a clear dependence of the resonance frequency and the linewidth of the transitions with the density of the atomic sample. We interpreted this density-dependence as a consequence of the interaction between the dimers and the atomic bath. We derived a mean-field model and measured the atom-dimer scattering lengths $a_{\rm ad}$ associated with the three transitions M_1 , M_{1_b} and M_2 . Our measurement of the interaction of atoms in states $|1\rangle$ or $|2\rangle$ with the least-bound state $|\Psi_0^{(n=-1)}\rangle$ motivates the existence of a universal relation between the atom-dimer scattering length a_{ad} and the scattering length a, in the limit of shallow bound states. The combination with the measurement on the second-to-least bound state $|\Psi_0^{(n=-2)}\rangle$ shows the influence of the radial wave function. Finally, we proposed an experimental protocol for the observation of microwave-induced Feshbach resonances. Despite the precision of our measurements and our large mw couplings, we were not able to observe such a resonance.

Part III

Zero-temperature superfluid fraction in a density-modulated 2D Bose gas

Superfluidity in spatially modulated systems at zero temperature

Fundamental properties of superfluid states of matter, discovered in 1938, are subtle and diverse. They are usually characterised by a reduction of the moment of inertia and a frictionless flow. These latter conditions describing the emergence of a superfluid state are so general that, in the 1970's, the question of superfluidity was raised for solids, i.e. spatially ordered systems whose density $n(\mathbf{r})$ shows strong variations over distances of the order of the atomic spacing. The possibility of Bose-Einstein condensation in a crystalline solid at low temperature had already been studied by Chester, and the author had demonstrated that a crystalline solid can exhibit a Bose-Einstein condensate if it has a finite fraction of vacancies [201]. Later in 1970, Leggett went further and emphasised that an insulating solid could show a so-called *non-classical rotational inertia*¹ and that the associated superfluid fraction $f_{\rm s}$ would be bounded from above to a low value [36]. Considering N atoms in dimension D in a system of size L^{D} which undergoes a breaking of translational invariance in the direction x_1 , i.e for instance a density modulation along x_1 , Leggett estimated the superfluid fraction by evaluating the change of energy of the system as an answer to twisted boundary conditions (TBC) along x_1 : $\phi(x_1 + L, x_2, ..., x_D) = \exp(i\theta)\phi(x_1, x_2, ..., x_D)$, and finds the following upper bound for the superfluid fraction:

$$f_{\rm s} \le \frac{L^{D+1}}{N \int \frac{\mathrm{d}x_1}{n(x_1)}}.$$
 (5.1)

In the case of an atomic cloud of homogeneous density, this relation simplifies to $f_{\rm s} \leq 1$. These discussions introduced the notion of a *supersolid* state of matter which describes a quantum state where particles form a spatially ordered structure, implying a *spontaneous* breaking of translational symmetry, but also show superfluid properties as they flow with zero viscosity for instance [202–204]. First predicted for solid helium, the observation of such state and/or properties has been an experimental challenge and has remained elusive for a long time [205–208]. Recently, observations of supersolid properties were reported in ultracold quantum gases experiments. First, two experimental groups observed simultaneously the emergence of supersolid properties by "crystallising" an ultracold gas while maintaining the inherent superfluidity of the Bose-Einstein condensate (BEC). The group from ETH Zurich coupled a BEC to the modes of two optical cavities, enhancing the atomic interactions such that the atoms spontaneously crystallised [209]. After atomic BECs were predicted to present a stripe phase with supersolid properties in the presence of spin-orbit coupling [210–214], researchers at MIT created an effective spin-orbit coupling on a two-component BEC which

¹This refers to the decrease of the moment of inertia compared to a classical fluid, mentioned above.

produced the predicted density modulation of this stripe phase [215]. Supersolid phases have been observed later in dipolar Bose gases for which supersolidity arises from the competition of dipole-dipole and contact interactions without external enhancement [216–218]. While the first observations of such supersolid phase were one-dimensional, robust 2D supersolids were produced recently, also in dipolar gases [219, 220].

Although this area of research has received a lot of attention and despite recent observations, the historical result of Leggett Eq. (5.1) has never been tested experimentally. However, this result stands for density modulated quantum gases without necessarily imposing to work with supersolid phases and should then give an estimate of the superfluid fraction in systems where the breaking of the translational symmetry is not spontaneous but externally imposed. In this chapter, we propose an experimental protocol to measure the superfluid fraction in a 2D density-modulated ultracold Bose gas and compare it to the upper bound found by Leggett Eq. (5.1). This work was performed in collaboration with theoreticians at the University of Trento, S. Stringari and S. Roccuzzo.

In a first section, we derive the result of Leggett for a weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas at zero temperature and with a density modulation imposed by an external potential. Leggett's result is a static estimate of superfluidity, whereas superfluidity is intrinsically linked to the notion of transport. For this reason, we compare Leggett's integral with a measure of transport in the same system system. At finite temperature, the superfluid fraction and, by extension, the superfluid transition can be probed by measuring the propagation of sound in a system, i.e. phonon excitations. In the second section, we briefly summarise the results on sound propagation gathered for quantum gases. Afterwards, we write the expected zero-temperature sound velocities in a 2D density-modulated system from a thermodynamic model. Finally, gathering our results, we propose an experimental protocol, well-adapted to our experimental setup, to probe the superfluid fraction upper bound derived by Leggett. The implementation of this protocol and the results obtained will be the subject of the next chapter.

5.1 Superfluid fraction in a 2D modulated planar Bose gas

We consider a 2D Bose gas of N weakly-interacting atoms of mass m and at zero temperature T = 0. The interactions are described by the dimensionless parameter \tilde{g} . The gas is confined in a potential $V(\mathbf{r})$ that we consider here periodic along the direction y with a period λ , but homogeneous in the direction x. We describe the atomic cloud with a classical field $\psi(\mathbf{r})$ normalised as

$$\int |\psi(\mathbf{r})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}^2 r = N,\tag{5.2}$$

and whose energy functional reads:

$$E[\psi] = \int \left[\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} |\boldsymbol{\nabla}\psi|^2 + \frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \tilde{g}|\psi(\boldsymbol{r})|^4 + V(\boldsymbol{r})|\psi(\boldsymbol{r})|^2\right] \mathrm{d}^2 r.$$
(5.3)

The classical field approach was introduced in Chapter 1 and, at zero temperature, the ground state ψ_0 of the system satisfies the Gross-Pitaevskii (GP) equation introduced in Eq. (1.22)

$$-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\nabla^2\psi_0 + \frac{\hbar^2}{m}\tilde{g}|\psi_0|^2\psi_0(\mathbf{r}) + V(\mathbf{r})\psi_0(\mathbf{r}) = \mu_0\psi_0(\mathbf{r}),$$
(5.4)

where μ_0 is the chemical potential.

In this section, we are interested in the estimate of the Leggett integral in the presence

of the periodic potential. As mentioned in Chapter 1, superfluidity can be established either by imposing a constraint on the momentum of the system, i.e. placing ourselves in the moving frame, or by using twisted boundary conditions (TBC). Both methods are equivalent within a gauge transformation. In the first instance, we derive Leggett's analysis and therefore use the TBC as he originally did. Anticipating on the next section, we use the gauge transformation to write the relation between the superfluid fraction f_s of the system in the presence of a density modulation and the associated effective mass m^* .

5.1.1 Leggett's integral for a zero-temperature weakly-interacting Bose gas

We study the effect of the modulation along the y-axis on the superfluid character of the sample by imposing TBC. We determine the energy variation created by imposing an infinitesimal phase twist θ on the field ψ along the direction y, such that:

$$\psi(x+L,y) = \psi(x,y), \qquad \qquad \psi(x,y+L) = \exp(\mathrm{i}\theta)\psi(x,y), \qquad (5.5)$$

where $L \times L$ is the area of the cloud and L is a multiple of the potential period λ . This energy difference between the "twisted" ground state and the "untwisted" ground state ψ_0 of the system defines the superfluid fraction f_s as [85]:

$$E(\theta) = E(0) + \frac{\hbar^2 \theta^2 N}{2mL^2} f_{s,y} + \mathcal{O}(\theta^4).$$
 (5.6)

Note that following this definition, the superfluid fraction f_s is a *tensor*. We work on the proper basis of this tensor, given by the axes x and y here, so its off-diagonal terms are zero. More precisely, considering twisted boundary conditions along y gives access to the component $f_{s,y}$ while twisting the boundary conditions along x yields the superfluid component $f_{s,x}$. In this section, we consider a zero-temperature anisotropic system where the potential $V(\mathbf{r})$ is spatially-modulated along y and homogeneous along x. As the density is kept homogeneous along the x-axis, the superfluid fraction component along x is equal to² $f_{s,x} = 1$. We then study the component of the superfluid fraction tensor $f_{s,y}$ along the spatial modulation and look for the increase of energy $E(\theta)$ when twisting the field ψ along y.

In a density-phase approach, we look for the ground state ψ_{θ} , satisfying the TBC, written as:

$$\psi_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{r}) = a_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{r}) \exp[\mathrm{i}S_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{r})], \qquad (5.7)$$

where $a_{\theta}(\mathbf{r})$ is a real function satisfying periodic boundary conditions with $a_0^2(\mathbf{r}) = \psi_0^2(\mathbf{r}) = n_0(\mathbf{r})$ and $S_{\theta}(\mathbf{r})$ is a phase profile. We define the associated velocity field as

$$\boldsymbol{v}_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \frac{\hbar}{m} \boldsymbol{\nabla} S_{\theta}. \tag{5.8}$$

Using Eq. (5.3) and Eq. (5.7), the energy functional Eq. (5.6) writes for such a twisted wave function:

$$E(\theta) = \int \left[\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} |\boldsymbol{\nabla} a_\theta|^2 + \frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \tilde{g} |a_\theta|^4 + V(r) |a_\theta|^2 + \frac{m}{2} \boldsymbol{v}_\theta^2(\boldsymbol{r}) a_\theta^2(\boldsymbol{r})\right] \mathrm{d}^2 r.$$
(5.9)

²This is a result of Landau two-fluids model but the analysis we perform on the modulated axis in this chapter also applies to the x-axis, along which the potential V is homogeneous, and leads to the same result $f_{s,x} = 1$.

In order to find the expression of the superfluid fraction, we minimize the energy functional $E(\theta)$. We introduce two Lagrangian variables μ and β to take into account the two constraints imposed by the normalisation Eq. (5.2) and the definition of the velocity field Eq. (5.8):

$$\int a_{\theta}^2(\boldsymbol{r}) \,\mathrm{d}^2 \boldsymbol{r} = N,\tag{5.10}$$

$$\int_0^L \boldsymbol{v}_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{r}) \cdot \boldsymbol{e}_y \, \mathrm{d}y = \frac{\hbar}{m} \theta, \qquad (5.11)$$

and we keep only the twisted direction y, since the other one is invariant by translation. We minimize then the energy functional

$$E[a_{\theta}] + L\left[\frac{m}{2}\int_{0}^{L} v_{\theta}^{2}(y)a_{\theta}^{2}(y) \,\mathrm{d}y - \mu \int_{0}^{L} a_{\theta}^{2}(y) \,\mathrm{d}y - \beta \int_{0}^{L} v_{\theta}(y) \,\mathrm{d}y\right],\tag{5.12}$$

where $E[a_{\theta}]$ embeds the terms where only a_{θ} contributes. The minimization of the latter energy functional with respect to v_{θ} yields the velocity field

$$v_{\theta}(y) = \frac{\beta}{ma_{\theta}^2(y)} = \frac{\beta}{mn_0(y)} \qquad \xrightarrow{\text{Eq.}(5.11)} \qquad v_{\theta}(y) = \frac{\hbar\theta}{mn_0(y)} \frac{1}{\int \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{n_0(y)}},\tag{5.13}$$

where we wrote $a_{\theta}(y)$ at the zero-th order in θ . By re-introducing the other axis, we find the contribution of the velocity field to $E(\theta)$ (Eq. (5.9)):

$$\frac{m}{2} \int \boldsymbol{v}_{\theta}^{2}(\boldsymbol{r}) a_{\theta}^{2}(\boldsymbol{r}) \,\mathrm{d}^{2} \boldsymbol{r} = \frac{\hbar^{2} \theta^{2}}{2m} \frac{L}{\int \frac{dy}{n_{0}(y)}}.$$
(5.14)

The minimization of Eq. (5.12) with respect to a_{θ} leads to the following equation:

$$-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 a_\theta}{\mathrm{d}y^2} + \frac{\hbar^2}{m}\tilde{g}a_\theta^3 + \left(V + \frac{m}{2}v_\theta^2\right)a_\theta - \mu a_\theta = 0.$$
(5.15)

This equation can be understood as the GP equation Eq. (5.4) with a source term $mv_{\theta}^2/2$. We remind that the GP equation is minimised for $\psi_0 = a_0$, i.e. when the boundary condition along y is not twisted $\theta = 0$. We look then for a solution of Eq. (5.15) in powers of θ with the form

$$a_{\theta} = a_0 + \delta a_{\theta}, \tag{5.16}$$

where δa_{θ} accounts for the corrections due to the source term. The latter is of order two in θ (see Eq. (5.13)) and thus the correction δa_{θ} will be of order θ^2 at least. The change $a_0 \rightarrow a_0 + \delta a_{\theta}$ has then no contribution of order θ^2 to $E[\psi]$ Eq. (5.3), since the contributions will be of order θ^4 at least.

Finally, there is no additional contribution of order two or less in θ coming from the minimization with respect to a_{θ} and $E(\theta) - E(0)$ then writes

$$E(\theta) - E(0) = \frac{\hbar^2 \theta^2}{2m} \frac{L}{\int \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{n_0(y)}}.$$
 (5.17)

The superfluid fraction component $f_{s,y}$ is then given by

$$f_{s,y} = \frac{L^3}{N \int \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{n_0(y)}} = \frac{1}{\langle n_0 \rangle \langle 1/n_0 \rangle},\tag{5.18}$$

with

$$\langle n_0 \rangle = \frac{N}{L^2} = \frac{1}{L} \int n_0(y) \,\mathrm{d}y, \qquad \langle 1/n_0 \rangle = \frac{1}{L} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{n_0(y)}.$$
 (5.19)

We find that the superfluid fraction $f_{s,y}$ in a weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas of modulated density at T = 0, and therefore described by the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, is given by the integral that Leggett found as an upper limit on the superfluid fraction studying solids.

5.1.2 Effective mass

We discussed the derivation of the superfluid fraction in the general case of an anisotropic system, with a potential inhomogeneous in y but homogeneous in the other direction (x). We now take into account the *periodicity* of the potential along y, characterised by a spatial period λ . In this context, one can write the solution of the GP equation with the so-called Bloch form:

$$\psi_q(\mathbf{r}) = \exp(\mathrm{i}\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{r}) u_q(\mathbf{r}), \qquad \mathbf{q} = q\mathbf{e}_y, \qquad (5.20)$$

with q the quasi-momentum defined over the first Brillouin zone $|q| \leq \pi/\lambda$ and where $u_q(x)$ is a periodic function, of same periodicity than the potential, and solution of

$$\frac{(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}} + \hbar \boldsymbol{q})^2}{2m} u_q(\boldsymbol{r}) + \frac{\hbar^2}{m} |u_q(\boldsymbol{r})|^2 u_q(\boldsymbol{r}) + V(\boldsymbol{r}) u_q(\boldsymbol{r}) = \mu(q) u_q(\boldsymbol{r}).$$
(5.21)

In this case, the transport in the system is given by the Bloch band structure. We consider here the zone around $q \sim 0$, where the band curvature is fully characterised by the effective mass m_y^* , defined from a variation in the energy Eq. (5.21) due to a small change in q around q = 0:

$$E(q) = E(0) + \frac{\hbar^2 q^2 N}{2m_y^*} + \mathcal{O}(q^3).$$
(5.22)

In order to link this formalism to the result previously obtained with TBC, we perform a well-known gauge transform to write solutions of the GPE $\tilde{\psi}$ from the solutions respecting TBC ψ :

$$\tilde{\psi}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \exp(i\boldsymbol{A}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}/\hbar)\psi(\boldsymbol{r}), \qquad \boldsymbol{A} = -\frac{\hbar\theta}{L}\boldsymbol{e}_y, \qquad (5.23)$$

such that $\tilde{\psi}$ satisfies periodic boundary conditions:

$$\tilde{\psi}(x+L,y) = \tilde{\psi}(x,y), \qquad \qquad \tilde{\psi}(x,y+L) = \tilde{\psi}(x,y). \tag{5.24}$$

The GP equation satisfied by $\tilde{\psi}_{\theta} = \exp(i\mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{r}/\hbar)\psi_{\theta}(\mathbf{r})$ then writes

$$\frac{(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}-\boldsymbol{A})^2}{2m}\tilde{\psi}_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{r}) + \frac{\hbar^2}{m}|\tilde{\psi}_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{r})|^2\tilde{\psi}_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{r}) + V(\boldsymbol{r})\tilde{\psi}_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \mu_{\theta}\tilde{\psi}_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{r}), \qquad (5.25)$$

with $\hat{\boldsymbol{p}} = -\mathrm{i}\hbar\boldsymbol{\nabla}$.

The functions $\tilde{\psi}_{\theta}$ and u_q satisfy now the same periodic boundary conditions and normalization condition. Moreover, the equations Eq. (5.21) and Eq. (5.25) are similar within the substitution

$$\hbar q \, \boldsymbol{e}_y \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad -\boldsymbol{A} = \frac{\hbar \theta}{L} \boldsymbol{e}_y.$$
 (5.26)

The general relation Eq. (5.6) used in the previous section can be written with this substitution:

$$\frac{\theta}{L} \iff q, \qquad E(\theta) - E(0) = \frac{\hbar^2 \theta^2 N}{2mL^2} f_{s,y} \iff E(q) - E(0) = \frac{\hbar^2 q^2 N}{2m} f_{s,y}, \qquad (5.27)$$

and we obtain by identification with Eq. (5.22):

$$f_{s,y} = \frac{m}{m_y^*}.\tag{5.28}$$

Finally, we find that in the case of a periodic density-modulation the Leggett integral Eq. (5.18) is equal to the ratio of the mass m and effective mass m_y^* along the spatially-modulated direction.

5.2 Sound propagation in quantum gases

We introduced in Chapter 1 the notion of sound in quantum gases at zero temperature from the Bogoliubov excitation spectrum

$$\hbar\omega_k = \frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \sqrt{k^2 (k^2 + 4\tilde{g}n)}.$$
(5.29)

The frequencies ω_k of the excitation modes associated with plane waves of wave vector k describe, in the low-k regime $k \ll k_c \sim 1/\xi$, the propagation of phonons and simplify to the linear relation $\omega_k \sim c_0 k$ where $c_0 = \hbar \sqrt{\tilde{g}n}/m$ is the so-called Bogoliubov speed of sound. In the case of finite temperature, the superfluid dynamics can be described by the two-fluid model, introduced in 1938 by Tisza [221] and later studied by Landau in 1941 [84]. Superfluids are treated as the superposition of a superfluid and a normal component and the model assumes a local thermodynamic equilibrium ensured by collisions. First introduced for helium, this hydrodynamic model predicts the existence of two sounds: a *first sound* describing a density wave for which the superfluid and normal component oscillate in phase and a *second sound* describing a temperature wave for which the superfluid and normal component oscillate out of phase. The velocity of these sounds depends on the equation of state of the system and on the superfluid fraction f_s .

Such sound waves were predicted in ultracold strongly interacting Fermi gases [222] and were experimentally observed [69, 223, 224]. These systems exhibit sound waves similar to those encountered in liquid helium. The existence of the first and second sound was also predicted for 3D weakly-interacting Bose gases [225] although their nature is strongly modified due to the compressibility of the system. Indeed, the second sound is mainly an oscillation of the superfluid component alone and can be understood as a continuation of Bogoliubov sound. In the limit of dilute Bose gases, this second sound can be related to the superfluid fraction [225, 226]. In the case of 2D weakly-interacting Bose gases, the first and second sound are expected to show a discontinuity at the critical point of the BKT phase transition [227, 228]. The thermodynamic functions of a 2D Bose gas are continuous across the phase transition which makes the measurement of the sound velocity a nice way to determine its critical point. Sound propagation has been observed in Bose gases [68, 229–231], and a

recent experiment in a 2D geometry probed the first and the second sound across the BKT transition [47]. The authors used then the equation of state of the weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas to deduce the superfluid fraction of the atomic cloud. It consists in the first indirect measurement of the superfluid fraction over the transition in 2D Bose gases³.

In a different context, experiments have been performed with density-modulated superfluid quantum gases to measure the critical velocity for which the frictionless flow vanishes [232]. Superfluids were loaded in moving optical lattices and experiments showed clear signals of the existence of a critical velocity [233–235]. First interpreted as a *classical* superfluid-insulator transition, they revealed the existence of dynamical instabilities [236–242], which have subsequently been a subject of research [243–246]. The existence of Josephson currents were also probed [247, 248]. Other works have highlighted the effect of interactions and/or disorder [249]. In the following, we study the dynamics of a 2D Bose gas loaded in a one-dimensional lattice. However, the experiments described in the following chapter are in a different regime than the cases mentioned above, being far from the tight-binding limit and considering relative atoms-lattice velocities much lower than the Laudau critical velocity $v_{\rm L} \sim 2 \,\rm{mm/s}$.

We aim at writing here the relation between the sound velocity and the superfluid fraction in a 2D Bose gas of modulated density along one direction and at zero temperature T = 0. We write in the following a simple model of thermodynamics describing the system in the presence of a sound wave.

We take into account the small but finite thickness d_z of the system along the z-axis and describe it as a cloud of N atoms of mass m in a rectangular box of volume $\mathcal{V} = L \times L \times d_z$ with $d_z \ll L$. The potential $V(\mathbf{r})$ is periodic in y with a period λ and homogeneous in the other directions. The average particle density is written $n = N/\mathcal{V}$. We first remind some thermodynamics relations for a fluid at T = 0 which link the pressure P, the chemical potential μ , the free energy F and the entropy S:

$$P = \mathcal{F}(n), \qquad \mu = \mathcal{G}(n), \qquad \mathrm{d}F = -S\mathrm{d}T - P\mathrm{d}\mathcal{V} + \mu\mathrm{d}N. \tag{5.30}$$

We now consider a slice of area A in the plane (x, z) and of thickness δy along the y-axis. This atomic slab is of mesoscopic scale and contains $N_{\text{slab}} = n(y, t)A\delta y$ atoms with $1 \ll N_{\text{slab}} \ll N$. In order to study the propagation of a sound wave of wave vector $\mathbf{q} = q\mathbf{e}_y$, we choose the thickness of the slice as $\lambda \ll \delta_y \ll 2\pi/q$ and apply the Newton's equation on the modulated axis y. We describe then the pressure forces on the two faces (x, z) of the atomic slab, placed at $\pm \delta y/2$, and the displacement of these faces which creates a deformation of the slab without losses of atoms. The atomic slab in the modulated direction has a velocity v(y, t) and a kinetic energy per particle of $m_y^* v^2/2$, where the use of the effective mass m_y^* comes from the presence of the modulation. The total effective mass of the slab is written $m_{\text{slab}}^* = m_y^* N_{\text{slab}}$. The equations of motion yield:

$$m_{\rm slab}^* \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} = A \left[P(y - \frac{\delta y}{2}, t) - P(y + \frac{\delta y}{2}, t) \right], \tag{5.31}$$

$$\delta \mathcal{V}(t+\mathrm{d}t) - \delta \mathcal{V}(t) = A\left[v(y-\frac{\delta y}{2},t) - v(y-\frac{\delta y}{2},t)\right]\mathrm{d}t,\tag{5.32}$$

³Note that there exists no direct measurement of the superfluid fraction yet.

and they simplify to

$$m_y^* n(y,t) \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} = -\frac{\partial P}{\partial y},\tag{5.33}$$

$$\frac{\delta \mathcal{V}(t+\mathrm{d}t) - \delta \mathcal{V}(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = A \delta y \frac{\partial v}{\partial y}.$$
(5.34)

The deformation of the atomic slab is associated to a change of pressure following Eq. (5.30) so the equation of motion Eq. (5.34) can be written as:

$$dP = -n\mathcal{F}'(n)\frac{d\mathcal{V}}{\mathcal{V}}, \qquad \qquad \frac{\partial P}{\partial t} = -n\mathcal{F}'(n)\frac{\partial v}{\partial y}. \tag{5.35}$$

Finally, by combining the equations of motion Eq. (5.33) and Eq. (5.35) we obtain the wave equation

$$\frac{m_y^*}{\mathcal{F}'(n)}\frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial t^2} = \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial x^2},\tag{5.36}$$

describing the propagation of sound along the y-axis with a velocity

$$c_y^2 = \frac{\mathcal{F}'(n)}{m_y^*}.$$
 (5.37)

This leads us to a relation linking the sound velocity and the superfluid fraction along y Eq. (5.28):

$$c_y^2 = f_{s,y} \frac{\mathcal{F}'(n)}{m}.$$
(5.38)

The same analysis is performed along the x-axis. The only difference is that the potential is homogeneous in this direction, so the equation of motion Eq. (5.33) is written with $m_x^* = m$. The sound velocity along the x-axis c_x reads then $c_x^2 = \mathcal{F}'(n)/m$.

Therefore, the ratio of the speed of sound along and perpendicular to the periodic modulation is independent of $\mathcal{F}'(n)$, i.e. independent of the equation of state and writes

$$\frac{c_y^2}{c_x^2} = \frac{m}{m_y^*}.$$
(5.39)

Rigorously, the ratio Eq. (5.39) is equal to the ratio of the superfluid fraction components

$$\frac{c_y^2}{c_x^2} = \frac{m_x^*}{m_y^*} = \frac{f_{s,y}}{f_{s,x}}.$$
(5.40)

In our particular case, the potential is modulated along y only and homogeneous along the x-axis, hence we have $m_x^* = m$ and $f_{s,x} = 1$, so that the ratio of the sound velocities actually gives the superfluid fraction along y:

$$\frac{c_y^2}{c_x^2} = f_{s,y}.$$
 (5.41)

In the following, we write the superfluid fraction along y: $f_s \equiv f_{s,y}$ as we always have $f_{s,x} = 1$.

5.3. DISCUSSION

5.3 Discussion

In this chapter, we applied the analysis performed by Leggett in 1970 in the context of supersolidity [36] to the case of a weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas at zero temperature and whose density profile n is modulated along y. We found that the superfluid fraction f_s in this system is given by the upper bound found by Leggett for the superfluid fraction in solids:

$$f_{\rm s} = \frac{L}{N \int \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{n(y)}}.\tag{5.42}$$

The superfluid density depends on the density profile n_0 of the atomic cloud and more precisely on the density profile along the modulation $n_0(y)$. We also showed that this superfluid fraction is given by the ratio of the effective mass m_y^* along the modulated direction and the mass m:

$$f_{\rm s} = \frac{m}{m_y^*}.\tag{5.43}$$

In a second section, we briefly discussed the sound propagation in quantum gases and derived a simple model to describe the sound propagation in the density-modulated weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas at T = 0. This simple model led us to a relation between the sound velocity along the two axes of the cloud and the ratio of the effective masses:

$$\left(\frac{c_y}{c_x}\right)^2 = \frac{m}{m_y^*}.\tag{5.44}$$

The experimental setup, described in Chapter 2, allows us to produce a density-modulated gas at $T \sim 0$. This provides an experimental method to test the equality deduced from Eq. (5.43) and Eq. (5.44):

$$\frac{L}{N\int\frac{\mathrm{d}y}{n(y)}} \stackrel{?}{=} \left(\frac{c_y}{c_x}\right)^2,\tag{5.45}$$

which links Leggett's integral to a transport quantity.

On the one hand, the Leggett integral Eq. (5.42) can be calculated from in-situ measurement of the density profile n of the atomic sample. On the other hand, we propose to measure the sound velocities c_y and c_x along the modulation and perpendicular to the modulation respectively. The description of the experimental method and the analysis we have performed, together with the experimental results, is the subject of the next chapter.

6

Measurement of the superfluid fraction in a density-modulated ultracold Bose gas at zero temperature

The uniform 3D or 2D weakly-interacting Bose gas at zero temperature exhibits Bose-Einstein condensation and superfluid properties. In the two-fluid model, the superfluid density n_s is predicted to be equal to the total density, i.e. the superfluid fraction is $f_s = 1$. We demonstrated in the previous chapter, by applying the same analysis as Leggett in 1970 [36], that in the presence of a breaking of translational invariance due to a periodic density modulation, the superfluid density is not equal to the total density and the superfluid fraction depends on the amplitude of the modulation. Leggett's results have never been proved experimentally and we describe in this chapter the first comparison of this result to a transport measurement.

In the first section, we describe the experimental protocol to measure the speed of sound in our planar Bose gas. Afterwards, we explain how we impose a density modulation to the atoms and calibrate their response. Finally, Leggett's integral is measured in the density-modulated atomic cloud from the speed of sound and from the in-situ density profiles.

6.1 Sound velocity measurement

Before getting to the heart of the matter, we describe in this section our experimental protocol to measure the sound velocity in a planar ultracold gas. This protocol is independent of the in-plane density profile.

The speed of sound in quantum gases has been the centre of interest of many experimental groups and we already mentioned in the previous chapter some remarkable experiments. Usually, the measurement of the sound velocity is performed by creating an excitation in the system and by monitoring its evolution. The excitation is created with a local deformation on the potential, which can be dynamically driven in time and space or adiabatically imposed and then removed abruptly¹ [47, 68, 69, 224]. The properties of the sound modes are determined from the time evolution of the density distribution, for instance by monitoring the position of the centre of mass.

¹The results of these two protocols were recently numerically compared for a 2D Bose gas across the BKT transition [250].



Figure 6.1: Magnitude of the total magnetic field B_{tot} after subtracting the magnetic field at the centre of the cloud $\Delta B_{\text{tot}} = B_{\text{tot}}(x, y, z) - B_{\text{tot}}(0, 0, 0)$ (a) along both axes of the cloud, when the quadrupolar field B_1 is centred of the atoms and (b) when we apply a bias field of 0 G (solid curve), 125 mG (dashed curve) and 250 mG (dotted curve) to shift the quadrupolar field centre along y. In (a) the difference between the x and y axes comes from the fact that the MOT coils, used to create the quadrupolar field, are oriented along the y-axis, and thus generate a stronger gradient in this direction.

6.1.1 Excitation of the atomic cloud

Sound propagation in a uniform 2D Bose gas has been studied in 2018 in our group [68]. This measurement was performed by modifying locally the bottom of the 2D box potential. The deformation (shaped as a potential step) was optically imprinted onto the atoms with an intensity modulator (see Chapter 2 for details). Two experimental protocols were explored: a driven regime protocol for which a time-dependent modulation is imposed to the system, or a quench protocol for which the free evolution of the system after a rapid perturbation of the density is monitored.

The protocol we present here will be implemented on atomic clouds whose in-plane density is modulated. We use a quench protocol with a different profile from the ones of 2018, as we imprint here a linear perturbation so that it is uniform across the atomic cloud². We prepare the atoms in a magnetic-sensitive state and we adiabatically raise a magnetic field gradient which creates a linear perturbation. The abrupt extinction of the magnetic field gradient creates an excitation of the atomic cloud. This method has been implemented in other groups [47, 251] and is detailed in the following.

Magnetic-induced excitation We prepare the atoms in the magnetic-sensitive state $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle$ and cool them down to the minimal temperature accessible $T \leq 20$ nK. The atoms are confined in the horizontal plane (xy) in a box shaped as a square of side L = 40 µm. A vertical magnetic field B = 3 G is applied and defines the quantization axis.

²Note that the ideal case would be to imprint the fundamental mode of the box potential, i.e. a sine perturbation. This could be performed by using the independent DMD with grey levels for instance. However, this DMD will be used to create a spatially-modulated potential onto the atoms (see Sec. 6.2) and it would be experimentally too challenging to imprint both the spatial modulation and the excitation from a single DMD. A third DMD could be installed on our setup, but this possibility was ruled out for practical reasons. Moreover, as we work in the perturbative regime, it does not matter that we do not imprint the fundamental mode.



Figure 6.2: Magnetic excitation. (a) Density of the cloud in the 2D box potential at rest. The density is homogeneous $n(x, y) = n_0$ over the whole sample. (b)-(c) Density of the cloud when the box potential is tilted along the y (resp. x) axis. The density is linear along y with $\partial n(x, y)/\partial x = 0$ and $\partial n(x, y)/\partial y = 2n_{\mathcal{E}}/L$ (resp. x).



Figure 6.3: In-situ image (right) and profiles of the atomic cloud (left) in the presence of a gradient along the x-axis with $\bar{B}_{2x} \sim 200 \text{ mG}$. Scale bar length: 10 µm.

In addition, we generate a quadrupolar magnetic field on the atoms, using the MOT coils³ (see Chapter 2). We define a coordinate system $(\boldsymbol{e}_x, \boldsymbol{e}_y, \boldsymbol{e}_z)$ centred on the atomic cloud and the quadrupolar field, centred in $C_{\text{grad}} \equiv (x_0, y_0, z_0)$, writes:

$$\boldsymbol{B}_{1}(x,y,z) = b_{0}' \left(-\frac{x-x_{0}}{2} \boldsymbol{e}_{x} + (y-y_{0}) \boldsymbol{e}_{y} - \frac{z-z_{0}}{2} \boldsymbol{e}_{z} \right),$$
(6.1)

where b'_0 is a static magnetic field gradient. The total magnetic field on the atoms is thus the sum of the quadrupolar field and the vertical field $B_{tot}(x, y, z) = Be_z + B_1(x, y, z)$. The potential felt by the atoms depends on the norm of the total magnetic field $B_{tot} = |B_{tot}|$ and reads:

$$V_{\rm mag} = -g_f \mu_B B_{\rm tot}. \tag{6.2}$$

The magnitude of the magnetic field close to the atoms when the quadrupolar field is centred on the cloud is shown in Fig. 6.1.a and is not linear but quadratic. However, the value of the gradient b'_0 is chosen small enough so that, in this configuration, the effective curvature of the potential across the cloud is small compared to its height. Indeed, we fix b'_0 so that the in-plane frequencies of the harmonic trap are $\omega_x/2\pi, \omega_y/2\pi < 1$ Hz, which corresponds to a modification of the potential of 0.2%. In order to create a non-negligible magnetic field tilt over the atomic cloud, we adiabatically move the centre C_{grad} of the quadrupolar field. We use bias coils placed near the glass-cell to create additional small static magnetic fields on

³Note that we could have directly generated the magnetic field B in the horizontal plane with anti-Helmholtz coils but we need to keep a strong vertical field for technical reasons.

the axes x and y. This additional magnetic field writes:

$$\boldsymbol{B_2} = B_{2x}\boldsymbol{e}_x + B_{2y}\boldsymbol{e}_y, \tag{6.3}$$

where \bar{B}_{2x} and \bar{B}_{2y} are algebraic values. In order to have a proper control on the amplitude and direction of the displacement of the quadrupole field, we use bipolar power supply (High-Finesse BCS 2/10) to control the magnetic field generated by the bias coils.

As the distance between the centre of the atomic cloud and the centre of the quadrupolar field increases, the tilt of the potential increases along the direction of the displacement. In Fig. 6.1.b, we show the magnetic field felt by the atoms when we generate a bias field of 0, 125, and 250 mG along the *y*-axis. The magnetic field at the centre of the cloud and the amplitude of the gradient on the atoms increases. In Fig. 6.1.b, we display the magnitude of the magnetic field over a range of $150 \cdot L$ to highlight the shift of the quadrupolar field centre. In practice, the curvature of the magnetic field over the atomic cloud is negligible and the variation of the magnetic field is mostly linear. A scheme of the density profiles Fig. 6.2 displays the cloud at rest and in the presence of magnetic field gradient. We also show in figure Fig. 6.3 an image of the atoms in the presence of the magnetic field gradient.

We excite the atoms as follows: we adiabatically ramp up the current in the MOT and bias coils during 50 ms and generate a magnetic gradient on the atoms. We hold the atoms in the tilted potential during 100 ms and then instantaneously switch off the current in the bias coils. The magnetic gradient is subsequently switched off in ~ 1 ms as we shift back abruptly the quadrupolar field to the centre of the atomic cloud.

We characterise the strength of the excitation by comparing the tilt of the box potential to its height. In practice, we compute the height of the magnetic potential V_{mag} at half the side box, using Eq. (6.2), and compare it to the chemical potential μ_0 of the unperturbed atomic cloud. The excitation is then characterised by the quantity \mathcal{E} defined as

$$\mathcal{E} = \frac{|\delta V_{\text{mag}}|/2}{\mu_0}, \qquad \delta V_{\text{mag}} = -g_f \mu_B \delta B_{\text{tot}}, \qquad \delta B_{\text{tot}} = b'_{\alpha} L, \qquad (6.4)$$

where b'_{α} is the gradient along the axis $\alpha \in \{x, y\}$ and the total magnetic field is $B_{tot} = Be_z + B_1 + B_2$.

Calibration of the magnetic field gradient The characterisation of the excitation strength requires the measurement of the magnetic field gradient across the cloud. We measure this gradient by performing Ramsey interferometry. Let us assume that the strongest gradient axis is $\alpha \in \{x, y\}$. We start from an atomic cloud in $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle$ in the presence of the quadrupolar field B_1 and we perform Ramsey interferometry on the magnetic-fieldsensitive transition $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle \rightarrow |f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$. More precisely, we send two microwave pulses of duration $\delta t = 10$ µs separated by a duration $\tau \gg \delta t$, and we assume that the atoms do not move during τ . The atoms do not feel the same magnetic field along the axis α , so the shift δ to the resonance $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle \rightarrow |f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$ is spatially dependent. The transfer probability depends on δ and thus on space. After the second mw pulse, we observe interference fringes of spatial period i and angle $\theta = \pi/2$ with respect to the strongest direction of the gradient and resulting force. The probability to transfer the atoms into $|f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$ writes:

$$\mathcal{P}(\alpha) = \cos^2 \left(\frac{V_{\text{mag}}(\alpha)\tau}{\hbar} \right), \tag{6.5}$$



Figure 6.4: Measured OD after Ramsey interferometry on the transition $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle \rightarrow |f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$. (a) The quadrupolar field is shifted along the *y*-axis by varying \bar{B}_{2y} and fixing $\bar{B}_{2x} \sim 0.3$ G. (b) The quadrupolar is shifted along the *x*-axis by varying \bar{B}_{2x} and fixing $\bar{B}_{2y} \sim 0.1$ G. The components of the bias field \bar{B}_{2x} and \bar{B}_{2y} are indicated for each image together with the duration τ between the Ramsey pulses. The magnitude and orientation of the resulting force is indicated with a red arrow. The longest arrow corresponds to a gradient $b'_{y} = 19 \,\mu\text{G}/\mu\text{m}$.

where, considering a linear magnetic field, the potential is written as follows:

$$V_{\rm mag}(\alpha) = -g_f \mu_B b'_\alpha \alpha. \tag{6.6}$$

We measure the fringe spacing *i* of the Ramsey interferometry pattern and deduce the magnetic field gradient b'_{α} from the periodicity of Eq. (6.5):

$$b'_{\alpha} = \frac{\hbar\pi}{g_f \mu_B} \frac{1}{i\tau}.\tag{6.7}$$

In practice, we adjust the duration separating the mw pulses τ , from a few to a tens of milliseconds, to have four or five fringes on the cloud for each gradient we probe. We show in Fig. 6.4 the typical Ramsey signals⁴ obtained when we vary the components of the magnetic field B_2 individually. This method allows us also to measure the direction of the resulting force $F_{\text{mag}} = -\nabla V_{\text{mag}}$, as we obtain the direction of the wave vector of the Ramsey fringes by performing Fourier transform. While we shift the quadrupolar field along the axis α , the resulting force F_{mag} may not be aligned along α because of the presence of residual magnetic fields. In this case, the fringes are not perpendicular to the axis α . We correct these imperfections with the bias coils perpendicular to the α -axis.

6.1.2 Sound propagation

As already mentioned, the atoms are prepared in the state $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle$ at the lowest temperature achievable with our cooling steps $T \leq 20 \,\mathrm{nK}$. The surface density in the flat-

 $^{^{4}}$ As the in-situ images can be misleading, we emphasise that there is no periodic density modulation yet and those are interference patterns only.



Figure 6.5: Oscillations of the centre of mass along the x-axis (resp y-axis), $\langle x \rangle$ (resp $\langle y \rangle$), when the excitation propagates along x (resp. y) (black points) (resp (blue squares)). The solid lines are fit to the data, adjusted using the function Eq. (6.8). The centre of mass oscillates at a frequency $\nu_x = 27.4(2)$ Hz when we excite the atoms along the x direction and at a frequency $\nu_y = 27.6(2)$ Hz when we excite them along the y direction. These frequencies correspond to a sound velocity c = 2.2(2) mm/s. Vertical errorbars are standard errors of the mean.

bottom box is fixed to $n_0 = 60(1) \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$. We adiabatically ramp up the quadrupolar field B_1 and the bias field B_2 oriented along an axis $\alpha \in \{x, y\}$. We choose the magnetic field B_2 so that the gradient felt by the atoms is $b'_{\alpha} = 3.4 \,\mu\text{G}/\mu\text{m}$, which corresponds to an excitation (see Eq. (6.4)) $\mathcal{E} \sim 4\%$. We hold the atoms in this configuration for 100 ms and then we abruptly switch off B_2 , exciting the atoms along α . The extinction of the bias field set the time origin t = 0. We let the atomic cloud oscillate for a duration t and then partially transfer the atoms to $|f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$ where we measure the optical density (OD). We obtain the surface density profile in $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle$ from this OD.

The density profiles are integrated along the direction perpendicular to the excitation. We obtain a 1D density profile $n(\alpha)$ from which we calculate the position of the centre of mass. The centre of mass $\langle \alpha \rangle$ oscillates in time as the excitation propagates back and forth. The frequency of the oscillations ν is then proportional to the sound velocity $c = 2L\nu$. A typical evolution of the centre of mass is shown in Fig. 6.5 for an excitation along the x-axis and an excitation along the y-axis. We fit a damped oscillation $\langle \alpha \rangle(t)$ to the data with:

$$\langle \alpha \rangle(t) = A \exp\left(-\frac{\Gamma t}{2}\right) \left[\frac{\Gamma}{2\omega}\sin(\omega t) + \cos(\omega t)\right],$$
(6.8)

with an amplitude A, a damping parameter Γ and a frequency $\nu = \omega/2\pi$. In Fig. 6.5, we find that the centre of mass oscillates at a frequency $\nu_x = 27.4(2)$ Hz and $\nu_y = 27.6(2)$ Hz when we excite the atoms in the x and y direction respectively. These almost equal frequencies correspond to a sound velocity of c = 2.20(1) mm/s. As we work at near zero temperature and in a homogeneous cloud here, this sound velocity is expected to match Bogoliubov sound velocity $c_{\rm B} = \hbar \sqrt{\tilde{g}n_0}/m$. In this particular case, we assume $c = c_{\rm B}$ to calibrate our mean density⁵ and find $n_0 = 60.0(3) \,\mu {\rm m}^{-2}$.

⁵We also performed a Ramsey spectroscopy on the clock transition, as described in Chapter 2, to calibrate independently the density. This calibration gives a similar result but appears to be less robust: Indeed, we generate a stronger vertical magnetic field than usual (B = 3 G) and thus we have a larger uncertainty on the Ramsey interferometry result.

In practice, one can argue that the excitation imposed to the atoms may excite many spatial modes. The oscillations of the density defect along the excited axis α can be decomposed into Fourier series:

$$n(\alpha) - \bar{n}(\alpha) = \sum_{j=1}^{+\infty} A_j(t) \cos(j\frac{\pi}{L}\alpha), \qquad (6.9)$$

where $A_j(t)$ is the amplitude of the *j*-th mode⁶. The resulting oscillations of the centre of mass thus includes the contributions of many excited modes, whereas we are interested in the fundamental mode only, whose amplitude is given by:

$$A_1(t) = \frac{2}{L} \int_0^L \left[n(\alpha) - \bar{n}(\alpha) \right] \cos(\frac{\pi}{L}\alpha) \,\mathrm{d}\alpha.$$
(6.10)

As a safety check, we also measured the coefficient $A_1(t)$. We verified that, for the range of excitation magnitudes we use, the oscillation frequencies of $A_1(t)$ and $\langle \alpha \rangle(t)$ are always similar within errorbars.

6.2 Density-modulated 2D Bose gases

Our main goal in this chapter is to probe the superfluid fraction in a density-modulated gas at zero temperature. In this section, we describe how we break translational invariance in the bulk by imprinting a periodic potential:

$$V(y) = V_0 \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda}y\right), \qquad V_0 \ge 0, \qquad (6.11)$$

of spatial period λ , onto a cold uniform atomic cloud. Afterwards, we calibrate the response of the atoms to this modulated potential.

6.2.1 Imprinting a modulated density profile

Atoms are initially trapped in a 2D flat-bottom potential and we use an independent DMD to shine onto the atoms a repulsive light of wavelength 532 nm and whose intensity profile is shaped as a sine⁷. The effective waist of the light beam on the atomic plane w = 85 µm is large compared to the atomic cloud, so that the intensity profile over the atoms is almost uniform for a uniform DMD pattern.

In practice, the DMD behaviour depends on the working regime. Here we will work deep in the grey-level regime as we will imprint a continuous modulation. We therefore need a large density of mirrors turned "off" in order to locally imprint grey values. In this context, one can show that the DMD plays the role of an *amplitude modulator* [102]. More specifically, the light intensity sent onto the atoms scales quadratically with the reflectance of the DMD. Therefore, we shape the intensity profile of the light as a sine by dithering the following pattern on the DMD:

$$\mathcal{I}(x,y) = \sqrt{\beta + \gamma \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda}y\right)},\tag{6.12}$$

where the axes x and y are the atomic image plane coordinates. The profile \mathcal{I} is dithered using the error diffusion algorithm. We choose $\beta = 0.5$ and $\gamma = 0.4$ in order to avoid defects

⁶We choose the cosine basis to ensure that the velocity field cancels on the edges of the box.

⁷We do not use the atomic response to the potential for correcting its profile, i.e. we do not perform any feedback loop between the atomic and potential profiles as discussed in Ref. [51].



Figure 6.6: DMD pattern to imprint a sine on the atoms. (a) Continuous pattern \mathcal{I} (see Eq. (6.12)) with $\beta = 0.5$ and $\gamma = 0.4$. (b) Dithered pattern $\mathcal{I}_{dithered}$ actually displayed on the DMD.

at the minima and maxima of the signal and so that $0 < \mathcal{I}(x, y) < 1$. There is then a small light offset onto the atoms at the minima, but the subsequent scattering rate remains low. We show in Fig. 6.6 the pattern \mathcal{I} we generate, and the dithered pattern $\mathcal{I}_{dithered}$ displayed on the DMD.

There are two imaging systems on the setup allowing us to characterise the intensity profile that we send onto the atoms and the resulting potential. First, the green light beam at 532 nm used to create the modulated potential is collected on a control camera (see Fig. 6.7). This camera (A) is placed on the conjugate plane of the atoms so that we image the light intensity profile imprinted on the atoms. This imaging system has a resolution $\leq 1 \,\mu\text{m}$ and a magnification 3.2. Second, our usual vertical absorption imaging of wavelength 780 nm is used to image the atomic density profiles (see Fig. 6.7). This imaging system (B) has a similar resolution $\leq 1 \,\mu\text{m}$ and a magnification 11. We first use the control camera (A) to image the light intensity profile on the atomic plane and verify that we design well the potential.

We vary the light intensity and show in Fig. 6.8 the intensity profiles imaged on the control camera with a lattice of period $\lambda = 4 \, \mu m$. As expected, we observe a sinusoidal modulation of the intensity along y. When we increase the light intensity on the DMD, the contrast $\mathcal{C} = (I_{\text{max}} - I_{\text{min}})/(I_{\text{max}} + I_{\text{min}})$ of the fringes increases linearly, $I_{\text{max,min}}$ being the intensity maxima and minima. We verified that we imprint a sine for all the range of intensities used. Moreover, we checked that we observed a sinusoidal modulation of the intensity for different lattice spacings. As the lattice period increases, the number of periods over the cloud decreases and the measurement of the contrast may be less robust. We therefore probed two lattice spatial phases ϕ and $\phi + \pi$, for lattice spacings $\lambda \geq 8 \, \mu m$, and we verified that the measured contrast is phase independent. For each of those patterns, we varied the intensity of the light shined on the DMD and measured the contrast of the fringes on the camera control. We show in Fig. 6.9 the contrast on the control camera for a given intensity with respect to the different lattice spacings we probed. For lattices with period $\lambda \geq 4 \,\mu\text{m}$, we find a mean contrast $\bar{\mathcal{C}} = 0.75(1)$ close to the expected value $\mathcal{C} = \gamma/\beta = 0.8$. For a lattice spacing of 2 µm, the contrast is attenuated. The pattern on the control camera starts indeed to blur, as a result of the finite optical resolution of our imaging.

As a conclusion, we observe the expected sine profile for a large range of intensities and lattice spacings λ . The results we will present in this chapter were obtained with a lattice spacing of 4 µm, for which we do not observe any loss of contrast on the control camera.



Figure 6.7: Representation of the optical system used to create and image the sinusoidal potential. We shine a DMD with a light beam of intensity I and wavelength 532 nm (green). The green light reflected towards the atoms has a spatially modulated intensity profile. The light passes through a first microscope objective of numerical aperture (NA) 0.4 before it reaches the atoms. Afterwards, the green light goes through a second microscope objective of same NA and is finally collected on a control camera. This camera (A) is placed on the image plane of the microscope so that we image the light intensity profile seen by the atoms. This imaging has a resolution $\leq 1 \,\mu\text{m}$ and a magnification of 3.2. The green light is mixed with a red light beam of wavelength 780 nm used to perform absorption imaging of the atoms. This red light beam passes through the two microscope objectives before being collected on a second camera (B). This imaging system has a similar resolution $\leq 1 \,\mu\text{m}$ and a magnification of 11.

Finally, we have to calibrate the potential depth V_0 . A first method would be to estimate V_0 from the intensity I and the waist w of the light beam, however, it would lead to large systematic errors. Indeed, the light passes through a DMD and a microscope objective before reaching the atoms (see Fig. 6.7), which makes difficult to estimate the real light intensity on the atomic plane. We then prefer to calibrate the potential depth from the atomic response. This calibration is performed with the usual absorption imaging (see Fig. 6.7) and detailed in the following section. The atomic density profiles are however imaged with a different camera and light beam so the imaged profiles are affected differently by the finite spatial resolution.



Figure 6.8: (a)-(c) Images of the intensity profiles on the control camera for a light intensity ratio of 1, 2 and 3 respectively (scale bar: 10 µm on the atomic plane). The colorbar indicates the normalised number of counts by pixel \mathcal{N} . (d)-(e) Averaged one-dimensional profiles along the modulation for a light intensity ratio 1, 2 and 3 respectively. The black solid lines are sine functions adjusted to the data.



Figure 6.9: Contrast of the fringes C on the control camera for a given intensity I as a function of the lattice periods λ (filled points). For large lattice spacings, we also imprinted lattices with a π -phase shift (empty points) and we confirm that the contrast is phase-independent.



Figure 6.10: Atomic contrast C_a of the density profile for $\lambda = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$ as a function of the potential depth V_0 , obtained from GP simulations (solid line) performed in the group and the perturbative model (dotted line) described by Eq. (6.14). The shaded area represents the perturbative regime used to perform the calibration. The dashed vertical line indicates the value of μ_0 .

6.2.2 Atomic response

In order to calibrate the potential depth, we image the density profile n at zero temperature and deep in the Thomas-Fermi regime. In a regime where the spatial scale of the perturbation is much larger than the healing length $\xi \sim 0.2 \,\mu\text{m}$, i.e with lattices of large period and low light intensities, one can usually apply the local density approximation (LDA), which yields:

$$n(y) = \frac{\mu_0 - V(y)}{g} = \frac{\mu_0}{g} + \frac{V_0}{g} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda}\right),$$
(6.13)

where $\mu_0 = gn_0$ is the unperturbed chemical potential. Therefore, the density profiles obtained within LDA match the potential. For instance, here we would have expected to image density profiles with sinusoidal modulations. For the modulated potentials we consider, however, the spatial scale of the perturbation is too large and we must add some correcting terms to this simple model. We distinguish two regimes:

- the regime of small amplitudes of modulation with lattice spacings λ large compared to the camera pixelsize 1.15 µm, where the deviations from the LDA are small.
- the rest of the parameter diagram, where LDA fails.

Protocol The idea is the following: we calibrate the potential depth in the first regime, i.e. in the regime of shallow potentials. There, the Gross-Pitaevskii (GP) result (obtained from numerical simulations performed in the group) is well-approximated by static perturbation theory [87]. This perturbative derivation (see appendix B) yields a potential depth V_0 linearly dependent on the contrast C_a of the density profile but dependent also on the wave vector of the lattice $k = 2\pi/\lambda$:

$$V_0 = \left(\mu_0 + \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{4m}\right) \mathcal{C}_{a.} \tag{6.14}$$

We show in Fig. 6.10 the contrast C_a , obtained from this perturbative relation and from the GP simulations for a lattice of period $\lambda = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$. Fixing the mean density to $n_0 = 60 \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$, we find that the two curves are superimposed up to $V_0 \sim 0.6 \,\mu_0$.



Figure 6.11: (a) Contrast $C_a = n_1/n_0$ for a lattice spacing of $\lambda = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$ (blue points), $\lambda = 8 \,\mu\text{m}$ (violet pentagons), $\lambda = 16 \,\mu\text{m}$ (black diamonds) and $\lambda = 32 \,\mu\text{m}$ (red squares), as a function of the light intensity⁸*I*. (a)-(c) Distance (rms) *d* from the adjusted sine function Eq. (6.15) and the measured density profiles n(y) with respect with the intensity *I* for a lattice spacing of $\lambda = 4$, 8, 16, 32 μm respectively. Data extracted from a preliminary analysis.

Experimentally, one can then calibrate the potential depth by measuring the contrast of density profiles from which we calculate V_0 with Eq. (6.14) up to $V_0 \sim 0.6 \mu_0$ (i.e. $V_0 \sim 30 \text{ nK}$ in Fig. 6.10), where the perturbative regime ends.

Measurement on density profiles We image the atoms in spatially modulated potentials created with various lattice spacings and light intensities. In practice, we prepare the atoms in the state $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle$ at a temperature $T \leq 20$ nK. We imprint the sine potential with a given light intensity I and spacing λ . After a waiting time of 100 ms, we partially transfer the atoms in the state $|f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$. We measure the OD in $|f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$ and calculate the density profile n(x, y) from this measurement. The profiles are then integrated along the x direction, along which the density is uniform.

In order to extract the amplitude of modulation, we assume that the density profile is welldescribed by a sine and we adjust the following function to the modulated profile n(y):

$$n_0 + n_1 \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda}y\right),\tag{6.15}$$

where n_1 is the amplitude of the modulation and n_0 the mean density. This function is expected to fit the profiles n(y) for $V_0 \ll \mu_0$, and thus this approximation is suitable for the regime used for the calibration. We show in Fig. 6.13 a catalogue of density profiles observed for lattice spacings $\lambda = 4, 8, 16, 32 \,\mu\text{m}$ and two different light intensities. In every case, we observe a modulation of the surface density n(x, y) with the period λ .

The atomic contrast $C_{\rm a} = n_1/n_0$ measured using Eq. (6.15) is displayed in Fig. 6.11 for four different lattice spacings. The depletion increases linearly in the regime of low intensities and then saturates. We remind that the fit function Eq. (6.15) is suitable for the low amplitude regime only and we show in Fig. 6.11.b-c-d-e the rms distance d between the sinusoidal fit to the data and the density profiles. We observe that d increases strongly when the atomic contrast saturates. For higher light intensities, the sine function does not capture the whole density profile and this is why we obtain depletions $n_1/n_0 > 1$.

⁸The intensity I of the light beam is collected by a photodiode and hence proportional to a voltage.



Figure 6.12: Potential depth V_0 for a given intensity I, extracted in the linear regime $V_0 < 0.6 \mu_0$, as a function of the lattice period and for two different lattice phases ϕ . The potential measured for $\lambda = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$ is $\sim 30 \,\%$ smaller than the potential measured with lattices of period $\lambda \geq 8 \,\mu\text{m}$. Indeed, the amplitude of the modulation n_1 measured with a lattice of period $\lambda = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$ is attenuated by our finite imaging resolution and gives an artificially smaller potential. Thus, the potential depth is calibrated from the lattices of large periods ($\lambda \geq 8 \,\mu\text{m}$) and its value is represented with the horizontal black dashed line together with its standard deviation (violet shade). We also verified that this value is independent of the lattice phase ϕ . Data extracted from a preliminary analysis.

Calculation of the potential depth We calculate the potential depth V_0 in the linear regime, i.e up to $V_0 < 0.6 \mu_0$, using the perturbative model and the measured values of n_1/n_0 :

$$V_0 = \left(\mu_0 + \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{4m}\right) \frac{n_1}{n_0},\tag{6.16}$$

and we extrapolate it for large depletions. The potential depth for a given intensity I is shown in Fig. 6.12 as a function of the lattice spacing. As we apply the correction to the LDA, depending on the wave vector k, we expect to correct the large difference between the depletion for a lattice of spacing $\lambda = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$ and lattices of larger spacing, observed in Fig. 6.11. The potential measured with the perturbative model for lattice spacings $\lambda \geq 8 \,\mu\text{m}$ are similar. However, the discrepancy with the lattice of period $\lambda = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$ remains, as the measured value is ~ 30 % smaller. We confirmed previously by using our first imaging system (control camera A) that the light intensity profile I reaching the atoms has the same mean and contrast for lattices of period $\lambda \geq 4 \,\mu\text{m}$. We thus interpret this deviation as a limitation of the finite spatial resolution of the second imaging system (B), at 780 nm, which artificially reduces the amplitude n_1 measured for lattices of small period and hence decreases the potential depth. Finally, we assume that the atoms feel the same potential depth for all lattices of period $\lambda \geq 4 \,\mu\text{m}$ and thus calibrate V_0 using the atomic response to lattice potentials of large spacing $\lambda \geq 8 \,\mu\text{m}$. We therefore find a linear relation between the potential depth V_0 and the light intensity I yielding $V_0 = (54.4 \cdot I) \,\text{nK}$.

Attenuation of the density modulation by our imaging system The attenuation of the density signal can be understood by considering that the two imaging systems are well-described by a Gaussian point spread function (PSF) written:

$$\mathcal{P} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma^2} \exp\left(-\mathbf{r}^2/2\sigma^2\right), \qquad \mathbf{r} = (x, y). \tag{6.17}$$
In this case, a sine profile written as Eq. (6.15) would undergo the following attenuation:

$$\mathcal{P} \otimes n(y) \longrightarrow n_{\text{PSF}}(y) = n_0 + n_1 \exp\left(-\frac{k^2 \sigma^2}{2}\right) \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda}y\right).$$
 (6.18)

We adjusted the depletion n_1/n_0 measured with the absorption imaging (B) with the function Eq. (6.18) and we find $\sigma_{780} = 0.53(6)$ µm. This value is close to the ones usually measured on the experiment. The difference between the two imaging systems can be explained first by the light wavelength difference as there is less diffraction with a 532 nm light than a 780 nm light. Moreover, the modelling of absorption imaging of atoms is always challenging, as we do not completely control the dynamics of the atoms during the imaging light pulse.

To summarize, we verified that we imprint the good potential, i.e. a sinusoidal modulation, on the light intensity profiles. We also used the atoms in the regime of shallow lattice potentials to calibrate the potential depth they feel. We can finally move to the heart of the chapter and measure the superfluid fraction in a density-modulated weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas at zero temperature.



Figure 6.13: Images of the atomic cloud in a periodic potential of period $\lambda = 4 \,\mu m$ (a)-(b), $\lambda = 8 \,\mu m$ (c)-(d), $\lambda = 16 \,\mu m$ (e)-(f) and $\lambda = 32 \,\mu m$ (g)-(h) (scale bar: 10 μm). The average profiles in the direction x (black squares) and y (blue points) are shown on the left. The blue solid lines are fit to the data in the y-axis, using a sine function. The light intensity is doubled between the left and the right columns. Here, the in-plane confinement is a square box of side $L = 32 \,\mu m$.

6.3 Breaking translational invariance in a superfluid

We probe the zero-temperature superfluid fraction in a density-modulated planar Bose gas with two experimental protocols. In the first part of this section, we describe the measurement of the sound propagation along the two axes of an atomic cloud modulated by a one-dimensional sinusoidal potential. We vary the potential depth V_0 of the lattice and deduce Leggett's integral (as defined in Ref. [36] and derived for our system in the previous chapter) from the sound velocities along and perpendicular to the modulation:

$$f_s = \left(\frac{c_y}{c_x}\right)^2. \tag{6.19}$$

Afterwards, we describe the measurement of Leggett's integral from the density profiles n:

$$f_s = \frac{L}{N \int \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{n(y)}}.$$
(6.20)

This measurement requires to work with in-situ images of the density-modulated cloud. As mentioned in the previous section, measured density profiles are affected by our finite spatial resolution and therefore we cannot directly compute Leggett's integral. We describe an analysis method which allows us to restore the signal and extract a partial measurement of Leggett's integral.

Experimentally, we take two data sets for a given potential depth: we measure the equilibrium density profile and then perform a measurement of the sound velocity in the same conditions using the protocol described in Sec. 6.1. The preparation of the atomic sample is therefore the same for both experiments. The atoms are cooled down to $T \leq 20$ nK in the magnetic-sensitive state $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle$. After letting the atoms thermalize, we adiabatically switch on the lattice potential

$$V(y) = V_0 \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda}y\right),\tag{6.21}$$

with a given potential depth V_0 and a lattice period $\lambda = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$. The mean density is fixed to $n_0 = 60(1) \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$ for all potential depths probed.

6.3.1 Sound propagation in a gas of modulated density

We study sound propagation in a density-modulated atomic sample by following the experimental protocol described in Sec. 6.1. After having prepared the atoms in the modulated potential Eq. (6.21) of potential depth V_0 , we adiabatically switch on a linear magnetic field along the density modulation (y-axis) which tilts the potential felt by the atoms. At a time t = 0 we abruptly switch off the magnetic field gradient and we monitor the atomic response to this excitation for a duration $t \sim 200$ ms. We perform the same experiment by generating a magnetic excitation along the x-axis, i.e perpendicular to the density modulation.

The evolution of the position of the centre of mass is measured along each axis and we report in Fig. 6.14.a an example of measured signals. The position of the centre of mass oscillates and we obtain the sound velocity c in both directions by measuring its oscillation frequency $\nu = c/2L$. We show in Fig. 6.14.b the sound velocities along the modulation c_y and perpendicular to the modulation c_x as a function of the potential depth V_0 . As expected, the sound velocity along the density modulation decreases when the potential depth increases, as the depletion of the atomic cloud and the effective mass m^* becomes larger. We observe a slight



Figure 6.14: Sound propagation. (a) Oscillations of the centre of mass along the x (black squares) and y directions (blue points) after a magnetic excitation of the cloud. Vertical errorbars are standard errors of the mean. (b) Sound velocities along the density modulation (blue points) and perpendicular to the modulation (black squares) as a function of the amplitude V_0 of the sine potential. Horizontal errorbars are standard deviations smaller than the size points. Vertical errorbars of 1 Hz are estimated from a statistical error. Data extracted from a preliminary analysis.

increase of the sound velocity along the axis perpendicular to the modulation because of the modification of the density distribution⁹.

Finally, we report in Fig. 6.16 the superfluid fraction obtained from the measurement of the sound velocity as a function of the potential depth V_0 normalised to the chemical potential μ_0 and discuss our measurement in section Sec. 6.3.3.

6.3.2 Leggett's integral from density profiles

The measurement of the superfluid fraction following Leggett's integral Eq. (6.20) requires to measure the density profile n(y) at equilibrium. After the preparation of the atoms in $|f = 1, m_f = -1\rangle$ in the presence of the periodic potential V(y) of potential depth V_0 , we take ten images of the atomic cloud by partially transferring it in the state $|f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$. The density profiles are calculated from the OD measured in $|f = 2, m_f = 0\rangle$, as usual.

As mentioned in the section Sec. 6.2, our absorption imaging is limited by the finite spatial resolution for a lattice period of $\lambda = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$ and we are not able to properly measure the amplitude of the modulation on the atoms. This prohibits a direct numerical integration of the raw density profiles. We propose here a method to correct the effect of the finite spatial resolution. This method relies on the relation established in Sec. 6.2 between the potential depth V_0 and the *real* amplitude of the modulation n_1^c in the limit of low potential depth:

$$V_0 = \left(g + \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{4mn_0}\right) n_1^{\rm c}.$$
 (6.22)

In Sec. 6.2.2, we calibrated the potential depth V_0 for a given light intensity I. Therefore we use this calibrated value to compute a correction factor $r = n_1^c/n_1$ to the measured amplitude

⁹In the previous chapter, we showed that the speed of sound depends on the density via the pressure $P = \mathcal{F}(n)$. Indeed, in the homogeneous direction, the speed of sound writes $c_x = \mathcal{F}'(n)/m$ and thus depends on the density distribution.



Figure 6.15: Corrected contrast $C_a = n_1^c/n_0$ induced by a periodic potential of period $\lambda = 4\,\mu\text{m}$ as a function of the potential depth V_0 (blue points). We obtain depletions larger than 1 for large potential depths because the contribution of higher harmonics on the density profiles are filtered out by the absorption imaging system. The solid black line is the result of Gross-Pitaevskii simulations without spatial filtering of the density profiles. As expected, the depletion saturates to one. The dashed black line is the result of Gross-Pitaevskii simulations where the density profile is filtered and we extract the contribution of the fundamental mode only, as for the experimental data. The dotted black lines is the perturbative model Eq. (6.16) used to calibrate the potential V_0 and the correction factor r. This calibration was performed on potential values up to $V_0 < 0.6\,\mu_0$ with the same mean density n_0 . The limit of the calibration regime is represented by the vertical grey dotted line. The grey vertical dashed line indicates the value of the chemical potential μ_0 of the atoms without modulation and with the same mean density n_0 . Errorbars are standard deviations and horizontal errorbars are smaller than the point size. Data extracted from a preliminary analysis.

 n_1 following:

$$V_0 = \left(g + \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{4mn_0}\right) rn_1.$$
 (6.23)

The correction factor r, defined for a 4 µm-period lattice, is then calculated in the perturbative regime and extrapolated for all probed potential depths. We find r = 1.45(9). As emphasised earlier, we fit the density profiles n(y) with a sine function in the perturbative regime. For deeper lattices, this approximation breaks and the density profiles can be decomposed in Fourier series. There are therefore two important points to consider:

- The correction of the atomic signal amplitude allows us to correct the amplitude of the *fundamental spatial mode* only, i.e. the sine contribution of period λ . Indeed, the calibration of the correction factor is performed in the perturbative regime where the contribution of the higher harmonics is negligible and is not taken into account.
- Moreover, experimental access to the higher harmonic amplitudes is in all cases compromised by the fact that our optical resolution $\sim 1 \,\mu\text{m}$ is not small compared to the period of the first harmonic $\lambda/2 = 2 \,\mu\text{m}$. In conclusion, the absorption imaging system acts as a low pass filter and our measurement of Leggett's integral is therefore limited to the effect of the spatial density modulation with the period λ .

We show in Fig. 6.15 the *corrected* contrast $C_a = n_1^c/n_0$ as a function of the potential depth V_0 , for the complete experimental data set. The data are compared to numerical GP simulations performed in the group, for which the depletion saturates at one. We also show

numerical GP simulations where the depletion n_1/n_0 is obtained by keeping the fundamental mode only of the density profile, as for the experimental data. We also display the result of the perturbative expansion Eq. (6.16). By construction, the data taken with $V_0 < 0.6 \,\mu_0$ lies on the perturbative result (superimposed with the GP simulation in this regime). When the potential depth V_0 increases, the corrected depletion follows the result obtained from the fundamental mode of the GP simulations. For potential depths larger than μ_0 , we obtain depletions larger than one $n_1^c/n_0 > 1$ because the effect of the higher harmonics in the density response are filtered out.

In summary, we are able to restore the signal of the fundamental spatial mode. For each potential depth probed, we fit the density profiles n(y) with the sine function:

$$n_0 + n_1 \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda}y\right). \tag{6.24}$$

We obtain the mean density (experimentally fixed to $n_0 = 60(1) \,\mu\text{m}^{-2}$) and the measured amplitude n_1 , from which we calculate the corrected amplitude $n_1^c = rn_1$. Assuming that we have a sinusoidal density modulation of period λ , mean n_0 and amplitude n_1^c , the computation of Leggett's integral Eq. (6.20) is analytic and yields:

$$f_{\rm s} = \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{n_1^{\rm c}}{n_0}\right)^2}.$$
 (6.25)

In the next section, we show in Fig. 6.16 the superfluid fraction computed with Eq. (6.25) and compare it to the result obtained from the sound measurement.

6.3.3 Final result and discussion

The superfluid fraction, given by Leggett's integral in our system, is probed for different potential depths and with two methods: by measuring the sound velocities along the modulated and homogeneous density profiles, and by measuring the density profiles. The results of these two measurements are shown in Fig. 6.16 as a function of the normalised potential depth V_0/μ_0 . While the superfluid fraction is predicted to be $f_s = 1$ in a zero-temperature homogeneous superfluid, we observe a superfluid fraction decreasing when the potential depth increases. The results from the two measurements are in good agreement up to $V_0/\mu_0 \sim 1.15$. The discrepancy for larger depths can be explained by the fact that the superfluid fraction extracted from the in-situ analysis is performed on a signal spatially filtered by the absorption imaging, where only the fundamental spatial mode of the density profile is taken into account. The experimental data are compared to GP simulations with the full density profile and GP simulations with a filtered signal, keeping the fundamental modulation only. On the one hand, Leggett's integral measured from the speed of sound agrees well with the GP simulations calculated with the complete density signal. On the other hand, results from density profiles are closer to the GP simulations obtained with the filtered density, as expected. For potential depth $V_0/\mu_0 \gtrsim 1.15$, the depletion of the atomic cloud is $n_1^c/n_0 \geq 1$, as shown in Fig. 6.15. Therefore, Leggett's integral is not defined, and the superfluid fraction obtained from in-situ profiles is *manually* set to zero. Finally, even with a partial measurement of in-situ density profiles, we observe Leggett's integral decreasing when the translational invariance is broken.

These two protocols provide a robust measurement of the reduction of the superfluid fraction down to $f_{\rm s} \sim 0.3$ in the presence of a density-modulation and at zero temperature, and could be improved with minor experimental modifications.



Figure 6.16: Superfluid fraction f_s in a density-modulated 2D Bose gas at zero temperature as a function of the potential depth V_0 normalised to the chemical potential μ_0 . The superfluid fraction is extracted from sound propagation (violet squares) and from the estimate of Leggett's integral on in-situ images (red points). The measurement on in-situ images is partial as we extract only the fundamental mode of the spatial modulation. The superfluid fraction measured from in-situ images is set to zero at large lattice amplitudes $V_0/\mu_0 \gtrsim 1.15$. Indeed, for large values the spatially filtered contrast goes beyond one and Leggett's integral is not defined anymore. The sound measurement gives finite superfluid fraction for all the lattice amplitudes probed. The superfluid fraction is also displayed for the GP simulations on filtered density profiles (dashed line) and for GP simulations with the complete density signal (solid line). Data extracted from a preliminary analysis.

6.4 Conclusion

In this chapter we have probed the superfluid fraction in a zero-temperature weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas experiencing a breaking of translational invariance.

Superfluidity is intrinsically linked to the notion of transport and we started by describing an experimental protocol to measure the sound velocity in our atomic sample. We excite the atoms at rest with a linear perturbation of their potential, uniform over the atomic cloud. This perturbation is created with a magnetic field gradient. When switching off abruptly the magnetic field gradient, the position of the centre of mass of the atomic cloud oscillates in time with a frequency yielding the sound velocity.

In a second section, we detailed how, starting from a homogeneous planar Bose gas, we impose a density modulation by optically imprinting a sinusoidal lattice of period $\lambda = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$. We characterised the light intensity profiles sent onto the atoms and we calibrated the potential depth of the lattice using the atomic response to this potential.

In the last section, we described the measurement of the sound velocity along and perpendicular to the density modulation. We observe that the speed of sound along the perturbation decreases when the potential depth increases. This behaviour is expected as the speed of sound is inversely proportional to the effective mass, which increases with the potential depth. We also detailed the estimate of Leggett's integral, derived in the previous chapter for our system, from the density profiles. This calculation requires to work on the in-situ images of the density profiles. These profiles are spatially filtered out by our absorption imaging, and thus the estimation of the density profiles is partial.

However, we could compare the superfluid fraction obtained from the speed of sound ratio to Leggett's integral over a large range of potential depths. We confirmed that, in the presence of a spatially-modulated potential breaking translational invariance, the zero-temperature

6.4. CONCLUSION

superfluid fraction decreases when the amplitude of the modulation increases. These results were also compared to Gross-Pitaevskii simulations performed in the team, with which they are in good agreement.

Conclusion

In this thesis, I emphasised the diversity of physics approachable through cold atom experimental platforms by describing two results obtained in different contexts.

The first part of the thesis is dedicated to the general features of the 2D weakly-interacting Bose gas. In Chapter 1, the theoretical framework of the two-dimensional weakly-interacting Bose gas is described through a classical field approach. The weak interactions at play in our quasi-2D Bose gas are taken into account in a contact potential describing 3D collisions. The emergence of the superfluid phase and the restoration of a quasi-long-range order thanks to repulsive interactions is also described. The experimental setup that we use to produce planar Bose gases of repulsive weak interactions is detailed in Chapter 2. I gave a description of the large toolbox that we use to fully control the geometry of the atomic cloud, its density and temperature and finally I introduced our microwave chains allowing for high-precision spectroscopy measurements.

In the second part of this manuscript, I described our recent measurement on the leastbound dimers of rubidium 87. In Chapter 3, I first introduced the interatomic potential for hydrogen and alkali atoms. In the context of ultracold gases, these potentials are described by a few numbers as the s-wave scattering length a and the range of the van der Waals potential $R_{\rm vdW}$. We highlighted the relation between the scattering states, fully described by a, and the positions of the least-bound states, given by $R_{\rm vdW}$ when van der Waals interactions are dominant at large interatomic distance. This so-called van der Waals universality allows a simpler characterisation of the interatomic potential. Finally, we focused on the least-bound states or rubidium 87. These states are of large physical interest in ultracold physics as they allow to tune the atomic interaction strength via Fano-Feshbach resonances. We presented a simple model to describe the hyperfine and Zeeman levels of a given least-bound rovibrational state. We then described the detection via mw-induced photoassociation of the whole Zeeman diagram of the least-bound state of ⁸⁷Rb, composed of one atom in the hyperfine level f = 1 and one atom in the hyperfine level f = 2. Adjusting our simple model to these data, we could estimate the coupling strength between the triplet potential and the singlet potential.

In Chapter 4, we focused on one particular state of the Zeeman diagram which has the specificity to be magnetic-field-insensitive. The energy dependence of this state on the density of the atomic bath is highlighted thanks to a high-precision spectroscopy. We used a mean-field approach to interpret these results as the effect of atom-dimer interactions and measured the associated atom-dimer scattering length a_{ad} . Finally, we measured this atom-dimer scattering length for two atomic baths and for the second-to-least bound state with one atomic bath. The perturbative model we derived can be used for any atomic species as long as their hyperfine coupling is large compared to the depth of the least-bound states. It allows to detect precisely bound states after the measurement of only a few bound states of the same multiplicity. We measured the atom-dimer scattering lengths far from the universal regime, yet, we obtain two close values when probing it with two different atomic baths of close atom-atom scattering lengths. This result is consistent with the existence of a van der Waals universality for atom-dimer interactions with bosons. Finally, we were not able to observe mw-induced Fano-Feshbach with our setup and atomic species, but these measurements pave the way for investigation with more suitable atomic species as sodium, potassium or caesium or for atom chips experimental setups which benefit from stronger mw fields.

The third part of this manuscript is dedicated to the zero-temperature superfluid fraction in a weakly-interacting 2D Bose gas when we impose a breaking of translational invariance. In Chapter 5, I introduced the original analysis performed by Leggett in 1970 in the context of supersolids. We applied the same analysis for our atomic systems, i.e. we studied the superfluid fraction defined within the framework of twisted boundary conditions for a 2D Bose gas in the presence of a potential spatially-modulated along one direction. We demonstrated that in the context of systems described by the Gross-Piteavskii equation, the integral found by Leggett as an upper-bound on the superfluid fraction in solids gives the actual superfluid fraction. By further constraining the modulation to be periodic, we linked this superfluid fraction to sound velocity along and perpendicular to the periodic spatial-modulation. In Chapter 6, we described the experimental testing of Leggett's integral. We imposed a sinusoidal density-modulation to our atomic sample and used two experimental protocols: we excited the atoms and measured the sound velocity along both axis and, starting from a similar system, we measured Leggett's integral from the in-situ profile of the sample. We observed the superfluid fraction decreasing when increasing the amplitude of the density modulation. The two experimental protocols gave results in good agreement, although the measurement of Leggett's integral from density profiles is limited by our imaging system. A first improvement would be to work on the experimental setup to have a better resolution. Furthermore, the comparison of Leggett's superfluid fraction definition with a transport measurement now done, one might want to get rid of the periodicity constraint on the densitymodulation to study Leggett's integral with more exotic potentials. This possibility should be carefully considered, as new constraints may arise. The comparison of Leggett's integral and sound velocities with more complex potentials as superlattice have been numerically studied in the group and led to encouraging results, although the experimental implementation of such systems is not trivial. Finally, this measurement can also reopen the discussion of the

validity of Leggett's result in actual supersolids.

Appendices

A

Zeeman diagram: parameters and data set

A.1 Model

We derived in Chapter 3 a simple model to describe the hyperfine and the Zeeman diagram of a rovibrational state loosely bound. The Hamiltonian acting on free pairs of atoms $|f_1, m_{f_1}; f_2, m_{f_2}\rangle$ is a sum of three contributions:

$$\hat{H} = \hat{H}_{\rm hfs} + \hat{H}_{\rm Z} + \hat{H}_{\rm st},\tag{A.1}$$

the hyperfine splitting \hat{H}_{hfs} , the Zeeman term \hat{H}_{Z} and a singlet-triplet coupling \hat{H}_{st} . In order to diagonalise the Hamiltonian Eq. (A.1), one writes the atom pairs states in the decoupled basis:

$$|f_1, m_{f_1}; f_2, m_{f_2}\rangle \to |\sigma_1, \iota_1; \sigma_2, \iota_2\rangle \equiv |s_1 = 1/2, \sigma_1, \iota_1 = 3/2, \iota_1; s_2 = 1/2, \sigma_2, \iota_2 = 3/2, \iota_2\rangle,$$
(A.2)

where the projections on the quantization axis z of the electronic spin angular momentum s = 1/2 and the nucleic spin angular momentum i = 3/2 are written $\sigma = \pm 1/2$ and $\iota = \pm 1/2, \pm 3/2$. We give therefore the hyperfine levels $|f, m_f\rangle$ of an atom of ⁸⁷Rb in its electronic ground state in the decoupled basis in Tab. A.1.

$ f, m_f\rangle$	$ \sigma, \iota\rangle$
$ 1,+1\rangle$	$-\sqrt{3}/2 -1/2, 3/2\rangle + 1/2 1/2, 1/2\rangle$
1, 0 angle	$1/\sqrt{2}[1/2, -1/2\rangle + -1/2, 1/2\rangle]$
$ 1,-1\rangle$	$\sqrt{3}/2 1/2, -3/2\rangle - 1/2 - 1/2, -1/2\rangle$
$ 2,+2\rangle$	1/2,3/2 angle
$ 2,+1\rangle$	$1/2 -1/2,3/2 angle+\sqrt{3}/2 1/2,1/2 angle$
$ 2, 0\rangle$	$1/\sqrt{2} [1/2, -1/2 \rangle - -1/2, 1/2 \rangle]$
$ 2,-1\rangle$	$1/2 1/2, -3/2\rangle + \sqrt{3}/2 - 1/2, -1/2\rangle$
$ 2,-2\rangle$	-1/2,-3/2 angle

Table A.1: Table of the hyperfine levels of an atom of 87 Rb in its electronic ground state in the coupled basis (first column) and in the decoupled basis (second column).

A.2 Coupling to a microwave field

We performed mw-induced photoassociation to measure the Zeeman diagram of the leastbound state n = -1 of the branch $\{f = 1; f = 2\}$ of ⁸⁷Rb. The magnetic field created by the microwave of frequency $\nu = \omega/2\pi$ is written in a basis (e_x, e_y, e_z) :

$$\boldsymbol{B}_{\omega}(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[B_{\omega,x} \exp(i\phi_x) \boldsymbol{e}_x + B_{\omega,y} \exp(i\phi_y) \boldsymbol{e}_y + B_{\omega,z} \exp(i\phi_z) \boldsymbol{e}_z \right] \exp(-i\omega t) + \text{c.c.}, \quad (A.3)$$

where the variables $B_{\omega,j}$ and ϕ_j are amplitudes and phases respectively. The real amplitude writes $B_{\omega}^2 = B_{\omega,x}^2 + B_{\omega,y}^2 + B_{\omega,z}^2$ and we introduce the complex unit vector $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = (\varepsilon_x, \varepsilon_y, \varepsilon_z)$ whose component along the axis α writes $\varepsilon_{\alpha} = |\varepsilon_{\alpha}| \exp(i\phi_{\alpha})$. Using these notations, the field equivalently reads:

$$\boldsymbol{B}_{\omega}(t) = \frac{B_{\omega}}{2} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \exp(-i\omega t) + \text{c.c.}$$
(A.4)

The coupling of such field to the electronic degree of freedom of atoms of 87 Rb in their electronic ground state writes:

$$\hat{W} = \frac{\mu_B g_s}{\hbar} \hat{\boldsymbol{s}} \cdot \boldsymbol{B}_{\omega}(t), \tag{A.5}$$

with \hat{s} the electronic spin of the atoms.

We compute the matrix elements of \hat{W} for atomic transitions between the two hyperfine levels $f = 1 \rightarrow f = 2$ of the ground state. The comparison of these matrix elements with the measured Rabi frequency of the corresponding transitions will then give the value of $B_{\omega}\varepsilon$ in Eq. (A.4) and thus the mw field tomography.

We write the field $B_{\omega}(t)$ in the spherical basis (e_+, e_-, e_0) , for convenience. The basis change $(e_x, e_y, e_z) \leftrightarrow (e_+, e_-, e_0)$ is written:

$$e_{+} = -\frac{e_{x} + ie_{y}}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad e_{-} = \frac{e_{x} - ie_{y}}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad e_{0} = e_{z}, \quad e_{x} = \frac{e_{-} - e_{+}}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad e_{y} = i\frac{e_{+} + e_{-}}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (A.6)

The unit vector $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ writes $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = (\varepsilon_+, \varepsilon_-, \varepsilon_0)$ in the spherical basis an its components are transposed from one basis to another following:

$$\varepsilon_{+} = \frac{-\varepsilon_{x} + i\varepsilon_{y}}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad \varepsilon_{-} = \frac{\varepsilon_{x} + i\varepsilon_{y}}{\sqrt{2}} \quad \varepsilon_{0} = \varepsilon_{z}, \quad \varepsilon_{x} = \frac{\varepsilon_{-} - \varepsilon_{+}}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad \varepsilon_{y} = -i\frac{\varepsilon_{+} + \varepsilon_{-}}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (A.7)

The coupling Hamiltonian Eq. (A.5) reads in the spherical basis:

$$\hat{W} = \frac{\mu_B g_s}{\hbar} \frac{B_\omega}{2} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (S_- \varepsilon_- - S_+ \varepsilon_+) + S_z \varepsilon_0 \right) \exp(-i\omega t) + \text{c.c.}, \tag{A.8}$$

with the rising and lowering operators $s_{\pm} = s_x \pm i s_y$. We decompose the coupling Hamiltonian in three contributions: \hat{W}_+ , \hat{W}_- and \hat{W}_0 corresponding to σ_+ ($\Delta m_f = +1$), σ_- ($\Delta m_f = -1$) and π ($\Delta m_f = 0$) transitions respectively. They are written in the frame rotating with the mw:

$$\hat{W}_{+} = -\frac{\mu_{B}g_{s}}{\hbar} \frac{B_{\omega}}{2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left[S_{+}\varepsilon_{+} \exp(-i\omega t) + \text{c.c.} \right], \tag{A.9}$$

$$\hat{W}_{-} = -\frac{\mu_B g_s}{\hbar} \frac{B_\omega}{2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left[S_{-} \varepsilon_{-} \exp(-i\omega t) + \text{c.c.} \right], \qquad (A.10)$$

$$\hat{W}_0 = -\frac{\mu_B g_s}{\hbar} \frac{B_\omega}{2} \left[S_z \varepsilon_z \exp(-i\omega t) + \text{c.c.} \right].$$
(A.11)

mw chain	$B_{\omega} (\mathrm{mG})$	$ \varepsilon_x $	$ \varepsilon_y $	$ \varepsilon_z $	$\phi_x - \phi_z$	$\phi_y - \phi_z$
RS1	15	0.58	0.60	0.55	0.04π	0.42π
RS2	32	0.25	0.10	0.96	0.43π	0.09π

Table A.2: Tomography of the mw fields Eq. (A.4) produced by the two antennas installed on our experimental setup.

We consider the transitions between the hyperfine levels $|f = 1, m_f = 0\rangle \rightarrow |f = 2, m_f = 0, \pm 1\rangle$ and, using their expression in the decoupled basis (see Tab. A.1), we compute their associated Rabi frequencies:

$$\Omega_{\sigma_{+}} = \frac{\mu_{B}g_{s}}{\hbar^{2}} \frac{B_{\omega}|\varepsilon_{+}|}{\sqrt{2}} |\langle 2, 1|S_{+}|1, 0\rangle| = \frac{\mu_{B}g_{s}}{\hbar} B_{\omega} \frac{\sqrt{3}|\varepsilon_{+}|}{4}, \qquad (A.12)$$

$$\Omega_{\sigma_{-}} = \frac{\mu_{B}g_{s}}{\hbar^{2}} \frac{B_{\omega}|\varepsilon_{-}|}{\sqrt{2}} |\langle 2, -1|S_{-}|1, 0\rangle| = \frac{\mu_{B}g_{s}}{\hbar} B_{\omega} \frac{\sqrt{3}|\varepsilon_{-}|}{4}, \qquad (A.13)$$

$$\Omega_{\pi} = \frac{\mu_B g_s}{\hbar^2} B_{\omega} |\varepsilon_+|| \langle 2, 0| S_z | 1, 0 \rangle| = \frac{\mu_B g_s}{\hbar} B_{\omega} \frac{|\varepsilon_0|}{2}.$$
(A.14)

(A.15)

We measure these three Rabi frequencies while applying a static external field B along the space directions $\alpha \equiv x, y, z$. We obtain then nine Rabi frequencies and, as the global phase of the mw field is not accessible, we only need five parameters to know the field tomography : $(B_{\omega}, |\varepsilon_x|, |\varepsilon_y|, |\varepsilon_z|, (\phi_x - \phi_z), (\phi_y - \phi_z))$. These parameters are calculated using the following equations:

$$\eta \equiv \frac{\mu_B g_s}{\hbar} B_\omega = 2 \sqrt{\sum_\alpha (\Omega_\pi^\alpha)^2},\tag{A.16}$$

$$|\varepsilon_{\alpha_j}| = \frac{2}{\eta} \Omega_{\pi}^{\alpha_j},\tag{A.17}$$

$$\phi_{\alpha_j} - \phi_{\alpha_k} = \arcsin\left(\frac{8}{3} \frac{(\Omega_{\sigma_+}^{\alpha_l})^2 - (\Omega_{\sigma_-}^{\alpha_l})^2}{|\varepsilon_j||\varepsilon_k|\eta^2}\right).$$
(A.18)

We defined $\Omega_{\mathcal{P}}^{\alpha}$ as the Rabi frequency of a transition of polarisation \mathcal{P} with an external static magnetic field along the axis α .

We performed this field tomography calibration for the two antennas installed in our experimental setup and we give in Tab. A.2 the results we obtained.

A.3 Experimental parameters

The atoms are initially prepared in the hyperfine level f = 1, in pure states or binary mixtures of the sub-levels. The atomic sample has a homogeneous in-plane profile when prepared in pure states. In the case of binary mixtures, we prepare the sample is an array of microtraps of size $\sim 5 \,\mu\text{m}$ in order to prevent spatial separation of the two components due to residual magnetic field gradients. We give in Tab. A.3 the experimental parameters we used to observe the fifteen levels of the n = -1 rovibrational state. We precise for each: its total angular momentum projection m_F , the initial state from which we photoassociate the atoms, the

m_F	Ν	Initial state	Cloud	\mathcal{P}	$B^{\mathcal{P}}_{\omega}$ (mG)	Ω/Ω_0	δt (s)	$\delta n_{ m a}/n_{ m a}~(\%)$	Γ (kHz)
3	12	$ +1;+1\rangle$	Bulk	σ^+	12	0.48	5	33	3.2
2	7	$ +1;+1\rangle$	Bulk	π	31	0.85	1	20	3.6
	13	$ +1;0\rangle$	Patches	σ^+	12	0.39	10	17	2.9
1 1	4	$ +1;+1\rangle$	Bulk	σ^{-}	23	0.37	5	24	3.1
	11	$ 0; 0\rangle$	Bulk	σ^+	12	0.34	0.5	9	1.8
	15	$ -1;+1\rangle$	Patches	σ^+	12	0.35	5	22	2.7
0	3	$ -1;+1\rangle$	Patches	π	31	0.55	5	21	2.7
	9	$ 0; 0\rangle$	Bulk	π	31	1	0.115	14	0.8
	14	$ -1;+1\rangle$	Patches	π	31	0.66	2.5	25	6
-1 5 10	1	$ -1;+1\rangle$	Patches	σ^{-}	8	0.18	10	23	3.7
	5	$ 0; 0\rangle$	Bulk	σ^{-}	8	0.21	1	11	1.5
	10	-1;-1 angle	Bulk	σ^+	12	0.19	10	21	1.8
-2	2	-1;0 angle	Patches	σ^{-}	8	0.19	10	13	6
	8	-1;-1 angle	Bulk	π	31	0.85	0.5	14	2.3
-3	6	$ -1; -1\rangle$	Bulk	σ^{-}	8	0.21	5	17	3.5

Table A.3: Experimental parameters used to determine the Zeeman diagram of the leastbounded rovibrational state. Sub-levels are sorted by projection of the total angular momentum m_F . We attribute to each level a number (N) standing for its position in the energy scale at large magnetic field, N= 1 being the lowest in energy. Atoms are originally in the $|f = 1, m_f\rangle$ hyperfine state of the electronic ground state and the different pairs of initial states are labelled with the notation $|m_{f_1}; m_{f_2}\rangle$. When starting from pure states $|m_{f_1}; m_{f_2} = m_{f_1}\rangle$, loss spectroscopy is performed on a uniform planar gas while the measurement is done in small patches array for mixtures. The polarisation of the microwave field which drives a given atom pair to dimer transition is labelled \mathcal{P} . We send microwave pulses during a fixed time δt for a given Zeeman level. Their amplitude in the polarisation \mathcal{P} is given by $B_{\omega}^{\mathcal{P}}$. The orientation of the external magnetic is perpendicular to the plane for all levels but N= 4, for which we rotate it into the plane to obtain a larger coupling strength. Two different antennas and microwave sources are used in this work and for each transition we chose the one giving the largest excitation strength Ω/Ω_0 . The two last columns give the measured average depletion $\delta n_a/n_a$ and full width at half maximum Γ .

cloud shape, the polarisation of the transition \mathcal{P} and the corresponding mw field amplitude $B_{\omega}^{\mathcal{P}} = |B_{\omega}\varepsilon_{\mathcal{P}}|$. The matrix elements $\hbar\Omega = \langle \text{final} | \hat{W} | \text{initail} \rangle$, extracted from our model, do not give a complete information on the overlap between the bound and free states. Indeed, we consider only the angular part of the wave functions and do not have any information on their radial part. We give however the relative elements Ω/Ω_0 , normalized with respect to the coupling Ω_0 of the strongest line: M₁. Finally, we give the duration of the excitation t and the typical measured depletion and line width.

A.4 Data set

We measured the fifteen sub-levels of the Zeeman diagram of the least-bound state n = -1 of the multiplicity $\{f = 1; f = 2\}$ over ~ 2 G. We give in Tab. A.4 the initial state and the measured position of the dimers from the energy of a free pair in $|f = 1; f = 2\rangle$ at

A.4. DATA SET

zero-magnetic field. We also give for each experimental point the distance between the dimer energy measured and the dimer energy predicted by our simple model using our best fit to the data.

N	Initial state	B = 0.75 G	B = 1 G	B = 1.25 G	B = 1.5 G	B = 1.75 G
12	$ +1;+1\rangle$	-24.462 -2	-24.587 1	-24.118 -2	-23.947 -7	-23.778 -10
7	$ +1;+1\rangle$	-25.616 -3	-25.553	-25.516 -2	-25.485 2	-25.468 -1
13	+1;0 angle	-24.380 2		-23.790 5		-23.146 8
4	$ +1;+1\rangle$	-26.214 1	-26.354 1	-26.505 0	-26.664 4	-26.827 3
11	0;0 angle	-24.595 1	-24.431 3	-24.267 -1	-24.097	-23.928 2
15	-1;+1 angle	-23.640 -5		-22.642 -3		-21.624 -12
3	-1;+1 angle	-26.712 -0		-27.356 4		-28.027 5
9	0;0 angle	-24.985 0	-24.985 0	-24.985 0	-24.985 0	-24.985 0
14	$ -1;+1\rangle$	-24.338 -1		-23.694 -5		-23.020 -3
1	$ -1;+1\rangle$	-27.097 0		-28.068 0		-29.078 11
5	0;0 angle	-25.698	-25.876 -2	-26.049 1	-26.223 -2	-26.394 2
10	$ -1;-1\rangle$	-24.822 -1	-24.685 -2	-24.538 -2	-24.381 -4	-24.221 -4
2	-1;0 angle	-26.926 -5		-27.569 -3		-28.235 -6
8	$ -1;-1\rangle$	-25.180 -1	-25.208 -2	-25.225 0	-25.240 -1	-25.251 -1
6	$ -1;-1\rangle$	-25.511 3	-25.686 2	-25.856 3	-26.031 1	-26.202 3

Table A.4: Zeeman diagram measurement. The atomic sample is prepared in the hyperfine level f = 1 manifold. The initial state from which we performed photoassociation can be either a pure state or a binary mixture of the f = 1 sub-levels and is given for each bound level, labelled N from the lowest energy. We write it as $|m_{f_1}, m_{f_2}\rangle \equiv |f_1 = 1, m_{f_1}; f_2 = 1, m_{f_2}\rangle$ for convenience. We give the position of the dimers in MHz with respect with the free pair $|f_1 = 1; f_2 = 2\rangle$ at zero-magnetic field (first sub-row) and its deviation in kHz from the fit (second sub-row). All errorbars are estimated at 1 kHz.

Linear response to a periodic potential

In the second part of this manuscript, we imposed a breaking of translational invariance in our atomic sample by imprinting a periodic potential of period λ :

$$V(y) = V_0 \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda}y\right). \tag{B.1}$$

We calibrate the potential depth V_0 using the response from the atomic density profile to lattices with large periods and small depths. We relate the density perturbation to the potential depth using linear response theory, see Ref. [87].

For a system of N particles with coordinates r_i , the perturbation to the many-body Hamiltonian write:

$$W = \sum_{i=1}^{N} V_0 \cos(ky_i) \tag{B.2}$$

$$= \frac{V_0}{2} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{N} \exp[-iky_i] + c.c. \right]$$
(B.3)

$$=\frac{V_0}{2}\left[\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}+\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}^{\dagger}\right] \tag{B.4}$$

where $\mathbf{k} = 2\pi/\lambda \mathbf{e}_y$ is the wave vector or the lattice potential and ρ_k is the Fourier component of the density operator

$$\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \exp[-\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_i]. \tag{B.5}$$

In the context of linear response theory, this Hamiltonian corresponds to a perturbation $G = \rho_k$ of strength $\lambda = -V_0/2$, where we used the notations of [87] (Eq. (7.1)). The perturbed density profile is expected to be of the form

$$n(x,y) = n_0 + n_1 \cos(ky),$$
 (B.6)

and our goal is the relate the contrast n_1/n_0 with V_0 . Linear theory gives us access to the $\delta \langle \rho_k \rangle$, so that it is natural to consider

$$\langle \cos(ky) \rangle = \langle \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \cos(ky_i) \rangle = \frac{1}{2N} \left(\delta \langle \rho_{\mathbf{k}} \rangle + \delta \langle \rho_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \rangle \right).$$
(B.7)

On the one hand we have:

$$\langle \cos(ky) \rangle = \frac{\int_0^L \cos(ky)n(x,y) \,\mathrm{d}y}{\int_0^L n(x,y) \,\mathrm{d}y} = \frac{n_1}{2n_0},$$
 (B.8)

where L is the size of the system and is a multiple of the period λ .

On the other hand, $\delta \langle \rho_{\mathbf{k}} \rangle$ is the fluctuation of the system induced by the periodic perturbation and is determined by the dynamic polarizability χ defined in [87] (Eq. (7.2)) as:

$$\delta \langle \rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}^{\dagger} \rangle = \lambda \chi_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}^{\dagger}, \rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}}(0) + \lambda^* \chi_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}^{\dagger}, \rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}^{\dagger}}(0), \tag{B.9}$$

where we recall that $\lambda = -V_0/2$. Using this definition we find

$$\langle \cos(ky) \rangle = -\frac{V_0}{4N} \left[\chi_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}},\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}}(0) + \chi_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}},\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}^{\dagger}}(0) + \chi_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}^{\dagger},\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}}(0) + \chi_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}^{\dagger},\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}}(0) \right]$$
(B.10)

$$= -\frac{V_0}{4N} \left[\chi_{\rho_k^{\dagger}}(0) + \chi_{\rho_k}(0) \right],$$
(B.11)

where we used the relation $\chi_{\rho_{k},\rho_{k}}(0) = \chi_{\rho_{k}^{\dagger},\rho_{k}^{\dagger}}(0) = 0$ given in [87] (Eq. (7.3)) and the notation $\chi_{F} \equiv \chi_{F^{\dagger},F}$.

The linear density response function has been studied in the context of the weakly-interacting gas of bosons and in this case, one can show that (see Eqs. (7.24) and (7.90) of Ref. [87]):

$$\chi_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}^{\dagger}}(0) = \chi_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{k}}}(0) = \frac{N\hbar^2 k^2}{m\varepsilon^2(k)}$$
(B.12)

where $\varepsilon(k)$ is the Bogoliubov excitation spectrum, suitable for zero-temperature gases:

$$\varepsilon^2(k) = \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m} \left(\frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m} + 2gn_0\right).$$
 (B.13)

Finally, using our previous result Eq. (B.8), we find that in the perturbative regime the contrast of the density profile in the presence of a periodic potential writes

$$\frac{n_1}{n_0} = -\frac{V_0}{\frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{4m} + g n_0}.$$
(B.14)

Publications

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS:

- Magnetic dipolar interaction between hyperfine clock states in a planar alkali Bose gas,
 Y. -Q. Zou, B. Bakkali-Hassani, C. Maury, É. Le Cerf, S. Nascimbene, J. Dalibard and
 J. Beugnon, Physical Review Letters 125, 233604, (December 2020).
- Tan's two-body contact across the superfluid transition of a planar Bose gas, Y.-Q. Zou,
 B. Bakkali-Hassani, C. Maury, É. Le Cerf, S. Nascimbene, J. Dalibard and J. Beugnon,
 Nature communications 12, 760, (February 2021).
- Optical control of the density and spin spatial profiles of a planar Bose gas, Y.-Q. Zou,
 É. Le Cerf, B. Bakkali-Hassani, C. Maury, G. Chauveau, P. C. M. Castilho, R. Saint-Jalm, S. Nascimbene, J. Dalibard and J. Beugnon, Journal of Physics B: Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics 54, 08LT01, (April 2021).
- Realization of a Townes soliton in a two-component planar Bose gas, B. Bakkali-Hassani, C. Maury, Y.-Q. Zou, É. Le Cerf, R. Saint-Jalm, P. C. M. Castilho, S. Nascimbene, J. Dalibard and J. Beugnon, Physical Review Letters 127, 023603, (July 2021).
- The cross-over from Townes solitons to droplets in a 2D Bose mixture, B. Bakkali-Hassani, C. Maury, S. Stringari, S. Nascimbene, J. Dalibard and J. Beugnon, New Journal of Physics 25, (January 2023).
- Precision measurement of atom-dimer interaction in a uniform planar Bose gas,
 C. Maury, B. Bakkali-Hassani, G. Chauveau, F. Rabec, S. Nascimbene, J. Dalibard and J. Beugnon, Physical Review Research 5, L012020, (February. 2023).
- Superfluid fraction in an interacting spatially modulated Bose-Einstein condensate, G. Chauveau, C. Maury, F. Rabec, C. Heintze, G. Brochier, S. Nascimbene, J. Dalibard and J. Beugnon, ArXiv:2302.01776, (February 2023).

References

- [1] A. EINSTEIN; "Quantentheorie des einatomigen idealen Gases"; in "Sitzungsberichte der Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften," . 2 citations on pages 7 and 13
- M. H. ANDERSON, J. R. ENSHER, M. R. MATTHEWS, C. E. WIEMAN & E. A. CORNELL;
 "Observation of Bose-Einstein Condensation in a Dilute Atomic Vapor"; Science 269, pp. 198–201 (1995).
 2 citations on pages 7 and 14
- [3] C. C. BRADLEY, C. A. SACKETT, J. J. TOLLETT & R. G. HULET; "Evidence of Bose-Einstein Condensation in an Atomic Gas with Attractive Interactions"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 75, pp. 1687–1690 (1995).
 2 citations on pages 7 and 14
- [4] K. B. DAVIS, M. O. MEWES, M. R. ANDREWS, N. J. VAN DRUTEN, D. S. DURFEE, D. M. KURN & W. KETTERLE; "Bose-Einstein Condensation in a Gas of Sodium Atoms"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 75, pp. 3969–3973 (1995).
 2 citations on pages 7 and 14
- [5] P. KAPITZA; "Viscosity of Liquid Helium below the λ -Point"; Nature 141 (1938). 2 citations on pages 7 and 23
- [6] J. F. ALLEN & A. D. MISENER; "Flow of Liquid Helium II"; Nature 141 (1938). 2 citations on pages 7 and 23
- [7] V. F. SEARS & E. C. SVENSSON; "Pair Correlations and the Condensate Fraction in Superfluid ⁴He"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 43, pp. 2009–2012 (1979). Cited on page 7
- [8] I. BLOCH, J. DALIBARD & W. ZWERGER; "Many-body physics with ultracold gases"; Rev. Mod. Phys. 80, pp. 885–964 (2008).
 2 citations on pages 7 and 24
- M. R. ANDREWS, C. G. TOWNSEND, H. MIESNER, D. S. DURFEE, D. M. KURN & W. KETTERLE; "Observation of Interference Between Two Bose Condensates"; Science 275(5300), pp. 637—641 (1997). Cited on page 7
- [10] I. BLOCH, T. W. I, Hansch & T. ESSLINGER; "Measurement of the spatial coherence of a trapped Bose gas at the phase transition"; Nature 403, pp. 166—170 (2000). Cited on page 7
- B. DEMARCO & D. S. JIN; "Onset of Fermi Degeneracy in a Trapped Atomic Gas"; Science 285, pp. 1703–1706 (1999). Cited on page 7
- [12] A. G. TRUSCOTT, K. E. STRECKER, W. I. MCALEXANDER, G. B. PARTRIDGE & R. G. HULET; "Observation of Fermi Pressure in a Gas of Trapped Atoms"; Science 291, pp. 2570–2572 (2001).

- [13] F. SCHRECK, L. KHAYKOVICH, K. L. CORWIN, G. FERRARI, T. BOURDEL, J. CUBI-ZOLLES & C. SALOMON; "Quasipure Bose-Einstein Condensate Immersed in a Fermi Sea"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, p. 080403 (2001). Cited on page 7
- [14] A. GRIESMAIER, J. WERNER, S. HENSLER, J. STUHLER & T. PFAU; "Bose-Einstein Condensation of Chromium"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, p. 160401 (2005). Cited on page 7
- [15] M. LU, N. Q. BURDICK, S. H. YOUN & B. L. LEV; "Strongly Dipolar Bose-Einstein Condensate of Dysprosium"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, p. 190401 (2011). Cited on page 7
- [16] J. LIM, H. LEE & J. AHN; "Review of cold Rydberg atoms and their applications"; Journal of the Korean Physical Society 63, pp. 867–876 (2013). Cited on page 7
- [17] H. RITSCH, P. DOMOKOS, F. BRENNECKE & T. ESSLINGER; "Cold atoms in cavitygenerated dynamical optical potentials"; Rev. Mod. Phys. 85, pp. 553–601 (2013). Cited on page 7
- S. INOUYE, M. R. ANDREWS, J. B. STENGER, H. J. MIESNER, D. M. STAMPER-KURN & W. KETTERLE; "Observation of Feshbach resonances in a Bose–Einstein condensate"; Nature 392, pp. 151–154 (1998).
 2 citations on pages 7 and 54
- [19] P. COURTEILLE, R. S. FREELAND, D. J. HEINZEN, F. A. VAN ABEELEN & B. J. VER-HAAR; "Observation of a Feshbach Resonance in Cold Atom Scattering"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, pp. 69–72 (1998).
 2 citations on pages 7 and 54
- [20] S. L. CORNISH, N. R. CLAUSSEN, J. L. ROBERTS, E. A. CORNELL & C. E. WIEMAN;
 "Stable ⁸⁵Rb Bose-Einstein Condensates with Widely Tunable Interactions"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, pp. 1795–1798 (2000).
- [21] K. M. O'HARA, S. L. HEMMER, M. E. GEHM, S. R. GRANADE & J. E. THOMAS;
 "Observation of a Strongly Interacting Degenerate Fermi Gas of Atoms"; Science 298, pp. 2179–2182 (2002).
- [22] T. BOURDEL, L. KHAYKOVICH, J. CUBIZOLLES, J. ZHANG, F. CHEVY, M. TEICHMANN, L. TARRUELL, S. J. J. M. F. KOKKELMANS & C. SALOMON; "Experimental Study of the BEC-BCS Crossover Region in Lithium 6"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, p. 050401 (2004). Cited on page 8
- [23] M. BARTENSTEIN, A. ALTMEYER, S. RIEDL, S. JOCHIM, C. CHIN, J. H. DENSCHLAG & R. GRIMM; "Crossover from a Molecular Bose-Einstein Condensate to a Degenerate Fermi Gas"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, p. 120401 (2004). Cited on page 8
- [24] P. NAIDON & S. ENDO; "Efimov physics: a review"; Reports on Progress in Physics 80, p. 056001 (2017).
 2 citations on pages 8 and 69
- [25] V. L. BEREZINSKY; "Destruction of Long-range Order in One-dimensional and Twodimensional Systems Possessing a Continuous Symmetry Group. II. Quantum Systems." Sov. Phys. JETP 34, p. 610 (1972).
 2 citations on pages 8 and 23
- [26] J. M. KOSTERLITZ & D. J. THOULESS; "Ordering, metastability and phase transitions in two-dimensional systems"; Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics 6, pp. 1181–1203 (1973).
 2 citations on pages 8 and 23
- [27] J. V. JOSÉ; 40 Years of Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless Theory (World Scientific). (2013). Cited on page 8

- [28] B. PAREDES, A. WIDERA, V. MURG, O. MANDEL, S. FÖLLING, I. CIRAC, G. SHLYAP-NIKOV, T. HÄNSCH & I. BLOCH; "Tonks–Girardeau gas of ultracold atoms in an optical lattice"; Nature 429, pp. 277–281 (2004). Cited on page 8
- [29] T. KINOSHITA, T. WENGER & D. S. WEISS; "Observation of a One-Dimensional Tonks-Girardeau Gas"; Science 305, pp. 1125–1128 (2004). Cited on page 8
- [30] J. HUBBARD; "Electron correlations in narrow energy bands"; Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 276, pp. 238–257 (1963).
 Cited on page 8
- [31] M. GREINER, O. MANDEL, T. ESSLINGER, T. W. HÄNSCH & I. BLOCH; "Quantum phase transition from a superfluid to a Mott insulator in a gas of ultracold atoms"; Nature 415, pp. 39–44 (2002). Cited on page 8
- [32] T. STÖFERLE, H. MORITZ, C. SCHORI, M. KÖHL & T. ESSLINGER; "Transition from a Strongly Interacting 1D Superfluid to a Mott Insulator"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, p. 130403 (2004).
- [33] I. B. SPIELMAN, W. D. PHILLIPS & J. V. PORTO; "Mott-Insulator Transition in a Two-Dimensional Atomic Bose Gas"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, p. 080404 (2007). Cited on page 8
- [34] M. KÖHL, H. MORITZ, T. STÖFERLE, C. SCHORI & T. ESSLINGER; "Superfluid to Mott insulator transition in one, two, and three dimensions"; Journal of Low Temperature Physics 138, pp. 635–644 (2005).
- [35] N. NAVON, R. P. SMITH & Z. HADZIBABIC; "Quantum gases in optical boxes"; Nature Physics 17, pp. 1334–1341 (2021).
 Cited on page 8
- [36] A. J. LEGGETT; "Can a Solid Be "Superfluid"?" Phys. Rev. Lett. 25, pp. 1543–1546 (1970).
 5 citations on pages 9, 83, 91, 93, and 108
- [37] Z. HADZIBABI, P. KRÜGER, M. CHENEAU, B. BATTELIER & J. DALIBARD; "Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless crossover in a trapped atomis gas"; Nature 441, pp. 1118–1121 (2006).
 2 citations on pages 9 and 25
- [38] P. CLADÉ, C. RYU, A. RAMANATHAN, K. HELMERSON & W. D. PHILLIPS; "Observation of a 2D Bose Gas: From Thermal to Quasicondensate to Superfluid"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 102, p. 170401 (2009).
 2 citations on pages 9 and 22
- [39] G. ROUMPOS, M. LOHSE, W. H. NITSCHE, J. KEELING, M. H. SZYMAŃSKA, P. B. LITTLEWOOD, A. LÖFFLER, S. HÖFLING, L. WORSCHECH, A. FORCHEL & Y. YA-MAMOTO; "Power-law decay of the spatial correlation function in exciton-polariton condensates"; Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, pp. 6467–6472 (2012). Cited on page 9
- [40] W. H. NITSCHE, N. Y. KIM, G. ROUMPOS, C. SCHNEIDER, M. KAMP, S. HÖFLING, A. FORCHEL & Y. YAMAMOTO; "Algebraic order and the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless transition in an exciton-polariton gas"; Phys. Rev. B 90, p. 205430 (2014). Cited on page 9
- [41] P. A. MURTHY, I. BOETTCHER, L. BAYHA, M. HOLZMANN, D. KEDAR, M. NEIDIG, M. G. RIES, A. N. WENZ, G. ZÜRN & S. JOCHIM; "Observation of the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless Phase Transition in an Ultracold Fermi Gas"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, p. 010401 (2015). Cited on page 9

- [42] D. CAPUTO, D. BALLARINI, G. DAGVADORJ, C. SANCHEZ MUÑOZ, M. DE GIORGI, L. DOMINICI, K. WEST, L. PFEIFFER, G. GIGLI, F. LAUSSY, M. SZYMANSKA & D. SAN-VITTO; "Topological order and thermal equilibrium in polariton condensates"; Nature Materials 17, pp. 145–151 (2018).
- [43] R. SAINT-JALM; Exploration de la physique à deux dimensions avec des gaz de Bose dans des potentiels à fond plat : ordre en phase et symétrie dynamique; Theses; Université Paris sciences et lettres (2019); HAL:tel-03116129. 4 citations on pages 9, 26, 29, and 34
- [44] S. DANG, M. ZAMORANO, S. SUFFIT, K. WEST, K. BALDWIN, L. PFEIFFER, M. HOLZ-MANN & F. m. c. DUBIN; "Observation of algebraic time order for two-dimensional dipolar excitons"; Phys. Rev. Res. 2, p. 032013 (2020). Cited on page 9
- [45] S. SUNAMI, V. P. SINGH, D. GARRICK, A. BEREGI, A. J. BARKER, K. LUKSCH, E. BENTINE, L. MATHEY & C. J. FOOT; "Observation of the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless Transition in a Two-Dimensional Bose Gas via Matter-Wave Interferometry"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 128, p. 250402 (2022).
 2 citations on pages 9 and 26
- [46] D. J. BISHOP & J. D. REPPY; "Study of the Superfluid Transition in Two-Dimensional ⁴He Films"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 40, pp. 1727–1730 (1978). Cited on page 9
- [47] P. CHRISTODOULOU, M. GAŁKA, N. DOGRA, R. LOPES, J. SCHMITT & Z. HADZIBABIC;
 "Observation of first and second sound in a BKT superfluid"; Nature 594, pp. 191–194 (2021).
 6 citations on pages 9, 20, 25, 89, 93, and 94
- [48] T. YEFSAH, R. DESBUQUOIS, L. CHOMAZ, K. J. GÜNTER & J. DALIBARD; "Exploring the Thermodynamics of a Two-Dimensional Bose Gas"; Physical Review Letters 107 (2011).
 2 citations on pages 9 and 27
- [49] C.-L. HUNG, X. ZHANG, N. GEMELKE & C. CHIN; "Observation of scale invariance and universality in two-dimensional Bose gases"; Nature 470, pp. 236–239 (2011).
 3 citations on pages 9, 22, and 27
- [50] R. DESBUQUOIS, T. YEFSAH, L. CHOMAZ, C. WEITENBERG, L. CORMAN, S. NASCIMBÈNE & J. DALIBARD; "Determination of Scale-Invariant Equations of State without Fitting Parameters: Application to the Two-Dimensional Bose Gas Across the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless Transition"; Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, p. 020404 (2014). Cited on page 9
- [51] Y.-Q. ZOU, É. L. CERF, B. BAKKALI-HASSANI, C. MAURY, G. CHAUVEAU, P. C. M. CASTILHO, R. SAINT-JALM, S. NASCIMBENE, J. DALIBARD & J. BEUGNON; "Optical control of the density and spin spatial profiles of a planar Bose gas"; Journal of Physics B: Atomic, Molecular and Optical Physics 54, p. 08LT01 (2021). 3 citations on pages 9, 35, and 99
- [52] B. BAKKALI-HASSANI, C. MAURY, Y.-Q. ZOU, É. L. CERF, R. SAINT-JALM, P. CASTILHO, S. NASCIMBENE, J. DALIBARD & J. BEUGNON; "Realization of a Townes Soliton in a Two-Component Planar Bose Gas"; Physical Review Letters 127 (2021). 3 citations on pages 9, 21, and 36
- [53] B. BAKKALI-HASSANI, C. MAURY, S. STRINGARI, S. NASCIMBENE, J. DALIBARD & J. BEUGNON; "The cross-over from Townes solitons to droplets in a 2D Bose mixture"; New Journal of Physics 25, p. 013007 (2023). 2 citations on pages 9 and 21

- [54] Y.-Q. ZOU, B. BAKKALI-HASSANI, C. MAURY, É. L. CERF, S. NASCIMBENE, J. DALIBARD & J. BEUGNON; "Magnetic Dipolar Interaction between Hyperfine Clock States in a Planar Alkali Bose Gas"; Physical Review Letters 125 (2020). 2 citations on pages 9 and 18
- [55] Y.-Q. ZOU, B. BAKKALI-HASSANI, C. MAURY, É. L. CERF, S. NASCIMBENE, J. DAL-IBARD & J. BEUGNON; "Tan's two-body contact across the superfluid transition of a planar Bose gas"; Nature Communications 12 (2021). 3 citations on pages 9, 22, and 40
- [56] Z. HADZIBABIC & J. DALIBARD; "Two-dimensional Bose fluids: An atomic physics perspective"; La Rivista del Nuovo Cimento 34, p. 389–434 (2011). 3 citations on pages 13, 18, and 23
- [57] J. DALIBARD; "Fluides quantiques de basse dimension et transition Kosterlitz-Thouless"; (2017); Collège de France lectures. 2 citations on pages 13 and 21
- [58] O. PENROSE & L. ONSAGER; "Bose-Einstein Condensation and Liquid Helium"; Phys. Rev. 104, pp. 576–584 (1956). Cited on page 14
- [59] D. PETROV, D. GANGARDT & G. SHLYAPNIKOV; "Low-dimensional trapped gases"; J. Phys. IV France 116, pp. 5–44 (2004).
 2 citations on pages 15 and 17
- [60] N. D. MERMIN & H. WAGNER; "Absence of Ferromagnetism or Antiferromagnetism in One- or Two-Dimensional Isotropic Heisenberg Models"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 17, pp. 1133–1136 (1966). Cited on page 15
- [61] P. C. HOHENBERG; "Existence of Long-Range Order in One and Two Dimensions"; Phys. Rev. 158, pp. 383–386 (1967). Cited on page 15
- [62] J. MITROY & M. W. J. BROMLEY; "Semiempirical calculation of van der Waals coefficients for alkali-metal and alkaline-earth-metal atoms"; Phys. Rev. A 68, p. 052714 (2003).
 3 citations on pages 15, 46, and 56
- [63] J. DALIBARD; "Les interactions entre atomes dans les gaz quantiques: De l'universalité de van der Waals aux résonances de Fano-Feshbach"; (2021); Collège de France lectures. 3 citations on pages 16, 49, and 55
- [64] D. S. PETROV, M. HOLZMANN & G. V. SHLYAPNIKOV; "Bose-Einstein Condensation in Quasi-2D Trapped Gases"; Physical Review Letters 84, pp. 2551–2555 (2000).
 2 citations on pages 18 and 22
- [65] D. S. PETROV & G. V. SHLYAPNIKOV; "Interatomic collisions in a tightly confined Bose gas"; Physical Review A 64 (2001).
 2 citations on pages 18 and 76
- [66] T. YEFSAH; Thermodynamique du gaz de Bose à deux dimensions; Theses; Université Pierre et Marie Curie - Paris VI (2011); HAL:tel-00737502. Cited on page 18
- [67] N. N. BOGOLIUBOV; "On the theory of superfluidity"; J. Phys. (USSR) **11**, pp. 23–32 (1947). Cited on page 19
- [68] J. VILLE, R. SAINT-JALM, É. L. CERF, M. AIDELSBURGER, S. NASCIMBÈNE, J. DAL-IBARD & J. BEUGNON; "Sound Propagation in a Uniform Superfluid Two-Dimensional Bose Gas"; Physical Review Letters 121 (2018). 4 citations on pages 20, 88, 93, and 94

- [69] M. BOHLEN, L. SOBIREY, N. LUICK, H. BISS, T. ENSS, T. LOMPE & H. MORITZ;
 "Sound Propagation and Quantum-Limited Damping in a Two-Dimensional Fermi Gas"; Physical Review Letters 124 (2020). 3 citations on pages 20, 88, and 93
- [70] R. SAINT-JALM, P. CASTILHO, É. L. CERF, B. BAKKALI-HASSANI, J.-L. VILLE, S. NASCIMBENE, J. BEUGNON & J. DALIBARD; "Dynamical Symmetry and Breathers in a Two-Dimensional Bose Gas"; Physical Review X 9 (2019). Cited on page 21
- [71] C.-A. CHEN & C.-L. HUNG; "Observation of Universal Quench Dynamics and Townes Soliton Formation from Modulational Instability in Two-Dimensional Bose Gases"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 125, p. 250401 (2020). Cited on page 21
- [72] C.-A. CHEN & C.-L. HUNG; "Observation of Scale Invariance in Two-Dimensional Matter-Wave Townes Solitons"; Phys. Rev. Lett. **127**, p. 023604 (2021). Cited on page 21
- [73] B. BAKKALI-HASSANI; Testing scale invariance in a two-dimensional Bose gas : preparation and characterization of solitary waves; Theses; Sorbonne Université (2021); HAL:tel-03591031.
 3 citations on pages 22, 36, and 40
- [74] Y. KAGAN, B. V. SVISTUNOV & G. V. SHLYAPNIKOV; "Influence on inelastic processes of the phase transition in a weakly collisional two-dimensional Bose gas"; Journal of Experimental and Theoretical Physics 66, p. 552 (1987). Cited on page 22
- [75] Y. KAGAN, V. A. KASHURNIKOV, A. V. KRASAVIN, N. V. PROKOF'EV & B. SVISTUNOV;
 "Quasicondensation in a two-dimensional interacting Bose gas"; Phys. Rev. A 61, p. 043608 (2000).
- [76] S. TUNG, G. LAMPORESI, D. LOBSER, L. XIA & E. A. CORNELL; "Observation of the Presuperfluid Regime in a Two-Dimensional Bose Gas"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, p. 230408 (2010). Cited on page 22
- [77] S. TAN; "Energetics of a strongly correlated Fermi gas"; Annals of Physics 323, pp. 2952–2970 (2008).
 Cited on page 22
- [78] S. TAN; "Generalized virial theorem and pressure relation for a strongly correlated Fermi gas"; Annals of Physics **323**, pp. 2987–2990 (2008). Cited on page 22
- [79] S. TAN; "Large momentum part of a strongly correlated Fermi gas"; Annals of Physics 323, pp. 2971–2986 (2008). Cited on page 22
- [80] A. RANÇON & N. DUPUIS; "Tan's two-body contact in a planar Bose gas: experiment vs theory"; (2022); ArXiv:2212.06857. Cited on page 22
- [81] C. MORA & Y. CASTIN; "Extension of Bogoliubov theory to quasicondensates"; Phys. Rev. A 67, p. 053615 (2003).
 Cited on page 23
- [82] Y. CASTIN; "Simple theoretical tools for low dimension Bose gases"; J. Phys. IV France 116, pp. 89–132 (2004). Cited on page 23
- [83] J. M. KOSTERLITZ; "The critical properties of the two-dimensional xy model"; Journal of Physics C Solid State Physics 7, pp. 1046–1060 (1974). Cited on page 23
- [84] L. LANDAU; "Theory of the Superfluidity of Helium II"; Phys. Rev. 60, pp. 356–358 (1941).
 2 citations on pages 23 and 88

- [85] J. DALIBARD; "Cohérence et superfluidité dans les gaz atomiques"; (2015); Collège de France lectures.
 3 citations on pages 23, 24, and 85
- [86] B. V. SVISTUNOV, E. S. BABAEV & N. V. PROKOF'EV; Superfluid States of Matter (CRC Press). (2015). Cited on page 23
- [87] L. PITAEVSKII & S. STRINGARI; Bose-Einstein Condensation and Superfluidity (Oxford University Press) (2016).
 4 citations on pages 23, 103, 125, and 126
- [88] S. K. MA; *Statistical mechanics* (World Scientific). (1985). Cited on page 23
- [89] A. J. LEGGETT; *Quantum fluids* (Oxford University Press). (2006). Cited on page 23
- [90] G. B. HESS & W. M. FAIRBANK; "Measurements of Angular Momentum in Superfluid Helium"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 19, pp. 216–218 (1967). Cited on page 24
- [91] N. PROKOF'EV & B. SVISTUNOV; "Two-dimensional weakly interacting Bose gas in the fluctuation region"; Phys. Rev. A 66, p. 043608 (2002). Cited on page 25
- [92] N. PROKOF'EV, O. RUEBENACKER & B. SVISTUNOV; "Critical Point of a Weakly Interacting Two-Dimensional Bose Gas"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, p. 270402 (2001). Cited on page 25
- [93] D. S. FISHER & P. C. HOHENBERG; "Dilute Bose gas in two dimensions"; Phys. Rev. B 37, pp. 4936–4943 (1988).
 Cited on page 25
- [94] R. J. FLETCHER, M. ROBERT-DE SAINT-VINCENT, J. MAN, N. NAVON, R. P. SMITH, K. G. H. VIEBAHN & Z. HADZIBABIC; "Connecting Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless and BEC Phase Transitions by Tuning Interactions in a Trapped Gas"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 114, p. 255302 (2015). Cited on page 25
- [95] L. CORMAN; The two-dimensional Bose Gas in box potentials; Theses; Université Paris sciences et lettres (2016); HAL:tel-01449982. Cited on page 29
- [96] J.-L. VILLE; Quantum gases in box potentials : sound and light in bosonic Flatland; Theses; Université Paris sciences et lettres (2018); HAL:tel-01925194.
 2 citations on pages 29 and 37
- [97] É. LE CERF; Demixing phenomena in 2D Bose gases; Theses; Sorbonne Université (2020); HAL:tel-03019926.
 3 citations on pages 29, 35, and 36
- [98] P. A. ALTIN, G. MCDONALD, D. DÖRING, J. E. DEBS, T. H. BARTER, J. D. CLOSE, N. P. ROBINS, S. A. HAINE, T. M. HANNA & R. P. ANDERSON; "Optically trapped atom interferometry using the clock transition of large Rb-87 Bose-Einstein condensates"; New Journal of Physics 13, p. 065020 (2011). 4 citations on pages 30, 34, 41, and 78
- [99] D. STECK; "Rubidium 87 D Line Data"; (2003).
- T. C. LI, H. KELKAR, D. MEDELLIN & M. G. RAIZEN; "Real-time control of the periodicity of a standing wave: an optical accordion"; Optics Express 16, p. 5465 (2008).
 Cited on page 34
- [101] J. L. VILLE, T. BIENAIMÉ, R. SAINT-JALM, L. CORMAN, M. AIDELSBURGER, L. CHOMAZ, K. KLEINLEIN, D. PERCONTE, S. NASCIMBÈNE, J. DALIBARD & J. BEUGNON; "Loading and compression of a single two-dimensional Bose gas in an optical accordion"; Physical Review A 95 (2017). Cited on page 34

Cited on page 30

- [102] C. DORRER & J. D. ZUEGEL; "Design and analysis of binary beam shapers using error diffusion"; J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 24, pp. 1268–1275 (2007). 2 citations on pages 35 and 99
- [103] K. HUECK, N. LUICK, L. SOBIREY, J. SIEGL, T. LOMPE & H. MORITZ; "Two-Dimensional Homogeneous Fermi Gases"; Physical Review Letters 120 (2018). Cited on page 39
- [104] F. LONDON; "Zur Theorie und Systematik der Molekularkräfte"; Zeitschrift für Physik
 63, pp. 245–279. Cited on page 46
- [105] W. HEITLER & F. LONDON; "Wechselwirkung neutraler Atome und homöopolare Bindung nach der Quantenmechanik"; Z. Physik 44, p. 455 (1927). Cited on page 47
- [106] L. D. LANDAU & E. M. LIFSHITZ; *Mécanique quantique*. (1975). Cited on page 49
- [107] W. SCHÖLLKOPF & J. P. TOENNIES; "Nondestructive Mass Selection of Small van der Waals Clusters"; Science 266, pp. 1345–1348 (1994). Cited on page 50
- [108] R. J. LEROY & R. B. BERNSTEIN; "Dissociation Energy and Long-Range Potential of Diatomic Molecules from Vibrational Spacings of Higher Levels"; The Journal of Chemical Physics 52, pp. 3869–3879 (1970). Cited on page 50
- [109] L. I. SCHIFF; Quantum mechanics. (1968).
- [110] G. F. GRIBAKIN & V. V. FLAMBAUM; "Calculation of the scattering length in atomic collisions using the semiclassical approximation"; Phys. Rev. A 48, pp. 546–553 (1993). Cited on page 50
- [111] J. D. WEINSTEIN, R. DECARVALHO, T. GUILLET, B. FRIEDRICH & J. M. DOYLE;
 "Magnetic trapping of Calcium monohydride molecules at millikelvin temperatures"; Nature 395, pp. 148–150 (1998).
- [112] H. L. BETHLEM, G. BERDEN, F. M. H. CROMPVOETS, R. T. JONGMA, A. J. A. VAN ROIJ & G. MEIJER; "Electrostatic trapping of Ammonia molecules"; Nature 406, pp. 491–494 (2000). Cited on page 51
- [113] W. C. STWALLEY & H. WANG; "Photoassociation of Ultracold Atoms: A New Spectroscopic Technique"; Journal of Molecular Spectroscopy 195, pp. 194–228 (1999). Cited on page 51
- [114] N. VANHAECKE, D. COMPARAT, A. CRUBELLIER & P. PILLET; "Photoassociation spectroscopy of ultra-cold long-range molecules"; Comptes Rendus Physique 5, pp. 161–169 (2004).
 Cited on page 51
- [115] K. M. JONES, E. TIESINGA, P. D. LETT & P. S. JULIENNE; "Ultracold photoassociation spectroscopy: Long-range molecules and atomic scattering"; Rev. Mod. Phys. 78, pp. 483–535 (2006). Cited on page 51
- [116] J. ULMANIS, J. DEIGLMAYR, M. REPP, R. WESTER & M. WEIDEMÜLLER; "Ultracold Molecules Formed by Photoassociation: Heteronuclear Dimers, Inelastic Collisions, and Interactions with Ultrashort Laser Pulses"; Chemical Reviews 112, pp. 4890–4927 (2012). Cited on page 51
- [117] H. R. THORSHEIM, J. WEINER & P. S. JULIENNE; "Laser-induced photoassociation of ultracold sodium atoms"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 58, pp. 2420–2423 (1987). Cited on page 51

Cited on page 50

- [118] A. FIORETTI, D. COMPARAT, A. CRUBELLIER, O. DULIEU, F. MASNOU-SEEUWS & P. PILLET; "Formation of Cold Cs₂ Molecules through Photoassociation"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 80, pp. 4402–4405 (1998). Cited on page 51
- [119] J. D. MILLER, R. A. CLINE & D. J. HEINZEN; "Photoassociation spectrum of ultracold Rb atoms"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 71, pp. 2204–2207 (1993). Cited on page 52
- [120] V. BAGNATO, L. MARCASSA, C. TSAO, Y. WANG & J. WEINER; "Two-color spectroscopy of colliding ultracold atoms"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 70, pp. 3225–3228 (1993). Cited on page 52
- P. D. LETT, K. HELMERSON, W. D. PHILLIPS, L. P. RATLIFF, S. L. ROLSTON & M. E. WAGSHUL; "Spectroscopy of Na₂ by photoassociation of laser-cooled Na"; Phys. Rev. Lett. **71**, pp. 2200–2203 (1993). Cited on page 52
- [122] R. A. CLINE, J. D. MILLER & D. J. HEINZEN; "Study of Rb₂ Long-Range States by High-Resolution Photoassociation Spectroscopy"; Phys. Rev. Lett. **73**, pp. 632–635 (1994). Cited on page 52
- [123] L. P. RATLIFF, M. E. WAGSHUL, P. D. LETT, S. L. ROLSTON & W. D. PHILLIPS;
 "Photoassociative spectroscopy of 1g, 0+u, and 0-g states of Na2"; The Journal of Chemical Physics 101, pp. 2638–2641 (1994).
- [124] W. I. MCALEXANDER, E. R. I. ABRAHAM, N. W. M. RITCHIE, C. J. WILLIAMS, H. T. C. STOOF & R. G. HULET; "Precise atomic radiative lifetime via photoassociative spectroscopy of ultracold lithium"; Phys. Rev. A 51, pp. R871–R874 (1995). Cited on page 52
- [125] C. C. TSAI, R. S. FREELAND, J. M. VOGELS, H. M. J. M. BOESTEN, B. J. VERHAAR & D. J. HEINZEN; "Two-Color Photoassociation Spectroscopy of Ground State Rb₂"; Phys. Rev. Lett. **79**, pp. 1245–1248 (1997). Cited on page 52
- [126] D. COMPARAT, C. DRAG, A. FIORETTI, O. DULIEU & P. PILLET; "Photoassociative Spectroscopy and Formation of Cold Molecules in Cold Cesium Vapor: Trap-Loss Spectrum versus Ion Spectrum"; Journal of Molecular Spectroscopy 195, pp. 229–235 (1999).
- [127] C. DRAG, B. LABURTHE TOLRA, B. T'JAMPENS, D. COMPARAT, M. ALLEGRINI, A. CRUBELLIER & P. PILLET; "Photoassociative Spectroscopy as a Self-Sufficient Tool for the Determination of the Cs Triplet Scattering Length"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, pp. 1408–1411 (2000). Cited on page 52
- [128] A. N. NIKOLOV, J. R. ENSHER, E. E. EYLER, H. WANG, W. C. STWALLEY & P. L. GOULD; "Efficient Production of Ground-State Potassium Molecules at Sub-mK Temperatures by Two-Step Photoassociation"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 84, pp. 246–249 (2000). Cited on page 52
- [129] E. R. I. ABRAHAM, W. I. MCALEXANDER, C. A. SACKETT & R. G. HULET; "Spectroscopic Determination of the s-Wave Scattering Length of Lithium"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 74, pp. 1315–1318 (1995). Cited on page 52
- [130] E. TIESINGA, C. WILLIAMS, P. JULIENNE, K. JONES, P. LETT & W. PHILLIPS; "A spectroscopic determination of scattering lengths for sodium atom collisions"; Journal of Research of the National Institute of Standards and Technology 101, p. 505 (1996). Cited on page 52

- [131] J. L. BOHN, J. P. BURKE, C. H. GREENE, H. WANG, P. L. GOULD & W. C. STWALLEY; "Collisional properties of ultracold potassium: Consequences for degenerate Bose and Fermi gases"; Phys. Rev. A 59, pp. 3660–3664 (1999). Cited on page 52
- [132] M. BORKOWSKI, A. A. BUCHACHENKO, R. CIURYLO, P. S. JULIENNE, H. YA-MADA, Y. KIKUCHI, K. TAKAHASHI, Y. TAKASU & Y. TAKAHASHI; "Beyond-Born-Oppenheimer effects in sub-kHz-precision photoassociation spectroscopy of Ytterbium atoms"; Phys. Rev. A 96, p. 063405 (2017). Cited on page 52
- [133] A. J. KERMAN, C. CHIN, V. VULETIĆ, S. CHU, P. J. LEO, C. J. WILLIAMS & P. S. JULI-ENNE; "Determination of Cs–Cs interaction parameters using Feshbach spectroscopy"; Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences - Series IV - Physics 2, pp. 633–639 (2001). Cited on page 52
- [134] H. FESHBACH; "Unified theory of nuclear reactions"; Annals of Physics 5, pp. 357–390 (1958).
 Cited on page 52
- [135] H. FESHBACH; "A unified theory of nuclear reactions. II"; Annals of Physics 19, pp. 287–313 (1962). Cited on page 52
- [136] U. FANO; "Effects of Configuration Interaction on Intensities and Phase Shifts"; Phys. Rev. 124, pp. 1866–1878 (1961).
 Cited on page 52
- [137] W. C. STWALLEY; "Stability of Spin-Aligned Hydrogen at Low Temperatures and High Magnetic Fields: New Field-Dependent Scattering Resonances and Predissociations"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 37, pp. 1628–1631 (1976). Cited on page 52
- M. W. REYNOLDS, I. SHINKODA, R. W. CLINE & W. N. HARDY; "Observation of inverse predissociation of spin-polarized atomic Hydrogen at low temperatures"; Phys. Rev. B 34, pp. 4912–4915 (1986). Cited on page 52
- [139] E. TIESINGA, B. J. VERHAAR & H. T. C. STOOF; "Threshold and resonance phenomena in ultracold ground-state collisions"; Phys. Rev. A 47, pp. 4114–4122 (1993). Cited on page 52
- [140] A. J. MOERDIJK, B. J. VERHAAR & A. AXELSSON; "Resonances in ultracold collisions of ⁶Li, ⁷Li, and ²³Na"; Phys. Rev. A 51, pp. 4852–4861 (1995). Cited on page 52
- [141] T. KÖHLER, K. GÓRAL & P. S. JULIENNE; "Production of cold molecules via magnetically tunable Feshbach resonances"; Rev. Mod. Phys. 78, pp. 1311–1361 (2006). Cited on page 53
- [142] C. CHIN, R. GRIMM, P. JULIENNE & E. TIESINGA; "Feshbach resonances in ultracold gases"; Rev. Mod. Phys. 82, pp. 1225–1286 (2010). Cited on page 53
- [143] P. O. FEDICHEV, Y. KAGAN, G. V. SHLYAPNIKOV & J. T. M. WALRAVEN; "Influence of Nearly Resonant Light on the Scattering Length in Low-Temperature Atomic Gases"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 77, pp. 2913–2916 (1996). Cited on page 54
- [144] M. THEIS, G. THALHAMMER, K. WINKLER, M. HELLWIG, G. RUFF, R. GRIMM & J. H. DENSCHLAG; "Tuning the Scattering Length with an Optically Induced Feshbach Resonance"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, p. 123001 (2004). Cited on page 54

- [145] G. THALHAMMER, M. THEIS, K. WINKLER, R. GRIMM & J. H. DENSCHLAG; "Inducing an optical Feshbach resonance via stimulated Raman coupling"; Phys. Rev. A 71, p. 033403 (2005). Cited on page 54
- [146] D. J. PAPOULAR, G. V. SHLYAPNIKOV & J. DALIBARD; "Microwaveinduced Fano-Feshbach resonances"; Phys. Rev. A 81, p. 041603 (2010). 2 citations on pages 55 and 79
- [147] A. M. KAUFMAN, R. P. ANDERSON, T. M. HANNA, E. TIESINGA, P. S. JULIENNE & D. S. HALL; "Radio-frequency dressing of multiple Feshbach resonances"; Phys. Rev. A 80, p. 050701 (2009).
 2 citations on pages 55 and 57
- T. V. TSCHERBUL, T. CALARCO, I. LESANOVSKY, R. V. KREMS, A. DALGARNO & J. SCHMIEDMAYER; "rf-field-induced Feshbach resonances"; Phys. Rev. A 81, p. 050701 (2010).
 2 citations on pages 55 and 57
- [149] J. WEINER, V. S. BAGNATO, S. ZILIO & P. S. JULIENNE; "Experiments and theory in cold and ultracold collisions"; Rev. Mod. Phys. 71, pp. 1–85 (1999). Cited on page 55
- [150] M. DEISS, B. DREWS, J. H. DENSCHLAG, N. BOULOUFA-MAAFA, R. VEXIAU & O. DULIEU; "Polarizability of ultracold Rb₂ molecules in the rovibrational ground state of $a^{3}\Sigma_{u}^{+}$ "; New Journal of Physics **17**, p. 065019 (2015). Cited on page 56
- [151] E. G. M. VAN KEMPEN, S. J. J. M. F. KOKKELMANS, D. J. HEINZEN & B. J. VER-HAAR; "Interisotope Determination of Ultracold Rubidium Interactions from Three High-Precision Experiments"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 88, p. 093201 (2002). Cited on page 56
- [152] R. WYNAR, R. S. FREELAND, D. J. HAN, C. RYU & D. J. HEINZEN;
 "Molecules in a Bose-Einstein Condensate"; Science 287, pp. 1016–1019 (2000).
 4 citations on pages 56, 65, 74, and 79
- [153] R. H. WYNAR; Ultra-cold molecules in an atomic Bose-Einstein condensate; Ph.D. thesis; University of Texas, Austin (2000).
 3 citations on pages 56, 60, and 74
- [154] R. FREELAND; Photoassociation spectroscopy of ultracold and Bose-condensed atomic gasses; Ph.D. thesis; University of Texas, Austin (2001). Cited on page 56
- [155] I. MORDOVIN; Radio-frequency induced association of molecules in ⁸⁷Rb; Ph.D. thesis; Swinburne University of Technology (2015); Swinburne Theses Collection. 3 citations on pages 56, 59, and 65
- [156] T. M. HANNA, E. TIESINGA & P. S. JULIENNE; "Prediction of Feshbach resonances from three input parameters"; Phys. Rev. A **79**, p. 040701 (2009). Cited on page 57
- T. M. HANNA, E. TIESINGA & P. S. JULIENNE; "Creation and manipulation of Feshbach resonances with radiofrequency radiation"; New Journal of Physics 12, p. 083031 (2010). Cited on page 57
- [158] P. NAIDON, E. TIESINGA & P. S. JULIENNE; "Two-Body Transients in Coupled Atomic-Molecular Bose-Einstein Condensates"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, p. 093001 (2008). Cited on page 62
- [159] M. YAN, B. J. DESALVO, Y. HUANG, P. NAIDON & T. C. KILLIAN; "Rabi Oscillations between Atomic and Molecular Condensates Driven with Coherent One-Color Photoassociation"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, p. 150402 (2013). Cited on page 62

- [160] G. V. SKORNIAKOV & K. A. TER-MARTIROSIAN; "Tree body problem for short range forces. I. Scattering of low energy neutrons by deuterons"; Soviet Phys. JETP 4 (1957). Cited on page 69
- [161] D. S. PETROV; "Three-body problem in Fermi gases with short-range interparticle interaction"; Phys. Rev. A 67, p. 010703 (2003). Cited on page 69
- [162] M. ISKIN & C. A. R. SÁ DE MELO; "Fermi-Fermi mixtures in the strong-attraction limit"; Phys. Rev. A 77, p. 013625 (2008). Cited on page 69
- [163] F. ALZETTO, R. COMBESCOT & X. LEYRONAS; "Atom-dimer scattering length for fermions with different masses: Analytical study of limiting cases"; Phys. Rev. A 82, p. 062706 (2010). Cited on page 69
- [164] F. ALZETTO, R. COMBESCOT & X. LEYRONAS; "Atom-dimer scattering amplitude for fermionic mixtures with different masses: s-wave and p-wave contributions"; Phys. Rev. A 86, p. 062708 (2012). Cited on page 69
- [165] M. ISKIN; "Dimer-atom scattering between two identical fermions and a third particle"; Phys. Rev. A 81, p. 043634 (2010).
 Cited on page 69
- [166] X. CUI; "Atom-dimer scattering and stability of Bose and Fermi mixtures"; Phys. Rev. A 90, p. 041603 (2014).
 Cited on page 69
- [167] R. ZHANG, W. ZHANG, H. ZHAI & P. ZHANG; "Calibration of the interaction energy between Bose and Fermi superfluids"; Phys. Rev. A 90, p. 063614 (2014). 2 citations on pages 69 and 79
- [168] C. MORA, R. EGGER, A. O. GOGOLIN & A. KOMNIK; "Atom-Dimer Scattering for Confined Ultracold Fermion Gases"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, p. 170403 (2004). Cited on page 69
- [169] J. LEVINSEN, T. G. TIECKE, J. T. M. WALRAVEN & D. S. PETROV; "Atom-Dimer Scattering and Long-Lived Trimers in Fermionic Mixtures"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, p. 153202 (2009). Cited on page 69
- [170] D. S. PETROV, C. SALOMON & G. V. SHLYAPNIKOV; "Weakly Bound Dimers of Fermionic Atoms"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, p. 090404 (2004). Cited on page 69
- [171] J. LEVINSEN & D. S. PETROV; "Atom-dimer and dimer-dimer scattering in fermionic mixtures near a narrow Feshbach resonance"; The European Physical Journal D 65, pp. 67–82 (2011). Cited on page 69
- [172] P. BEDAQUE, H.-W. HAMMER & U. VAN KOLCK; "The three-boson system with short-range interactions"; Nuclear Physics A 646, pp. 444–466 (1999). Cited on page 69
- [173] E. BRAATEN & H.-W. HAMMER; "Universality in the three-body problem for ⁴He atoms"; Phys. Rev. A 67, p. 042706 (2003).
 Cited on page 69
- [174] D. S. PETROV; "Three-Boson Problem near a Narrow Feshbach Resonance"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, p. 143201 (2004). Cited on page 69
- [175] E. BRAATEN & H.-W. HAMMER; "Universality in few-body systems with large scattering length"; Physics Reports 428, pp. 259–390 (2006). Cited on page 69

- [176] C. GAO & P. ZHANG; "Atom-dimer scattering in a heteronuclear mixture with a finite intraspecies scattering length"; Phys. Rev. A 97, p. 042701 (2018). Cited on page 69
- [177] P. GIANNAKEAS & C. H. GREENE; "Van der Waals Universality in Homonuclear Atom-Dimer Elastic Collisions"; Few-Body Systems 58 (2016). Cited on page 69
- [178] P. M. A. MESTROM, J. WANG, C. H. GREENE & J. P. D'INCAO; "Efimov-van der Waals universality for ultracold atoms with positive scattering lengths"; Phys. Rev. A 95, p. 032707 (2017). Cited on page 69
- [179] P. STAANUM, S. D. KRAFT, J. LANGE, R. WESTER & M. WEIDEMÜLLER; "Experimental Investigation of Ultracold Atom-Molecule Collisions"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, p. 023201 (2006). Cited on page 69
- [180] N. ZAHZAM, T. VOGT, M. MUDRICH, D. COMPARAT & P. PILLET; "Atom-Molecule Collisions in an Optically Trapped Gas"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, p. 023202 (2006). Cited on page 69
- T. LOMPE, T. B. OTTENSTEIN, F. SERWANE, K. VIERING, A. N. WENZ, G. ZÜRN & S. JOCHIM; "Atom-Dimer Scattering in a Three-Component Fermi Gas"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, p. 103201 (2010). Cited on page 69
- [182] S. NAKAJIMA, M. HORIKOSHI, T. MUKAIYAMA, P. NAIDON & M. UEDA; "Nonuniversal Efimov Atom-Dimer Resonances in a Three-Component Mixture of ⁶Li"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, p. 023201 (2010). Cited on page 69
- [183] M. T. HUMMON, T. V. TSCHERBUL, J. KŁOS, H.-I. LU, E. TSIKATA, W. C. CAMPBELL, A. DALGARNO & J. M. DOYLE; "Cold N+NH Collisions in a Magnetic Trap"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, p. 053201 (2011). Cited on page 69
- [184] R. S. BLOOM, M.-G. HU, T. D. CUMBY & D. S. JIN; "Tests of Universal Three-Body Physics in an Ultracold Bose-Fermi Mixture"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, p. 105301 (2013). Cited on page 69
- [185] A. ZENESINI, B. HUANG, M. BERNINGER, H.-C. NÄGERL, F. FERLAINO & R. GRIMM;
 "Resonant atom-dimer collisions in cesium: Testing universality at positive scattering lengths"; Phys. Rev. A 90, p. 022704 (2014).
- [186] K. KATO, Y. WANG, J. KOBAYASHI, P. S. JULIENNE & S. INOUYE; "Isotopic Shift of Atom-Dimer Efimov Resonances in K-Rb Mixtures: Critical Effect of Multichannel Feshbach Physics"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 118, p. 163401 (2017). Cited on page 69
- [187] H. YANG, D.-C. ZHANG, L. LIU, Y.-X. LIU, J. NAN, B. ZHAO & J.-W. PAN; "Observation of magnetically tunable Feshbach resonances in ultracold isup¿23i/sup¿Najsup¿40i/sup¿K + isup¿40i/sup¿K collisions"; Science 363, pp. 261– 264 (2019). Cited on page 69
- [188] P. D. GREGORY, J. A. BLACKMORE, F. M. D, L. M. FERNLEY, S. L. BROM-LEY, J. M. HUTSON & S. L. CORNISH; "Molecule-molecule and atom-molecule collisions with ultracold RbCs molecules"; New Journal of Physics 23, p. 125004 (2021). Cited on page 69
- [189] S. JURGILAS, A. CHAKRABORTY, C. J. H. RICH, L. CALDWELL, H. J. WILLIAMS, N. J. FITCH, B. E. SAUER, M. D. FRYE, J. M. HUTSON & M. R. TARBUTT; "Collisions between Ultracold Molecules and Atoms in a Magnetic Trap"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, p. 153401 (2021). Cited on page 69
- [190] S. KNOOP, F. FERLAINO, M. BERNINGER, M. MARK, H.-C. NÄGERL, R. GRIMM, J. P. D'INCAO & B. D. ESRY; "Magnetically Controlled Exchange Process in an Ultracold Atom-Dimer Mixture"; Phys. Rev. Lett. **104**, p. 053201 (2010). Cited on page 69
- [191] J. RUI, H. YANG, L. LIU, D.-C. ZHANG, Y.-X. LIU, J. NAN, Y.-A. CHEN, B. ZHAO & J.-W. PAN; "Controlled state-to-state atom-exchange reaction in an ultracold atom-dimer mixture"; Nature Physics 13, pp. 699–703 (2017). Cited on page 69
- [192] Y.-X. LIU, J. NAN, D.-C. ZHANG, L. LIU, H. YANG, J. RUI, B. ZHAO & J.-W. PAN; "Observation of a threshold behavior in an ultracold endothermic atom-exchange process involving Feshbach molecules"; Phys. Rev. A 100, p. 032706 (2019). Cited on page 69
- [193] J. NAN, Y.-X. LIU, D.-C. ZHANG, L. LIU, H. YANG, B. ZHAO & J.-W. PAN; "Universality in the atom-exchange reaction involving Feshbach molecules"; Phys. Rev. A 100, p. 062704 (2019).
- [194] M. JAG, M. ZACCANTI, M. CETINA, R. S. LOUS, F. SCHRECK, R. GRIMM, D. S. PETROV & J. LEVINSEN; "Observation of a Strong Atom-Dimer Attraction in a Mass-Imbalanced Fermi-Fermi Mixture"; Phys. Rev. Lett. **112**, p. 075302 (2014). Cited on page 69
- [195] H. SON, J. J. PARK, W. KETTERLE & A. O. JAMISON; "Collisional cooling of ultracold molecules"; Nature 580, pp. 197–200 (2020). Cited on page 70
- [196] E. A. BURT, R. W. GHRIST, C. J. MYATT, M. J. HOLLAND, E. A. CORNELL & C. E. WIEMAN; "Coherence, Correlations, and Collisions: What One Learns about Bose-Einstein Condensates from Their Decay"; Phys. Rev. Lett. **79**, pp. 337–340 (1997). Cited on page 70
- [197] J. SÖDING, D. GUÉRY-ODELIN, F. CHEVY, H. INAMORI & J. DALIBARD; "Three-body decay of a rubidium Bose–Einstein condensate"; Applied Physics B 69, pp. 257–261 (1999).
 Cited on page 70
- [198] C. COHEN-TANNOUDJI, B. DIU & F. LALOË; "Quantum Mechanics I"; chapter IV H (Willey VCH). Cited on page 75
- [199] G. F. CHEW & G. C. WICK; "The Impulse Approximation"; Phys. Rev. 85, pp. 636–642 (1952). Cited on page 79
- [200] P. BÖHI, M. F. RIEDEL, J. HOFFROGGE, J. REICHEL, T. W. HÄNSCH & P. TREUTLEIN; "Coherent manipulation of Bose–Einstein condensates with state-dependent microwave potentials on an atom chip"; Nature Physics 5, pp. 592–597 (2019). Cited on page 80
- [201] G. V. CHESTER; "Speculations on Bose-Einstein Condensation and Quantum Crystals"; Phys. Rev. A **2**, pp. 256–258 (1970). Cited on page 83
- [202] S. BALIBAR; "The enigma of supersolidity"; Nature 464, pp. 176–182 (2010). Cited on page 83

- [203] M. BONINSEGNI & N. V. PROKOF'EV; "Colloquium: Supersolids: What and where are they?" Rev. Mod. Phys. 84, pp. 759–776 (2012). Cited on page 83
- [204] W. ZWERGER; "Basic Concepts and some current Directions in Ultracold Gases"; (2021); Collège de France lectures. Cited on page 83
- [205] E. KIM & M. H. W. CHAN; "Probable observation of a supersolid helium phase"; Nature 427, pp. 225–227 (2004). Cited on page 83
- [206] E. KIM & M. H. W. CHAN; "Observation of Superflow in Solid Helium"; Science 305, pp. 1941–1944 (2004). Cited on page 83
- [207] S. BALIBAR & F. CAUPIN; "Supersolidity and disorder"; Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter 20, p. 173201 (2008).
 Cited on page 83
- [208] D. Y. KIM & M. H. W. CHAN; "Absence of Supersolidity in Solid Helium in Porous Vycor Glass"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, p. 155301 (2012). Cited on page 83
- [209] J. LÉONARD, A. MORALES, P. ZUPANCIC, T. ESSLINGER & T. DONNER; "Supersolid formation in a quantum gas breaking a continuous translational symmetry"; Nature 543, pp. 87–90 (2017).
- [210] C. WANG, C. GAO, C.-M. JIAN & H. ZHAI; "Spin-Orbit Coupled Spinor Bose-Einstein Condensates"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, p. 160403 (2010). Cited on page 83
- [211] T.-L. HO & S. ZHANG; "Bose-Einstein Condensates with Spin-Orbit Interaction"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, p. 150403 (2011).
 Cited on page 83
- [212] Y. LI, L. P. PITAEVSKII & S. STRINGARI; "Quantum Tricriticality and Phase Transitions in Spin-Orbit Coupled Bose-Einstein Condensates"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, p. 225301 (2012).
 Cited on page 83
- [213] Y. LI, G. I. MARTONE, L. P. PITAEVSKII & S. STRINGARI; "Superstripes and the Excitation Spectrum of a Spin-Orbit-Coupled Bose-Einstein Condensate"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, p. 235302 (2013).
- [214] W. HAN, G. JUZELIŪNAS, W. ZHANG & W.-M. LIU; "Supersolid with nontrivial topological spin textures in spin-orbit-coupled Bose gases"; Phys. Rev. A 91, p. 013607 (2015).
- [215] J. R. LI, J. LEE, W. HUANG, S. BURCHESKY, B. SHTEYNAS, F. C. TOP, A. O. JAMISON & W. KETTERLE; "A stripe phase with supersolid properties in spin-orbit-coupled Bose-Einstein condensates"; Nature 543, pp. 91–94 (2017). Cited on page 84
- [216] F. BÖTTCHER, J.-N. SCHMIDT, M. WENZEL, J. HERTKORN, M. GUO, T. LANGEN & T. PFAU; "Transient Supersolid Properties in an Array of Dipolar Quantum Droplets"; Phys. Rev. X 9, p. 011051 (2019). Cited on page 84
- [217] L. TANZI, E. LUCIONI, F. FAMÀ, J. CATANI, A. FIORETTI, C. GABBANINI, R. N. BISSET, L. SANTOS & G. MODUGNO; "Observation of a Dipolar Quantum Gas with Metastable Supersolid Properties"; Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, p. 130405 (2019). Cited on page 84

- [218] L. CHOMAZ, D. PETTER, P. ILZHÖFER, G. NATALE, A. TRAUTMANN, C. POLITI, G. DURASTANTE, R. M. W. VAN BIJNEN, A. PATSCHEIDER, M. SOHMEN, M. J. MARK & F. FERLAINO; "Long-Lived and Transient Supersolid Behaviors in Dipolar Quantum Gases"; Phys. Rev. X 9, p. 021012 (2019). Cited on page 84
- [219] M. A. NORCIA, C. POLITI, L. KLAUS, E. POLI, M. SOHMEN, M. J. MARK, R. N. BISSET, L. SANTOS & F. FERLAINO; "Two-dimensional supersolidity in a dipolar quantum gas"; Nature 596, pp. 357–361 (2021). Cited on page 84
- [220] T. BLAND, E. POLI, C. POLITI, L. KLAUS, M. A. NORCIA, F. FERLAINO, L. SANTOS & R. N. BISSET; "Two-Dimensional Supersolid Formation in Dipolar Condensates"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 128, p. 195302 (2022). Cited on page 84
- [221] L. TISZA; "Transport Phenomena in Helium II"; Nature 141, p. 913 (1938). Cited on page 88
- [222] E. TAYLOR, H. HU, X.-J. LIU, L. P. PITAEVSKII, A. GRIFFIN & S. STRINGARI; "First and second sound in a strongly interacting Fermi gas"; Phys. Rev. A 80, p. 053601 (2009). Cited on page 88
- [223] L. A. SIDORENKOV, M. K. TEY, R. GRIMM, Y. H. HOU, L. PITAEVSKII & S. STRINGARI; "Second sound and the superfluid fraction in a Fermi gas with resonant interactions"; Nature 498, pp. 78–81 (2013). Cited on page 88
- [224] P. B. PATEL, Z. YAN, B. MUKHERJEE, R. J. FLETCHER, J. STRUCK & M. W. ZWIER-LEIN; "Universal sound diffusion in a strongly interacting Fermi gas"; Science 370, pp. 1222–1226 (2020).
 2 citations on pages 88 and 93
- [225] A. GRIFFIN & E. ZAREMBA; "First and second sound in a uniform Bose gas"; Phys. Rev. A 56, pp. 4839–4844 (1997). Cited on page 88
- [226] A. GRIFFIN, T. NIKUNI & E. ZAREMBA; Bose-Condensed Gases at Finite Temperatures (Cambridge University Press) (2009). Cited on page 88
- [227] T. OZAWA & S. STRINGARI; "Discontinuities in the First and Second Sound Velocities at the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless Transition"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 112, p. 025302 (2014). Cited on page 88
- [228] M. OTA & S. STRINGARI; "Second sound in a two-dimensional Bose gas: From the weakly to the strongly interacting regime"; Phys. Rev. A 97, p. 033604 (2018). Cited on page 88
- M. R. ANDREWS, D. M. KURN, H.-J. MIESNER, D. S. DURFEE, C. G. TOWNSEND,
 S. INOUYE & W. KETTERLE; "Propagation of Sound in a Bose-Einstein Condensate";
 Phys. Rev. Lett. **79**, pp. 553–556 (1997). Cited on page 88
- [230] R. MEPPELINK, S. B. KOLLER & P. VAN DER STRATEN; "Sound propagation in a Bose-Einstein condensate at finite temperatures"; Phys. Rev. A 80, p. 043605 (2009). Cited on page 88
- [231] B. YANG, Y.-Y. CHEN, Y.-G. ZHENG, H. SUN, H.-N. DAI, X.-W. GUAN, Z.-S. YUAN & J.-W. PAN; "Quantum criticality and the Tomonaga-Luttinger liquid in one-dimensional Bose gases"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, p. 165701 (2017). Cited on page 88

- [232] O. MORSCH & M. OBERTHALER; "Dynamics of Bose-Einstein condensates in optical lattices"; Rev. Mod. Phys. 78, pp. 179–215 (2006). Cited on page 89
- [233] S. BURGER, F. S. CATALIOTTI, C. FORT, F. MINARDI, M. INGUSCIO, M. L. CHIO-FALO & M. P. TOSI; "Superfluid and Dissipative Dynamics of a Bose-Einstein Condensate in a Periodic Optical Potential"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 86, pp. 4447–4450 (2001). Cited on page 89
- [234] D. E. MILLER, J. K. CHIN, C. A. STAN, Y. LIU, W. SETIAWAN, C. SANNER & W. KET-TERLE; "Critical Velocity for Superfluid Flow across the BEC-BCS Crossover"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 99, p. 070402 (2007). Cited on page 89
- [235] L. SOBIREY, N. LUICK, M. BOHLEN, H. BISS, H. MORITZ & T. LOMPE; "Observation of superfluidity in a strongly correlated two-dimensional Fermi gas"; Science 372, pp. 844–846 (2021). Cited on page 89
- [236] B. WU & Q. NIU; "Superfluidity of Bose–Einstein condensate in an optical lattice: Landau–Zener tunnelling and dynamical instability"; New Journal of Physics 5, p. 104 (2003). Cited on page 89
- [237] B. WU & Q. NIU; "Landau and dynamical instabilities of the superflow of Bose-Einstein condensates in optical lattices"; Phys. Rev. A 64, p. 061603 (2001). Cited on page 89
- [238] A. SMERZI, A. TROMBETTONI, P. G. KEVREKIDIS & A. R. BISHOP; "Dynamical Superfluid-Insulator Transition in a Chain of Weakly Coupled Bose-Einstein Condensates"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 89, p. 170402 (2002). Cited on page 89
- [239] C. MENOTTI, A. SMERZI & A. TROMBETTONI; "Superfluid dynamics of a Bose–Einstein condensate in a periodic potential"; New Journal of Physics 5, p. 112 (2003). Cited on page 89
- [240] E. TAYLOR & E. ZAREMBA; "Bogoliubov sound speed in periodically modulated Bose-Einstein condensates"; Phys. Rev. A 68, p. 053611 (2003). Cited on page 89
- [241] M. MODUGNO, C. TOZZO & F. DALFOVO; "Role of transverse excitations in the instability of Bose-Einstein condensates moving in optical lattices"; Phys. Rev. A 70, p. 043625 (2004).
 Cited on page 89
- [242] K. IIGAYA, S. KONABE, I. DANSHITA & T. NIKUNI; "Landau damping: Instability mechanism of superfluid Bose gases moving in optical lattices"; Phys. Rev. A 74, p. 053611 (2006). Cited on page 89
- [243] F. S. CATALIOTTI, L. FALLANI, F. FERLAINO, C. FORT, P. MADDALONI & M. IN-GUSCIO; "Superfluid current disruption in a chain of weakly coupled Bose–Einstein condensates"; New Journal of Physics 5, p. 71 (2003). Cited on page 89
- [244] L. FALLANI, L. DE SARLO, J. E. LYE, M. MODUGNO, R. SAERS, C. FORT & M. IN-GUSCIO; "Observation of Dynamical Instability for a Bose-Einstein Condensate in a Moving 1D Optical Lattice"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, p. 140406 (2004). Cited on page 89
- [245] L. DE SARLO, L. FALLANI, J. E. LYE, M. MODUGNO, R. SAERS, C. FORT & M. IN-GUSCIO; "Unstable regimes for a Bose-Einstein condensate in an optical lattice"; Phys. Rev. A 72, p. 013603 (2005).

- [246] J. MUN, P. MEDLEY, G. K. CAMPBELL, L. G. MARCASSA, D. E. PRITCHARD & W. KETTERLE; "Phase Diagram for a Bose-Einstein Condensate Moving in an Optical Lattice"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 99, p. 150604 (2007). Cited on page 89
- [247] F. S. CATALIOTTI, S. BURGER, C. FORT, P. MADDALONI, F. MINARDI, A. TROM-BETTONI, A. SMERZI & M. INGUSCIO; "Josephson Junction Arrays with Bose-Einstein Condensates"; Science 293, pp. 843–846 (2001). Cited on page 89
- [248] M. KRÄMER, L. PITAEVSKII & S. STRINGARI; "Macroscopic Dynamics of a Trapped Bose-Einstein Condensate in the Presence of 1D and 2D Optical Lattices"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 88, p. 180404 (2002). Cited on page 89
- [249] L. TANZI, E. LUCIONI, S. CHAUDHURI, L. GORI, A. KUMAR, C. D'ERRICO, M. IN-GUSCIO & G. MODUGNO; "Transport of a Bose Gas in 1D Disordered Lattices at the Fluid-Insulator Transition"; Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, p. 115301 (2013). Cited on page 89
- [250] V. P. SINGH & L. MATHEY; "First and second sound in a dilute Bose gas across the BKT transition"; New Journal of Physics 24, p. 073024 (2022). Cited on page 93
- [251] M. GAŁKA, P. CHRISTODOULOU, M. GAZO, A. KARAILIEV, N. DOGRA, J. SCHMITT & Z. HADZIBABIC; "Emergence of Isotropy and Dynamic Scaling in 2D Wave Turbulence in a Homogeneous Bose Gas"; Phys. Rev. Lett. **129**, p. 190402 (2022). Cited on page 94